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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report on Form 10-K, or this Annual Report, contains forwardr -looking statements that involve substantial risks and
uncertainties. The forwardff -looking statements are contained principally in the sections entitled �Business,� �Risk Factors,� and
�Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.� All statements, other than statements of
historical facts, contained in this document, including statements regarding our business, operations and financial performance and
conditions, as well as our plans, objectives and expectations for our business operations and financial performance and condition, are
forward-looking statements. These statements relate to futuret events or to our future financial perforff mance and involve known and unknown
risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially diffeff rentee from any
future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. The words �anticipate,� �believe,�
�continue,� �could,� �estimate,� �expect,� �intend,� �may,� �might,� �plan,� �predict,� �project,� �potential,� �should,� �target,� �will,�
�would,� or the negative of those terms and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-
looking statements contain these identifying words.

The forward-looking statements in this Annual Report include, among other things, statements about:

our projeo cted financial position and estimated cash burn rate;

our estimates regarding expenses, future revenues and capital requirements;

our ability to continue as a going concern;

our need to raise substantial additional capital to fund our operations;

our ability to develop our lead product candidate, Amphoramm ® (L-lactic acid, citric acid, and potassium bitartrate), as a
contraceptive;

our ability to develop our Multi-purpose Prevention Technology, or MPT, vaginal gel product candidates forff additional
indications;

our ability to select and capitalize on the most scientifically, clinically or commercially promising indications or therapeua tic
areas forff our MPT vaginal gel product candidates in light of our limited financial resources;

the success, cost and timing of our clinical trials;

our dependence on third parties in the conduct of our clinical trials;

our ability to obtain the necessary regulatory arr ppa rovals to market and commercialize Amphora,m our MPT vaginal gel productdd
candidate and any other product candidate we may seek to develop;

the potential that results of pre-clinical studies and clinical trials indicate that our MPT vaginal gel productd candidates or any
future product candidate we may seek to develop are unsafe or ineffectff ive;

the potential for us to incur substantial costs resulting froff m product liability lawsuits against us and the potential forff these
productdd liability lawsuits to cause us to limit our commercialization of our MPT vaginal gel productdd candidates or any futuff re
productd candidate we may seek to develop;

market acceptance of our product candidates, the size and growth of the potential markets for our MPT vaginal gel and any
futurett product candidate we may seek to develop, and our ability to serve those markets;

the results of market research conducted by us or others;

our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection for our MPT vaginal gel and any other product candidate we
may seek to develop;

our reliance on licenses granted to us by third parties, our ability to preserve our rights to licenses granted to us under these
license agreements and our reliance on these third-party licensors to protect the intellectual property licensed to us;

our ability to protect our intellectualt property rights and the potential forff us to incur substu antial costs from lawsuits to enforce
or protect our intellectualt property rights;

the possibility that a third party may claim we have infringff ed, misappropriated or otherwise violated their intellectual propertyrr
rights and that we may incur substantial costs and be required to devote substantial time defending against these claims;

the successful development of our commercialization capabilities, including sales and marketing capabilities;

our reliance on third-party suppliers and manufacff turers;

the success of competing therapies and producd ts that are or become available;
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the potential for changes to current regulatory mandates requiring health insurance plans to cover Food and Drug
Administration-cleared or approved contraceptive productdd s without cost sharing and our reliance on the willingness of patients
to pay out-of-pocket absent full or partial insurance coverage; and

our ability to expand our organization to accommodate potential growth and our ability to retain and attract key personnel.

Our MPT vaginal gel product candidates are undergoing clinical development and have not been, nor may they ever be,
approved for marketing by any regulatory agency or compemm tent authorities nor marketed anywhere in the world.

We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements, and you should
not place undued reliance on our forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements should be regarded solely as our current
plans, estimates and beliefs.ff Actual results or events could differff materially from the plans, intentions and expectations disclosed in the
forward-looking statements we make. We have included important factors in the cautionary srr tatements included in this document,
particularly in the �Risk Factors� section, that we believe could cause actual results or events to diffeff r materially froff m the forwardr -
looking statements that we make. Moreover, we operate in a very compemm titive and rapidly changing environment. New risks emerge
from time to time. It is not possible for our management to predict all risks, nor can we assess the impamm ct of all factors on our business
or the extent to which any factor, or combinm ation of factoff rs, may cause actual results to differ materially froff m those contained in any
forward-looking statements we may make. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impactm of any future
acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures or investments we may make.

We undertake no obligation to revise or publicly release the results of any revision to these forwar rd-looking statements, except
as required by law. Given these risks and uncertainties, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forwarff d-looking
statements. All forwarrr d-looking statements are qualified in their entirety by this cautionary statement.
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PART I

Item 1. Business.

Merger of Neothetics, Inc. and Evofem Biosciences Operations, Inc.

On January 17, 2018, Neothetics, Inc., or Neothetics, and privately-held Evofem Biosciences Operations, Inc., or Private Evofem,
completed the merger and reorganization, or the Merger, in accordance with the terms of the Agreement and Plan of Merger and
Reorganization, dated October 17, 2017, or the Merger Agreement, by and among Neothetics, Private Evofem and Nobelli Merger Sub, Inc.,
a wholly owned subsidiary orr f Neothetics, or Merger Sub, whereby Merger Sub mu erged with and into Private Evofem, with Private Evofem
surviving as a wholly owned subsidiary of Neothetics. The Merger was structrr ured as a reverse capitalization and Private Evofemff was
determined to be the accounting acquirer based on the terms of the Merger and other factors.

On January 17, 2018, in connection with the Merger, the Company fileff d a certificate of amendment to its amended and restated
certificateff of incorporatrr ion to affectff a six-for-off ne reverse stock split of its common stock, or the Reverse Split, which caused the Company
not to be governed by Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, or the DGCL, and to change its name froff m �Neothetics, Inc.�
to �Evofem Biosciences, Inc.� The name change and the Reverse Split were both effecteff d on January 17, 2018. Shares of the Company�s
common stock commenced trading on The Nasdaq Capita al Market under the new name and ticker symbolm �EVFM� as of market open on
January 18, 2018. Unless otherwise notedtt , add ll references to share amounts itt n tii hitt s Aii nnual Repoee rt, includingii referff ences to shares or options
issued in connection with the Merger and the FinaFF ncing (as(( define ed below), reflectll the Reverse Splitll .tt

On January 17, 2018, immediately following the completm ion of the Merger, the Company issued in a private placement transaction, or
the Financing, an aggregate of 1,614,289 shares of its common stock to certain accredited investors forff an aggregate purchase price of
$20 million pursuant to the terms of the Securities Purchase Agreement, dated October 17, 2017, by and among the Compam ny, Privateaa
Evofem and certain accredited investors, or the Securities Purchase Agreement. Upon consummation of the Financing, the Company
terminated its existing Fourth Amended and Restated Investors� Rights Agreement, dated September 22, 2014, by and betwett en the Compam ny
and the investors listed therein, or the Existing Investors. Additionally, the Compam ny entered into a registration rights agreement with the
accredited investors participating in the Financing and certain previous investors of Private Evofem and the Company, or the Registration
Rights Agreement, pursuant to which the Company is, among other things, obligated to fileff a registration statement with the SEC within 60
days folff lowing complem tion of the Merger. The shares of Compam ny common stock issued in the Financing were exempt froff m registration
under Section 4(a)(2) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and the rules promulgated thereunder.

In addition, pursuant to the Merger Agreement, the Company assumed Private Evofem�s Amended and Restated 2012 Equity Incentive
Plan, or the Private Evofem Equity Incentive Plan, and all of the stock options outstanding under ethe Private Evofem Equity Incentive Plan,
with such stock options now representing the right to purchase shares of the Company�s common stock. The Company also assumed warww rants
to purchase Private Evofem capital stock which were immediately amended and restated to be warrants, or the Post-Merger Warrants,tt to
ppurchase up to an aggregate of 2,000,000 shares of the Company�s common stock. The Post-Merger Warrants will have an exercise price
equal to the average of the closing sale prices of shares of the Company�s common stock as quoted on The Nasdaq Capital Market for the 30
consecutive trading day period immediately folff lowing January 17, 2018, and will be exercisable commencing on January 17, 2019, and until
the earlier of January 1rr 7, 2022, or immediately prior to the completion of an Acceleration Event (as defined in the Post-Merger Warrants).
The Post-Merger Warrants were issued as a unit with one share of the Company�s common stock, or the Unit Share. Per the terms of the
Post-Merger Warrants, the Unit Shares may not be transferred separately from the Post-Merger Warrants.

Following the complmm etion of the Reverse Split, the Merger and the Financing, there were approximately 17,757,167 shares of the
Company�s common stock outstanding. The former Private Evofemff stockholders owned appra oximately 87% of the issued and outstanding
common stock of the Company, or 15,448,737 shares, and the Company�s stockholders immediately prior to the Merger and Financing,
whose shares of the Company�s common stock remained outstanding after the Merger and Financing, owned approximately 13% of the
issued and outstanding common stock of the Company, or 2,308,430 shares.

Prior to the Merger, Neothetics was originally incorporated in Delaware in February 2007 as Lipothera, Inc. In Septemberm 2008,
Neothetics changed its name to Lithera, Inc. and in August 2014, Neothetics again changed its name to Neothetics, Inc.

Unless the context requires otherwise, referff ences in this Annual Report to �Evofem�, �EVFM�, �we�, �us�, the �Company� and �our�r
refer to Evofem Biosciences, Inc. (formerly known as Neothetics).

Our principal corporate officesff are located at 12400 High Bluff Dff rive, Suite 600, San Diego, California 92130 and our telephone
number is (858) 550-1900. Our website is located at www.evofem.com. Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q,
Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to reports filed pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, or the Exchange Act, will be made available free of charge on our website as soon as reasonably practicable after we
electronically file such material with, or furff nish it to, the Securitieuu s and Exchange Commission, or SEC. The contents of our website are tnot
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incorporated into this Annual Report and our reference to the URL for our website is intended to be an inactive textual referencenn only T. he
information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website is not a part of this document.

Overview

Prior to the Merger, we were a clinical-stage specialty pharmaceutical company developing therapeutia cs for the aesthetic market. After
the Merger, we became a clinical-stage biotechnology compamm ny committed to impromm ving the health and well-being of women throughoutoo the
world by addressing women�s unmet medical needs through the discovery, development and commercialization of innovative, next-
generation women�s healthcare products. We utilize our multi-purposerr prevention technology, or MPT, in two vaginal gel productd candidates
that are being developed for multiple indications, including contraception, sexually transmitted infections, or STIs, and bacterial vaginosis, or
BV.

Our lead product candidate, Amphm ora® (L-lactic Acid, citric acid, and potassium bitartrate) is a hormone-free, on demand, woman-
controlled vaginal gel currently in a Phase 3 clinical trial with contraceptive effiff cacy as the primary endpointdd , and in a Phase 2b/3 trial with a
primary endpoint for the prevention of urogenital chlamydia in women. Additionally, this second trial evaluates the efficacy of Amphoramm for
the prevention of urogenital gonorrhea as a second endpod int. In addition, we recently completed a Phase 1 trial of our MPT vaginal gel
product candidate forff the reduction of recurrent BV and we are currently designing a Phase 2b/3 trial for this indication.

Based on our market research, we believe a majority ott f women seeking birth control are concerned about exposure to hormones. While
hormone-based contraception is the current standard in female birth control, our research indicates that women are actively seekiee ng
alternative methods of contraception, but have limited options to reduced exposure to hormones. As a result, women are dissatisfieff d with
current products on the market. Amphmm ora is designed to empom wer women by offering a hormone-free, on demand, woman-controlled
contraceptive.

Our MPT vaginal gels have also demonstrated a broad spectrum of antimicrobial activity in vitro, including on chlamydmm ia-, gonorrhea-,
and bacterial vaginosis- causing microbes, the three most common causes of reproductive tract infectioff n. There are currently no products
indicated forff the prevention of urogenital chlamydmm ia or gonorrhear or the reduction of recurrent BV. We believe our MPT vaginal gel product
candidates offer a significant opportunity to addred ss these impom rtant unmet medical needs forff women.

Amphoram has been granted Fast Track designation by the FDA for the prevention of acquisition of urogenital chlamydmm ia. A drug that
receives Fast Track designation will have opportunities to expedite development and review, such as more frequent interactions with the FDA
and eligibility for priority review. A priority rtt eview designation means FDA�s goal is to act on the marketing appla ication within six months
of receipt compared with 10 months under standard review.

Amphorm a has also been granted designation as a Qualified Infectious Disease Product, or QIDP, by the FDA for prevention of
acquisition of urogenital gonorrhea infecff tion in women and for reducdd tion of recurrent BV. A drug that receives QIDP designation can also
qualify for the FDA�s Fast Track program. QIDP designations also provide an additional five years of marketing exclusivity for an approved
product.

We have an exclusive worldwide license to our MPT vaginal gel froff m RusRR h University, a nationally recognized research institution.o
Our MPT vaginal gel was initially developed by the Program for Topical Prevention of Conception and Disease, an organization led by RushRR
University dedicated to the discovery arr nd creation of topical productsdd that can prevent pregnancy and the spread of STIs.

Our Strategy

We are committed to providing women with direct control and management of their sexual and reproductive health. Key elements of
our strategy include:

Actively mll onitortt the completioll n of to hett Phase 3 clinical trial for the purpose of seeking approval of and subsequentlyll
commercializll ing Amphora for contraception.tt Our initial focff us is the development and commercialization of Amphom ra as a
hormone-free, on demand, woman-controlled contraceptive. We believe this will create a platforff m forff us to advance our
supplemental indications and allow us to effecff tively deploy investor capital for the benefit of all stakeholders.

Leverage our MPT vaginal gel technologyo platforll m trr o dtt evedd lop ao nd commercializeii novel, first-in-cii lass products ftt orff women.
We intend to expand on our contraceptive indication by being the first companmm y to market a contraceptive product with
additional indications for the prevention of urogenital chlamydmm ia and gonorrhea. In addition, we intend to develop a product forff
the reducdd tion of recurrent BV.

Expanxx d our intelltt ectll ual propeo rty position by pursuingii opportunitiestt to extend the exclusivity ott f oo ur highlygg differentiated
and proprietary MPT vaginal gel.We intend to aggressively pursue additional and new patent applications to broaden our
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intellectual property portfolioff . We will continue to seek to obtain domestic and international patent protection and endeavor to
promptly file patent applications forff new commercially valuable inventions.

Expand our product pipeline.We intend to opportunistically acquire additional products or product candidates from third
parties that enhance our offerings and complement our core competencies in women�s healthcare.

Build a wll orld classll organir zaii tion committedtt to the disdd covery, dyy evedd lopmo ent and commercializll ation of produff cts that address
unmet needs in women�s s� exual and reproductive health.ll We have assembled a world class team with industry-recognized
expertise in the development and commercialization of products in women�s healthcare. We intend to continue to build on our
leadership position and grow a culture dedicated to the development and commercialization of medicines that address the
unmet medical needs of women.

The Contraceptive Market Overview

In 2016, the global revenue for contraceptive products was $21.2 billion and projected to grow at 6.8% per annum to $35.8 billion by
2024, making contraception a substantial and growing subset of the overall healthcare market. This growth is expected to continue to be
driven by the United States and Europe where favorable government policies aimed at preventing unwanted pregnancies are in place. The
number of women using contraception is projected to grow through 2030.

Current contraceptive options include devices designed to prevent pregnancy through physical means such as condoms, diaphragms
and intrauterine devices, or IUDs, and pharmaceutical means such as a variety of hormonal-based approaches, including oral contraceptt tives,
vaginal rings containing hormones, intramuscular injections, subcutaneous implants and transdermal patches.

Existing contraceptive options can have significant side effectff s or other limitations. Long-acting options such as IUDs, hormonal
injections and implm ants require medical procedures and are not quickly or easily reversible. Hormonal appa roaches can be associatedaa with
undesirable side-effecff ts such as weight gain and mood changes, which may lead women to seek alternative contraceptive technologies or
decide to not use any form of the contraceptive options currently available. Several spermicidal productsdd currently available over-the-counter
for use as vaginal contraceptives are based on surfactants, which can cause genital irritation and inflammation that may increase the risk of
contracting human immunodeficiency virus, or HIV, or other STIs from an infected partner. For example,mm spermicides containing thett active
ingredient nonoxynol-9, or N-9, have been required by the FDA to carry a label warning for the risk of contracting HIV. Unlike other vaginal
contraceptives currently on the market, Amphm ora is free of surfactantsff such as N-9.

The unmet medical needs of the contraception market and the shift away from traditional methods of contraception such as oral
contraceptives make the entry orr f a non-hormonal contraceptive option such as Amphora timely and desirable.a Currently, the only non-
hormonal prescription contraceptive methods approved in the U.S. market are a copper IUD, which requires an invasive medical procedure
and could remain in the user�s body for up to 10 years and a diaphragm, which can be difficultff to insert and must be used with contraceptive
gel.

Additionally, we believe that growing concern associated with the increasing prevalence of sexually transmitted diseases along with
growing demand for new innovative contraception options will drive further growth in the global contraceptive market.

Market Opportunity

We believe our key market strengths are as follows:

Our MPT vaginal gel is potentially disruptivrr e to the existing contraceptive landscape and is designed to address underserved
and unmet needs in the women�s healthcare market;

We expect to benefit from favoff rable trends away from the daily use of oral forff ms of hormonal contraception to more
innovative technologies that underpin the large and growing global contraceptive market;

We have robust proprietary technology protected by an intellectual property portfolio currently extended to 2033; and

We intend to add indications to our lead product candidate, Amphora, and to add complementary products or product
candidates to our pipeline expected to provide futuff re growth opportunities within the global contraceptive market.

We believe our producd t candidates are well positioned to fulff fill unmet needs within the existing contraceptive market and to compete
with existing contraceptive options. Market penetration requires development and implemm mentation of a tailored strategy, involving healthcare
policy officials and healthcare providers for each country or territory.

Innovation and new product introductidd on in women�s reproductive healthcare and contraception has been limited when compared to
other leading therapeua tic categories. There were no approvals in women�s contraception during 2017 as compared to, for example, oncology,
where there have been more than 40 approvals in the same period, demonstrating a unique opportunity in this underdeveloped field.
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According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the CDC, reducing the percentage of all unintended pregnancies has
been one of the National Health Promotion Objeb ctives since they were firsff t established in 1980. Despite the effoff rts to reduce theirtt prevalence,
over 2.0 million unintended pregnancies occur in the U.S. annualn ly. Following decades of minimal change or increase, the percentagenn of
unintended pregnancies in the U.S. decreased slightly in the period from 2008-2011. Despite this recent decrease, 45% of pregnanciaa es in the
U.S. are still unintended. Nearly all women with sexual experience in the U.S. have used contraception at some time in their livesii , but many
women may not use contraception consistently or correctly and subsequently become pregnant when not intending to have a child at that
time. According to research conducted by the CDC, appra oximately 40% of women surveyed after giving birth to a child resulting from an
unintended pregnancy who were not using contraception noted one of the following three reasons for nonuse: did not expect to haveaa sex,
worried about side effects of birth control, or male partner did not want to use birth control.

Hundreds of millions of women worldwide seek contraceptive productsd during an average 30 plus years of fertility. As such, women
utilizing contraception consider the most appropriate methods forff their purposes and intended use. The following information outlinesuu
expected trends in contraceptive usage in diffeff rent regions of the world and outlines differences between the U.S. and European Union, or
EU, contraceptive markets.

Women of Reproductive Age (millions) (2016 Projected) U.S. EU *BRIC
All females, age 18-49 61.0 63.8 420.9
At risk forff pregnancy 70.4% 67.0% 55.0%
Relevant population for contraception 43.0 43.1 231.5

* Brazil, Rl ussia, India, China

The U.S. Contraceptive MarMM kerr t

The total U.S. contraceptive market was valued at $5.5 billion in 2016 with the prescription contraceptive market expected to growgg at a
compound annual growth rate of 5.4% from 2013 to 2024 and reach a value of approa ximately $8.4 billion in 2024. The U.S. contraceptive
market represented the largest segment of the global contraceptives market in 2016 at 29.4% and is currently dominated by hormonal
methods including birth control pills and other reversible methods such as IUDs and injen ctables. Approximately four of every fiveii women
with sexual experience in the U.S. have used the pill at least one time with this percentage remaining stable since 1995.

More than 12 million women in the U.S. rely on condoms, or some other form of non-hormonal contraception (e.g. copper IUD,
diaphragm, rhythm, withdrawal) as their method of choice.

We conducted market research with women of reproductive age (ages 18 to 49) and healthcare providers in the U.S. to evaluate
potential interest in Amphora.mm Of the more than 1,400 women surveyed, approximately one-third expressed interest in learning more abouta
Amphorm a. Amphm ora�s most motivating attributes forff women surveyed included lack of hormones, ease of use and the ability to use on
demand. Physicians also expressed interest in Amphora, indicating they see many patients for whom they would recommend use of
Amphora.m

Additionally, this market research indicated that an Amphora user would receive approximately seven refills of Amphoramm per year
based on reported frequency of intercourse.
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The EU Contraceptive Market

The EU contraceptive market was valued at approximately $5.0 billion in 2016, or 24.5% of the global market, and is expected to grow
at an average compomm und annual growth rate of 5.4% from 2013 to 2024 to reach an estimated value of approa ximately $7.6 billion in 2024.
The EU accounted forff the second largest market share in the global contraceptives market in 2016. Contraceptive use in the EU varies from
region to region. As the table below shows, approximately 30% of women use no contraception and the use of male condoms is significantly
higher than the U.S. population (9.4%). Permanent sterilization is also substantially lower than the U.S. (female and male sterilrr ization rates of
14.3% and 4.5%, respectively) and among newer innovations only IUDs are in double digit market share:
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Product Candidates

Amphora as a ContraceCC ptie ve

We believe Amphora, our lead product candidate, addresses significant gaps in the contraceptive market. If approved by the FDA,
Amphoram will be the only hormone-free, on demand, women-controlled contraceptive drug product available by prescription in the United
States that does not require in-officeff placement by a healthcare provider.

We believe Amphoram has significaff nt attributes that will make it an attractive contraceptive choice for women:

Key Attributes Potential Benefits
Hormone-free Amphoram is hormone-free and designed to avoid known side effectsff of hormonal-based

contraceptives, which include weight gain, headaches, sore breasts, irregular periods, mood
changes, decreased sexual desire, acne and nausea. These side effects have been shown to
discourage women froff m continuing to use hormonal contraception on a long-term basis,
leading them to seek alternative methods or decide to use nothing at all.

On Demand/Woman-controlled Amphora can be used as needed - no daily, weekly, or monthly routine. Amphmm ora may be
used immediately before or up to one hour before intercourse at a woman�s discretion.

No Surgical Procedures No physician insertion or removal required. The use of Amphom ra is private and discrete and
avoids the need for recurring doctor appointments, clinical or surgical procedures.

Cost Effective We anticipate coverage in the United States under the Affordable Care Act, or the ACA.
Amphoram is only used when needed thus eliminating cost for daily use methods.

Surfacff tant-free Amphom ra can be used by women who experience allergy, sensitivity, or side effects to N-9.
Personal Lubriu cant Properties Amphoram has benefits for vaginal use, as a personal lubricant, beyond the primary

contraceptive function. Amphm ora reduces friction and eases penetration.
Bioadhesive Properties Amphora has bioadhesive and viscosity-retaining properties to form a long-lasting layer of

gel over the vaginal and cervical surfaces, which may reduce leakage froff m the vagina.
Ease of Use The pre-filled Amphoram applicator is designed forff convenience and to be stored at room

temperature for ease of handling and use.
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The CDC�s recommendations forff use of combined hormonal contraception, as shown below, define numerous conditions that create
unacceptable health risks if hormonal contraception is used. The number of women impacted by these conditions is significant. We believe
Amphom ra, if appa roved by the FDA, will provide women an attractive solution to avoid hormones and certain other negative side effectsff from
current prescription contraceptives.

Category 4 (a condition that represents an unacceptable health risk if the
contraceptive method is used)

Postpat rtum < 21 days

Deep venous thrombosis (current or history with higher risk of recurrence)

Pulmonary embom lism (current or history with higher risk of recurrence)

Cardiovascular disease or multiple CV risk factors (preexisting)

Uncontrolled hypertension

Major surgery with prolonged immobilization

Known thrombogenic mutations

Migraine headaches with aura or without aura in women >/= 35

Viral Hepatitis (acute or flare)ff

Cirrhosis (decompensated)

Age > 35 years and smoke 15 cigarettes or more per day

Valvular heart disease (complim cated)

Impairedmm cardiac functiff on (moderate or severe)

Systemic lupus erythematosus with positive or unknown antiphospholipid antibodies

Ischemic heart disease (current or history)

Stroke (history)

Diabetes (complicated)

Breast cancer (current)

Certain liver tumors

Solid organ transplantation (complim cated)

Mechanism of Action in Contraception

A normal vaginal pH of 3.5 to 4.5 is importanmm t forff maintaining good vaginal health. At this optimal pH level, the vagina containsii a
balance of necessary healthy bacteria. Additionally, a vaginal pH in this range is inhospitable to spermatozoa, or sperm, as well as certain
viral and bacterial pathogens. Amphora was developed to have acid-buffering (pH 3.5), bioadhesive, and viscosity-retaining properties to
provide effectivff e acidificff ation of the male ejae culate in the vagina and to form a long-lasting layer of gel over the vaginal and cervical
surfaces. Typically, the introdt ucdd tion of semen (pH = 7.2-8.0) into the vagina causes a rise in pH above 6.0 due to the alkalinityii of the
ejaculate, which neutralizes the normally acidic vaginal environment and allows the survival of sperm. Amphm ora acts as a vaginal
contraceptive by maintaining a normal vaginal pH (pH = 3.5-4.5) even in the presence of semen, inhibiting sperm froff m reaching the ovum to
form a zygote. This bufferingff capacity is due to Ampmm hora�s active pharmaceutical ingredients. Other properties contributing to the
contraceptive effect of Amphormm a are its capacity to reduce/indd hibit cervical mucus penetration, to maintain suffiff cient viscosity even upon
dilution with the introduction of semen into the vagina and its bioadhesive strength. After proper use of Amphmm ora, postcoital testing shows
Amphorm a remains protective for up tu o 10 hours based on a lack of progressively motile sperm.
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The diagram below shows the respective pH levels of the vagina and semen.
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Amphora Clinical TrialsTT

Amphora: Phase 3 Clinical Trial (AMP0MM 01)

A key stage in the development of Amphoramm was the completion of a large-scale Phase 3 clinical trial comparing the contraceptive
effectiff veness, safety and acceptability of Amphmm ora to Conceptrol®, a surfactanff t-based spermicidal gel containing 4% N-9, which is currently
availablea over-the-counter for use as a vaginal contraceptive. The primary err ndpoindd t of the trial was the six-month cumulative pregnancy rate.
Secondary err ndpoints included local and systemic signs and symptom ms reported by participants or observed upon medical examination,oo such
as itching, burning, irritation, inflaff mmation or lesions to the cervical or vaginal epithelia and vaginal infections.

AMP001 TrialTT Design and Implementation

During 2011 through 2014, the AMP001 Amphora Phase 3 clinical trial enrolled 3,389 women at approximately 70 research centers
located within the United States and Russia. It was an open-label, randomized, non-inferiority ttt rial of repeated use of Amphom ra compared to
Conceptrol over seven cycles of use. After completing the first seven cycles, some of the women randomized to Amphora continued forff up to
a total of 13 cycles. In a subset of women (75 in each treatment arm) the lower genital tract (cervix, vagina, and vulva) was observed and
photographed by colposcopy. The subset was blinded to avoid possible observer bias. A second subset was also examined microbiologically
to document any changes in the vaginal floraff , particularly the onset of any infection by Escherichia coli or yeast.

Results ott f Ao MP001 Phase 3 Clinical Trial

The trial was fully enrolled in July 2013 and complm eted during the first half of 2014. In the primary efficacy analysis, the six-ii month
cumulative pregnancy rate forff the Modified Intent-to-Treat population, otherwise known as typical use (defined as trial subjeb cts who had at
least one episode of coitus without using the product correctly duringd the study and without any backup ou r emergency contraception), was
approximately 10%. For those subjects with perfect use (definedff as trial subjeb cts who used the productd correctly at every episode of coitus
within a given cycle), the cumulative pregnancy rate was approximately 4%.

AMP001 Safetff y dtt atdd a

Of the 30 subjects who experienced at least one serious adverse event, or SAE, 11 were treated with Amphmm ora (0.8%) and 19 were
treated with Conceptrol (1.3%). The adverse event, or AE, reporting forff the 13-cycle extension did not identify additional SAEs; therefore, no
subject treated with Amphoram experienced an SAE with an additional six cycles of exposure to Amphmm ora. Significantly more subjectscc liked
Amphom ra than Conceptrol and significff antly more Amphmm ora users would use the product again if it were available (p<0.05 for both
comparisons).

The table below sets out the adverse events in the AMP001 Phase 3 clinical trial.

Adverse events in greater than 2% of Amphora gel treated subjects in the AMP001 Phase 3 Clinical Trial in the seven-cycle study by
decreasing order of frequency in all subjects:

Amphoram Conceptrol All Subjects
System organ class (N=1458) (N=1477) (N=2935)
Preferred term n(%) n(%) n(%)
Total numbem r (%) of subjects with at least one AE 833 (57.1) 857 (58.0) 1690 (57.6)
Urinary tract infection 160 (11.0) 193 (13.1) 353 (12.0)
Vaginitis bacterial 176 (12.1) 170 (11.5) 346 (11.8)
Vulvovaginal mycotic infection 169 (11.6) 168 (11.4) 337 (11.5)
Headache 104 (7.1) 80 (5.4) 184 (6.3)
Vulvovaginal pruritusrr 60 (4.1) 76 (5.1) 136 (4.6)
Nasopharyngitis 79 (5.4) 48 (3.2) 127 (4.3)
Vulvovaginal discomfortff 48 (3.3) 53 (3.6) 101 (3.4)
Vulvovaginal candidiasis 49 (3.4) 46 (3.1) 95 (3.2)
Vulvovaginal burning sensation 52 (3.6) 41 (2.8) 93 (3.2)
Vaginal discharge 44 (3.0) 46 (3.1) 90 (3.1)
Dysmenorrhea 34 (2.3) 34 (2.3) 68 (2.3)
Influeff nza 39 (2.7) 20 (1.4) 59 (2.0)
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Summary of Initial NDA Submission (Contraceptie ve Indication)n

On July 2, 2015, pursuant to section 505(b)(2) of the Federal Food and Drug Cosmetic Act, or FDCA, we submitted a new drug
application, or NDA, forff Amphmm ora to the FDA for the proposed indication of prevention of pregnancy. The submission included, amongmm other
things, data from the initial Phase 3 clinical trial (AMP001) as well as other safety and efficacy information.

A Complem te Response Letter, or CRL, was issued by the FDA on April 28, 2016. A CRL is issued if the agency determines that the
application cannot be approved in its present forff m and will describe all the specific deficiencies identified by the agency. A CRL will also
recommend actions the applicant might take to place the appa lication or abbra eviated appla ication in condition forff approval.

The primary approvability issue was the difference in results between the U.S. and Russian cohorts. Although the study met its primary
endpoid nt when the combinm ed U.S. and Russian data were analyzed per the statistical plan, the FDA deemed the data froff m RusRR sian subjects
(approximately 20% of the study population) not generalizable to the U.S. population. Additionally, the FDA excluded analysis datadd from
certain cycles, specifically data from: cycle 0, (the time from enrollment until the subject�s firsff t menstrual cycle); cycles that were <21 days
or >42 days in durd ation; cycles past 196 days (the aggregate length of seven cycles of 28 days in duration); and cycles in which tcc here was no
intercourse.

A Type A meeting was held on October 31, 2016, with the FDA, at which the FDA indicated a confirmatory efficacy trial focused onoo
participants in North America would be required. After furff ther consultation with the FDA, the FDA confirmed that a single-arm triatt l (non-
comparative) would be sufficiff ent to address the CRL clinical deficff iency. All feedbackd received froff m the FDA was incorporrr ated into a
protocol for a single-arm trial which was submu itted to the FDA on June 30, 2017 (AMP002).

Amphora: AMP002 Confirff mator ry Phase 3 TriTT al (AMPOWER)EE

We are conducting a confirff matory, single-arm, Phase 3 trial entitled �A Single-Arm, Phase III, Open Label, Multicenter, Study in
Women Aged 18-35 Years of the Contraceptive Efficacy and Safety of Amphmm ora Contraceptive Vaginal Gel.�We refer to this trial as
AMPOWER or AMP002. This study was designed to enroll approximately 1,350 women aged 18 to 35 at up tu o 115 sites in the United States.
The first subject enrolled in this trial on July 28, 2017, and enrollment was complm eted in February 2018.

The primary endpoint for this trial is a seven-cycle cumulative pregnancy rate. In addition to our primary outcome for efficacy and
secondary srr afetyff outcomes, we also included an exploratory endpoint of sexual satisfaction. Since Amphorm a also has lubriu cant properrr ties, we
anticipate a positive result for the sexual satisfaction outcome, which could be further explored in future studies and potentially utilized in its
labela ing and marketing materials. We believe this is the first contraception registration trial to include sexual satisfactff ion as an outcome.

Scientific Advice Process in the European UnioUU n

We previously conducted a regulatory gap analysis with Pharmalex GmbHm to determine how the EU regulatory brr odies were likely to
view its marketing authorization appla ication, or MAA, upon submission to the EU. Scientific advice was previously sought in Aprilrr 2016
from the Medical Products Agency of Sweden and the Agency of Medicine and Sanitary Prr roducts of Spain, but an MAA was not pursued dued
to a lack of resources to support a filing at that time. We have reinitiated the scientificff advice process and seek marketing authaa orization forff
Amphm ora in the EU through a decentralized procedure.d

Amphora for STI PTT revenPP tion

In the U.S., the CDC reports that there were 1.6 million new cases of chlamydimm a and approximately 468,000 new cases of gonorrhea in
2016. We believe this represents a significant commercial opportunity for Amphm ora.

Pre-clinical tests conducted in the early developmental stages by RusRR h University, and later by us, suggest that our MPT vaginal gaa el
has the potential to suppreu ss many of the pathogens responsible for sexually trat nsmitted and commonly occurring bacterial infections while
not affeff cting lactobacilli, a normal and beneficff ial bacterium fouff nd in a healthy vagina. We are advancing Amphora into a pivotal Paa hase 2b/3
trial to determine the extent to which the gel prevents sexual transmission of two common STIs, urogenital chlamydia (primary endpoint) and
gonorrhea (secondary endpoind t) and intend to conductdd additional clinical trials to determine whether the microbicide potential shown in pre-
clinical results translates into protection for women. As of January 2rr 018, the first subjeb cts are enrolled in the Phase 2b/3 trial. Should this trial
meet its primary endpoint, the FDA has indicated that it may be considered as one of two pivotal trials required for approval.

Amphorm a has been granted Fast Track designation by the FDA for the prevention of acquisition of urogenital chlamydmm ia. A drug thattt
receives Fast Track designation will have opportunities to expedite development and review, such as more frequent interactions with the FDA
and eligibility for priority review. A priority rtt eview designation means FDA�s goal is to act on the marketing appla ication within 6 months of
receipt compared with 10 months under standard review.
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Amphoram has been designated as a QIDP by the FDA for the prevention of urogenital gonorrhea infection in women. A drug that
receives QIDP designation may qualify for an additional five years of marketing exclusivity and is eligible for the FDA�s Fast Track
program, intended to facilitateff development and expedite review of drugs so an approved product can reach the market expeditiously. An
additional benefitff is that the program allows for a priority rtt eview, with a goal of FDA action on the NDA within six months.

MPT Vaginal GelG for Recurrent Bacterialtt Vaginosiii sii

The prevalence of BV in the United States is estimated to affectff 21 million women, or 29.2% of women ages 14 to 49, and is
considered to be the most common reproductive tract infection forff women ages 15 to 44. There are currently no FDA approved products
indicated for the reduction of recurrent BV.

Pre-clinical tests have shown our MPT vaginal gel kills many microbes responsible forff recurrent BV while not affectff ing lactobacilli, a
normal and beneficial bacterium found in a healthy vagina. The inhibitory mechanism comprises the MPT vaginal gel�s bufferedff acidity and
the presence of active pharmaceutical ingredients in the MPV vaginal gel. Clinical studies are on-going to determine whether the anti-
pathogen potential shown in the laboratory trr ranslates into protection forff women.

We filed an Investigational New Drug, or IND, with the FDA in March 2016 to study the ability of our MPT vaginal gel for the
reducd tion of recurrent BV. Following submission of the IND, we conducted a Phase 1 trial (EVO-002) examining the ability of a single
vaginal administration of the vaginal gel at three different doses to reduced vaginal pH. The trial was completed in late 2016 and revealed that
the highest dose of the MPT vaginal gel (5-gram) reduced vaginal pH for up to seven days follff owing a single administration compam red to
placebo gel or no gel. We are currently designing a Phase 2b/3 trial to examine the ability of a 5-gram dose of our MPT vaginal gel product
candidate compam red to placebo gel to reduced recurrent BV over a 16-week intervention period.

Commercialization Strategy

We intend to implement a global strategy to commercialize Amphm ora. In the United States, our plan is to build our own integrated se ales
and marketing infrastructure. Outside of the United States, we expect to leverage global pharmaceutical companies or other qualifiedff
potential partners to license commercialization rights or enter collaborations forff the commercialization and distribution of Amphora.mm

While awaiting the decision fromff the FDA as to the appra oval of Amphoramm , we plan to conducd t pre-commercialization activities
including:

the selection of commercial suppliers, which includes agency of record for the Amphom ra brand, hiring of sales and sales
support personnel to support the anticipated Amphm ora launch, initiation of payer programs including the addition of medical
science liaisons and national/key account managers, and the selection of third-party logistic provider(s); and

the optimization of manufacturing capaa bilita ies to include the installation of new equipment into manufacff turers� facilities,
planning and preparing for all requisite inspections, planning for process validation and registration batch quantities, and
establishing secondary (back-up) manufactff uring capability.

United StateSS s

We estimate that the U.S. market is the largest commercial opportunity for our product candidates. If Amphmm ora is approved for
commercialization by the FDA, we intend to establish a commercial sales force to market Amphora directly to obstetricians and
gynecologists, or OB/GYNs, who write the majoa rity of prescriptions for contraceptive products.

The American Congress of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, or ACOG, reports there are approximately 36,000 fellows currently
practicing in the United States. However, the top 30% of this group represents 85% of the contraceptive prescription volume. We intend to
target the top 30% by deploying a sales forff ce of approximately 85 sales representatives. Our direct sales force will be complemmm ented by print
and digital advertising, social media campaigns, access programs, educational campaigns, and non-personal promotion campaigns targeting
both consumers and healthcare providers.

Successful prescription drug market launches require comprehensive and integrated pre-launch activities. During the pre-launch phase
for Amphora,mm we intend to assemble an experienced team of key account managers and medical science liaisons expected to focus onoo
ensuring key payer accounts, pharmacy benefit managers, key opinion leaders and medical associations who are educated about the need to
offerff a wider set of options to women seeking non-hormonal, woman-controlled contraceptive methods. We expect these educational
activities will be suppou rted by presentation of clinical data at key national congresses (such as the ACOG and the Society of Family
Planning), clinical publications, and additional market development activities. Launch and post-launch commercial activities are expected to
include multi-channel marketing campaigm ns to raise brand awareness, including direct to consumer and health care professionff al campaigns.
These key initiatives will be supported by awareness campaigns in social media, online and print advertisements, paid and earned social
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media support, and public relations efforts. We expect these campaigns to encourage patients to consult their healthcare providers and ensure
payer and healthcare provider strategies are implemented.

Ex-U.S. Marketstt

In markets outside of the United States, if a product candidate is appra oved for marketing in an individuad l market, we intend to establish
regional and/or global partnerships by either sublu icensing the commercialization rights or to entering into distribution agreements with one or
more third parties for the commercialization of the applicable product candidate in that market.

Payer and Reimbursement Strategy

Unitedtt States

We have conducted market research with 45 different healthcare plans that cover approximately 70% of covered lives within the
United States to better understand viable access and pricing strategies forff Amphmm ora. Overall, a majority of respondents were positive about
the introduction of a new contraceptive method. These respondents cited the many unintended pregnancies, high costs associated with
unwanted pregnancies, and the underlying limitations in the contraceptive category (i.e. the lack of non-hormonal options) as reasons a new
contraceptive option is desirable. We aim to have approximately 60% of all commercial healthcare plans offering full access and complete
coverage of Amphora forff all their reproductive aged women�s lives they are managing at the end of the first year of commercializaii tion of
Amphoram . This coverage is expected to build to approximately 85% to 90% at peak sales.

Pricing strategygg

Overall, healthcare plans appa ear receptive to the idea of pricing Amphmm ora like that of branded oral contraceptives. Healthcare plans
interviewed durd ing market research expected Amphora to be priced between $100 to $200 for a monthly supply of a 12-applicator box
(comparable to branded contraceptives), believing Amphora would ultimately offset other costs the payer may incur (i.e. unwanted
pregnancies).

Third-party Payers

We expect any sales of our product candidates will depend, in part, on the extent to which the costs of the applicable product
candidates will be covered by healthcare plans, including government health programs in the United States such as Medicare and Medicaid.
The process for determining whether a healthcare plan will provide coverage forff a product is separate froff m the process for settint g the price or
reimbursement rate the plan will pay for the product once coverage is approved. We are also aware many healthcare plans may limit coverage
to specificff products on an appra oved list, or formulm ary, which might not include all the approved products for a particular indication. We
intend to target those healthcare plans managing the largest numbem r of covered lives to achieve optimal access for our product portfolio.

In March 2010, the ACA became law with the goals of broadening access to health insurance, reducing or constraining the growth of
healthcare spending, enhancing remedies against frauff d and abuse, adding new transparency requirements forff health care and health itt nsurance
industries and impom sing additional health policy reforms. The ACA mandates that certain preventative services that have strong scientific
evidence of health benefits, including contraception, must be fully covered and reimbum rsement plans may no longer require a patient co-
payment, coinsurance or deductible (i.e., no patient out-of-pocket expenses) for these services when they are delivered by an in-network
provider. Since its enactment, there have been judicial and Congressional challenges to certain aspects of the ACA, including thett
contraceptive coverage mandate. Congress and President Trump have expressed their intentions to repeal or replace the ACA. The President
has issued at least one Executive Order and both chambers of Congress passed bills all with the goal of fulff filling these intentions. If full or
partial repeal of the ACA is enacted, many if not all of the provisions of the ACA may no longer appa ly.

Europeano Union

In our market research, it was foundff that EU consumers were interesnn ted in the unique benefitsff of Amphoramm product profiles,ff especially
since Amphm ora is non-hormonal. Contraceptive products are not reimbursed in all the EU member countries. For example, in Italy there is no
coverage for contraceptives, in France and Spain, only oral contracett ptives are generally covered, and in Germany, individual reimburm sement
policies appa ly.

Pricing and reimbursement

In the EU, pricing and reimbursement strategies vary widely from country trr o country. Some countries mandate that drug productd s may
be marketed only after a reimburm sement price has been agreed, while others may require the complm etion of additional studies that caa ompare the
cost-effecff tiveness of a product candidate to currently available therapies. For example, the EU provides options for its member states to
restrict the range of drug products for which their national health insurance systems provide reimburm sement and to control the prices of
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medicinal products for human use. EU member states may approvea a specific price for a drug product or may instead adopt a system of direct
or indirect controls on the profitaff bilita y of offering a drug product on the market. Other member states allow companies to fix their own prices
for drugrr products, but monitor and control compam ny profits. The downward pressure on healthcare costs in general, particularly prescription
drugs, has become intense, creating increasingly high barriers for entry of new products. In addition, in some countries, cross-border imports
from lower-priced markets exert compemm titive pressure that may reduce pricing within a country. Therefore, the development of new drug
launch strategies has become very challenging to meet both patient need/demand while ensuring products are commercially viable in those
markets.

Amphora Manufacturing

We intend to outsource the manufacturing of Amphm ora (and our othert potential product candidates) to third parties. Currently, we have
contracted with Swiss-American CDMO, LLC in Carrollton, Texas, or Swiss-American, to manufactff ure our clinical supplies of Amphmm ora.
Swiss-American has agreed to manufacture Amphm ora and potential other product candidates in accordance with cGMP regulations, as well as
in compliance with all applicable laws and other relevant regulatory agency requirements forff manufacture of pharmaceutical drug products.d

Competition

As shown below, the contraception market was established in 1960 with the introduction of �the pill,� the firstff oral contraceptivet
widely available to women in the U.S. This high-dose hormonal option remained the primary form of available contraception on the market
until 1988 when the copper IUD was introduced, offering the first non-hormonal option for birth control. As shown in the time line below,
there was no notable innovation providing additional options in women�s reproductive health until 30 years after the introduction of �the
pill,� when pharmaceutical companies introduced synthetic hormonal products with different hormonal delivery systems, including the
hormonal IUD, implants, the patch, and vaginal ring.

If approved, Amphora would compete for market share in at least four categories: 1) oral contraception, 2) Long-Acting Reversible
Contraception, or LARC, comprised of IUDs, implmm ants, and injen ctables, 3) short-term non-oral contraceptives, comprised of the weekly or
monthly synthetic hormonal options including the patch and vaginal ring, and 4) over-the-counter, or OTC, methods, dominated primarily by
the condom.

Oral Contraceptives (the �pill� �)�

The pill is the most commonly used form of birth control in the U.S. today. Birth control pills are marketed under a variety of brand
names. There are two main kinds of oral contraceptives� combination birth control pills, which contain estrogen and progestin, and the
�mini pill�, which contains only progestin. Oral contraceptives typically must be taken on a regular or daily basis in order to be effective.

LARC

Implants

The contraception implam nt (principally marketed in the United States as Nexplanon® by a subsidiary of Merck & Co.), which must be
implmm anted under the skin and removed by a qualified healthcare provider, requiring a medical procedure, provides contraception by releasing
hormones over a three-year period. The implant has realized an increase in market share over the past five years, outpacing the overall
contraceptive category year-over-year, with annual sales in the United States of approximately $141 million.

Injectables

The primary injectable hormonal contraceptive on the market is Depo-Provera® offereff d by Teva Pharmaceutical Indud stries Ltd. Each
injection provides protection for up tu o 12 to 14 weeks, but patients must receive injections once every 12 weeks to get full contraceptiveo
protection. Depo Provera was introduced to the market in 1992 and has annual sales in the U.S. of approximately $211 million.

Amphora 
Est.
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IUDsUU

The copper IUD was introduced to the market in 1988 and provides protection by disrupting sperm motility and damaging sperm so
that they are prevented froff m joining with an ovum. Today, the copper IUD is principally marketed by Cooper Surgical, Inc. as Paragardaa ® and
has annual sales in the U.S. of appraa oximately $290 million. The hormonal IUD is principally offeredff under the brand names, KylKK eena®,
Skylkk a® and Mirena®, a famff ily of products from Bayer Pharmaceuticals, and has annual sales in the U.S. of approximately $1.2 billion. All
IUDs must be inserted or removed by a physician.

The LARCs are not dependent on user adherence, thus making this method appealing to those who benefit from a passive form of birthii
control with no daily requirement to take a pill, however many women have decided to remove their LARC due to the hormonal side effecff ts
they experience.

Short-term Hormonal,rr Non-oral

Contraceptive Patch

The weekly contraceptive patch was introduced in 2000 by Johnson & Johnson�s Janssen division; however, deaths resulting from
venous thromboembolism, or VTE, due to hormonal exposure had a significant negative impact on the patch and led to label changes
restricting utilization. Following the loss of exclusivity, Johnson & Johnson�s Janssen division exited women�s healthcare and contraception
as a promotional category.

Vaginal Ring

The hormonal vaginal ring by Merck & Co. was introduced to the market in 2001 and has annual sales in the U.S. of approximately
$650 million. The ring is used for three weeks and then removed forff a week durind g menses and a new hormonal vaginal ring is inserted. The
efficacff y forff the vaginal ring is similar to hormonal oral contraception. Users of the vaginal ring report the same incidence of hormonal related
side-effectff s as those using oral hormonal contraception.

Non-prescriptiii on Over-the-rr Counter (OT(( C)TT

Condoms are the dominate productd offeringff in OTC sales. They are manufactured primarily by Trojao n® (Church & Dwight) and
Durex® (Reckitt Benckiser) brands, with approximately six million women who depend on condom use as their only method of birth control.
The market size in the U.S. for male condoms in 2016 was over $900 million.

Global Sales by Lb eading Contraceptive ComCC pam nies:

Bayer Merck Allergan
Cooper
Surgical Church & Dwight

Oral Contraceptive Natazia Lo Loestrin® Fe
Short-term Non-Oral Nuvaring
IUD/Implant Kyleena, Mirena,

Skyla
Nexplanon Liletta Paragard

OTC Trojan Condoms

The adoption of Amphmm ora, if approved, is expected to come equally from each category discussed, as interest in Amphmm ora falls intonn two
distinct segments: 1) those women seeking an alternatr ive to hormonal contraception; and 2) those women who are expected to utilize
Amphm ora as added protection to their current form of birth control. Our market research has indicated that the hormone-free, on demand,
woman-controlled aspect of Amphora makes it an attractive option across the entire competitive set.

Rush License

As discussed above, we entered into an Amended and Restated License Agreement with Rush University, dated March 27, 2014, or the
Rush License Agreement, pursuant to which Rush University granted us an exclusive, worldwide license of certain patents and know-oo how, or
the Rush Licensed IP, related to our MPT vaginal gel authorizing us to make, distribute and commercialize productsdd and processes for any
and all therapeutic, prophylactic and/or diagnostic uses, including, without limitation, use for female vaginal health and/or contraception.

As further described in the Rush License Agreement, we are under an obligation to make royalty payments to RushRR University based
on net sales of products and/or processes that are claimed in the patents or the know-how licensed to us under the Rush License Agreement.
To the extent one of our products is not claimed in a licensed patent but does utilize the licensed know-how, the applicable royalty rate to
such product and/or processes would be reducd ed.
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In addition, if during the three years after one of our products or processes has received regulatory approval and is introduced to the
market, if the amounts paid to Rush University as royalties or sublicensing fees do not total a minimum royalty amount, then we must pay a
minimum annual royalty ttt o RusRR h University. If we have to pay a royalty ott r other payment to a third party in order for us to avoid
infringement of third-party rights, we may offset up to 50% owed to such third party by up to 50% of the amounts owed to Rush University
under the Rush License. The above-described royalty payments expire upon termination of the Rush License Agreement in accordance with
its terms.

We also have the right to sub-license our rights to affiliatff es (without the prior approval of Rush University) and to third partirr es (with
the prior written approval of RusRR h University, not to be unreasonably delayed or conditioned). To the extent Rush University approvepp s of a
third-party sub-u license, in lieu of any royalty ptt ayment obligation under the RusRR h License Agreement, we would then be under an obligation
to pay Rush University a sub-license fee equal to a percentage of any sublicensing revenue received froff m any third-party sub-licensee.

Pursuant to the Rush License Agreement, Rush University, its affiliates and/or its sublicensees have the right in the form of a royaltytt
free, non-exclusive license from us under the applicable patents and know-how to use the technology embodim ed by such patents and knn now-
how forff non-commercial research purposes.

The Rush License Agreement provides that we must use our best efforts to bring one or more productsd or processes based on the
licensed patents to market, and to continue diligent marketing efforts for one or more of such products or processes during the term of the
agreement. Additionally, within one month of the end of each fiscal quarter until the date of first commercial sale of a product, we musmm t
provide Rush University with a written development report summarizing our productd development activities since the prior such report, as
well as any necessary adjustments to the plan of development.

The Rush License Agreement contains additional customary representations and warranties, insurance and confidentiality provisions
and is governed by the laws of the State of Illinois, except that questions affecting the licensed patents will be determined in accordance with
the national law of the country irr n which the applicable patent was granted. We have the first right, but not the obligation, to pursue potential
infringers of the licensed patents technology and know-how and the prior written approval of Rush University is required to settltt e any related
claim.

We have agreed to defend,ff indemnify and hold harmless Rush University, its employm ees and certain other related parties froff m and
against any and all liabilita ies, damages, settlements, penalties, fines, costs or expenses arising out of any claim, complaint, suit, proceeding or
cause of action brought against the relevant indemnity by a third party alleging damage arising from or occurring as a result of the activities
performed by or under the authority of us, our affiliates or sub-licensees in connection with the exercise of our licenses and rights under the
Rush License Agreement, except to the extent caused by Rush University�s negligence or willful misconduct.

Unless terminated in accordance with its terms, the term of the Rush License Agreement continues until the expiration, revocation or
invalidation of the last of the patents or the abandonment of the last patent application included within the licensed patents and technology,
which includes any patent claiming an improm vement made within the term of the RushRR License Agreement in the course of research
supportu ed or developed by Rush University utilizing the technology.

The Rush License Agreement may be terminated upon mutual written consent of both parties or by a non-breaching party if the otherhh
party commits a breach or default of any covenant in the agreement and fails to cure such breach within thirty (30) days after receiving
written notice of such breach or default.

If we are in default of our obligations under the Rush License Agreement and such default has not been cured within thirty (30) days,
Rush University has the option to: (a) terminate the Rush License Agreement; or (b) convert the exclusive license to a non-exclusive license
(subju ect to the rights of any pre-appra oved sub-licensee under any pre-approved sub-license). Termination of the Rush License Agreement or
conversion to a non-exclusive license shall give RushRR University the right to terminate all sub-licenses granted by us that were nrr ot approved
by Rush University. If Rush University declines to terminate any such sub-license agreement (or such sub-license agreement was approved
by Rush University) then: (a) in the case of termination of the Rush License Agreement, the sub-license agreement shall become a direct
agreement between Rush University and the relevant sub-licensee; and (b) in the case of conversion of the Rush License Agreement license
to a non-exclusive license, such license shall continue in full force and effectff in accordance with its terms.

In addition, Rush University may terminate the agreement: (i) upon thirty (30) days� notice in the event that the aggregate royalties
paid under such agreement in any calendar year following March 27, 2017 do not equal a minimummm of at least $50,000, except that we may
pay to Rush University the differeff nce between the royalties actually paid and $50,000 to prevent Rush University from so terminatingnn the
Rush License Agreement, and under such circumstances the Rush License Agreement will continue for an additional two (2) years beyond
March 27, 2017; and (ii) in a given country arr s regards our rights in such country, upon sixty (60) days� notice if, prior to Marcaa h 27, 2022, we
have not, in such country,rr engaged in certain specified activities in such country in an effort to exploit the products and processes covered by
the licensed patents and technology in such country.
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Intellectual Property

We believe we have a strong and growing intellectual property portfolio. We strive to protect the proprietary technology that we
believe is impom rtant to our business, including seeking and maintainn ning patents intended to cover our product candidates, and theitt r methods
of use, as well as any other inventions that are commercially importantmm to the development of our business. We seek to obtain domestic and
international patent protection, and endeavor to promptly file patent applications forff new commercially valuable inventions. We also may
rely on trade secrets to protect aspects of our business that are not amenable to, or that we do not consider approa priate forff , patent protection.

Our success will depend on our ability to obtain and maintain patentaa and other proprietary protection for commercially impormm tantnn
technology, inventions and know-how related to our business, defend and enforce our patents, and other intellectual property rights, preserve
the confidentiality of our trade secrets and operate without infriff nging the valid and enforcff eable patents and other proprietary rights of third
parties. We will also rely on continuing technological innovation and in-licensing opportunities to develop and maintain our proprietary
position.

As of February 2018, regarding our MPT technology, we own or have exclusively licensed appa roximately 27 issued patents and
allowed applia cations in the U.S. and other countries and jurisdictions, and have appa roximately 29 applications pending in the U.S. and other
countries and jurisdictions. Furthermore, we own two pending Pateaa nt Cooperation Treaty applications that can be converted into national
stage applications in U.S. and other countries and jurisdictions.

We have an exclusive worldwide license to a portfolio of licensed patents held by RushRR University, which provide general protection
for Amphora, which expire in 2021 and could be eligible for extensions to at least 2024 in the United States and to 2026 in certainrr European
jurisdictions, if granted by those regulatory bodies. Further, we solely own multiple patent families relating to the composition and
therapeutic use of Amphora,mm which, upon grant, would expire at the earliest in 2033. We believe that our licensed and solely owneww d non-
hormonal contraceptive gel patent filings,ff combined with our substantial know-how in this field, will continue to provide opportunrr ities for us
to establish a significant barrier to competitor entry into the market.

In addition, as Amphorm a is a producd t that acts locally in the vagina, we believe that a generic version of Amphm ora gel cannot be
evaluated forff bioequivalence with the compamm rative pharmacokinetic blood testing that is commonly used to establish bioequivalencenn of
systemic generic drugs. The compam rative clinical endpointd studies that are generally conducted to establish bioequivalence of a locally-acting
generic drug would not likely be adequately sensitive forff detecting differff ences in performance between the generic drug and its referff ence
listed drug.

In addition to patents, we expect to rely on trade secrets andaa know-how to develop and maintain our competitive positions. For
example,m certain aspects of the composition, manufacturing, and use of Amphm ora are protected by unpatented trade secrets and know-how.
Although trade secrets and know-how can be difficulff t to protect we seek to protect our proprietary trr echnology and processes, in part, by
confidentiality agreements with our employmm ees, consultants, scientific advisors, collaborators,a and contractors. We also seek to preserve the
integrity and confidentff iality of our data and trade secrets by maintaining physical security of our premises and physical and electronic
security of our information technology systems. While we have confidence in these individuals, organizations and systems, agreements or
security measures may be breached and we may not have adequate remedies forff any breach. In addition, our trade secrets and know-how may
otherwise become known or may be independently discovered by compemm titors. To the extent that our consultants, contractors or collaborators
use intellectual property owned by third parties in their work forff us, disputes may arise as to the rights in related or resultintt g intellectual
property, including trade secret, know-how and inventions.

Trademark Basics and Strategy

We own or have rights to various trademarks, copyrights and trade names used in our business, including Evofem and Amphm ora. Our
logos and trademarks are the property of Evofem Biosciences, Inc. All other brand names or trademarks appearing in this report are the
property of their respective holders. Our use or display of other parties� trademarks, trade dress, or products in this report is not intended to,
and does not, imply a relationship with, or endorsement or sponsorship of us, by the trademark or trade dress owners.

Healthcare Laws and Regulations

Healthcare providers and third-party payers play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription of drug products that arerr
granted marketing appra oval. Arrangements with third-party payers and customers are subjeb ct to broadly applicable fraud and abua se and other
healthcare laws and regulations. Such restrictions under applica able federal and state healthcare laws and regulations, include the followff ing:

Anti-Kickback Statute� the fedff eral Anti-Kickback Statute, among other things, prohibits persons from knowingly and willfully
soliciting, offering,ff receiving or providing remunmm eration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce or reward either the referral
of an individual for, or the purchase, order or recommendation of, any good or service for which payment may be made under fedeff rallee y
funded healthcare programs such as Medicare and Medicaid. A person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of the statutett
or specific intent to violate the statute in order to have committed a violation. In addition, the government may assert that a claim that
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includes items or services resulting from a violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a falseff or fraudulent claim for
purposes of the False Claims Act;

False Claims Act� the federal False Claims Act impomm ses criminal and civil penalties, which can be enforced by private citizens
through civil whistleblower and qui tam actions, against individuals or entities for knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, to
the fedff eral government, claims for payment that are false or fraudulenaa t or making a falseff statement to avoid, decrease or conceal an
obligation to pay money to the federal government;

Health Insurance Portabilitll y att nd Accountabtt ilityll Act of 1996� the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of
1996, or HIPAA, imposes criminal and civil liabilia ty for executing a scheme to defrauff d any healthcare benefit program or for making
any false statements relating to healthcare matters; as in the case of the federal healthcare Anti-Kickbackkk Statutes, a person or entity
does not need to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate the statute in order to have committed a violation;

Falsell Statementt ts Statute� the federal False Statements statute prohibits knowingly and willfully falff sifyiff ng, concealing or covering
up a material fact or making any materially falseff statement in connection with the delivery orr f or payment for healthcare benefitff s, items
or services;

Stark Law� the fedff eral ban on physician self-rff eferff rals, which prohibits, subjeu ct to certain exceptions, physician referrals of Medicare
or Medicaid patients to an entity providing certain �designated health services� if the physician or an immediate famff ily membem r of the
physician has any financiaff l relationships with the entity;

Sunshineii Act� the federal transparency or �sunshine� requirements of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended
by the Health Care and Education Affordabia lity Reconciliation Act, requires manufactff urers of drugs, devices, biologics and medical
suppliu es to report to the Department of Health and Human Services, or the DHHS, information related to physician payments and other
transfers of value and physician ownership and investment interests;

State Transparency Laws

Some U.S. state laws require pharmaceutical compam nies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry�s voluntary complimm ance guidelineii s
and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the fedeff ral governmr ent in addition to requiring drug manufacturt ers to reportrr
information related to payments to healthcare providers and other healthcare providers or marketing expenditurt es, and some state laws
require pharmaceutical companm ies to implem ment compliance programs and to track and report gifts, compensation and other
remunmm eration provided to physicians, in addition to requiring drug manufacturers to report information related to payments to
physicians and other healthcare providers or marketing expenditures and pricing information.

State and Foreigni Regulatory Concerns

Analogous State and foreign laws and regulations, such as State Anti-Kickback and False Claims laws, may applya to sales or marketing
arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by non-governmental third-party payers, including privateii
insurers.

State and foreign laws also govern the privacy and security of health information in some circumstances, many of which differ fromff
each other in significant ways and often are not pre-empted by HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts.ff

Government Regulation and Product Approval

United States� FDA Process

The research, development, testing, manufacture, labeling, promotion, advertising, distribution and marketing, among other things, of
our products are subjeb ct to extensive regulation by governmental authorities in the United States and other countries. In the UnitedUU States, the
FDA regulates drugs under the FDCA and its implm ementing regulations. Failure to comply with the appa licabla e United States requiremrr ents
may subject us to administrative or judicial sanctions, such as FDA refusal to appa rove pending NDA warning letters, product recalls, product
seizures, total or partial suspension of productid on or distribution, injun nctions and/or criminal prosecution. Medical productd s containing a
combination of new drugs, biological products or medical devices are regulated as �combination productsd � in the United States. A
combination product generally is defined as a producd t comprim sed of components from two or more regulatory categories (e.g., drug/u device,
device/bio/ logic, drug/bio/ logic). Each compomm nent of a combim nation product is subjeb ct to the requirements established by the FDA for that type
of component, whether a new drug, biologic or device. To facilitateaa pre-market review of combim nation products, the FDA designates one of
its centers to have primary jurisdiction for the pre-market review and regulation of the overall product based upon a determinationaa by the
FDA of the primary mode of action of the combinm ation product. Amphmm ora is subject to review by the FDA, and it is anticipated that Amphm ora
will be a drug/rr device combination productd under NDA standards.
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FDA Drug Approval Process

Amphom ra may not be marketed in the United States until the producd t has received FDA approval. The steps to be completed before a
drug may be marketed in the United States include:

pre-clinical laboratory tests, animal studies, and formulation studies, all performed in accordance with the FDA�s Good
Laboratory Practice, or GLP, regulations;

submission to the FDA of an IND forff human clinical testing;

adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials to establish the safety and efficacyff of the drug for each indication to the
FDA�s satisfaction;

submission to the FDA of an NDA;

satisfactory complm etion of an FDA inspection of the manufacff turing facility or facff ilities at which the drug is produced to assess
compliance with cGMP regulations; and

FDA review and approval of the NDA.

Pre-clinical tests include laboratory evaluation of productdd chemistry,rr toxicity and formulation, as well as animal studies. The results of
the pre-clinical tests, together with manufacturing information and analytical data, are submitted to the FDA as part of an IND, which must
become effective before human clinical trials in the U.S. may begin and is required to be updatedu annually. An IND will automatically
become effectivff e 30 days after receipt by the FDA, unless before that time the FDA raises concerns or questions about issues suchuu as the
conduct of the trials as outlined in the IND. In such a case, the IND sponsor and the FDA must resolve any outstanding FDA concerns or
questions before clinical trials can proceed. Our first IND submitted in 2011 relates to Amphom ra for the prevention of pregnancy (AMP001).
Our second IND relates to the MPT vaginal gel forff the prevention of recurrent BV (EVO-002). We have also been allowed to conduct acc
clinical trial relating to prevention of urogenital chlamydia and gonorrhea (AMPREVENCE) under this IND, and the first subject was
enrolled in this trial on January 23, 2018.

Clinical trials involve the administration of the investigational drug to human subjeb cts under the supeu rvision of qualified investigators.
Clinical trials are conducted under protocols detailing the objectives of the trial, the parameters to be used in monitoring safetff y and the
effectiveness criteria to be evaluated. Each protocol must be submu itted to the FDA as part of the IND. Clinical trials necessary frr orff product
approval are typically conducted in three sequential phases, but the phases may overlap. The trial protocol and informed consent inn nformation
for trial subjects in clinical trials must also be approved by an Institutiot nal Review Board, or IRB, forff each institution where trr he trials will be
conductedd d, and each IRB must monitor the trial until completion. Trial subjects must sign an informed consent form beforeff participating in a
clinical trial. Clinical testing also must satisfy eff xtensive good clinical practice regulations and regulations for informed consent and privacy
of individuallyd identifiable information.

Assuming successful completm ion of the required clinical testing, the results of the pre-clinical studies and of the clinical triar ls, together
with other detailed information, including information on the manufacture and compomm sition of the drug, are submu itted to the FDA in the form
of an NDA requesting approval to market the product forff one or more indications. Section 505(b)(1) and Section 505(b)(2) of the FDCA are
the provisions governing the type of NDAs that may be submitted under the FDCA. Section 505(b)(1) is the traditional pathway for new
chemical entities when no other new drug containing the same active pharmaceutical ingredient or active moiety, which is the molecule or
ion responsible for the action of the drug substance, has been approved by the FDA. As an alternate pathway to FDA approval for new or
improvmm ed formulations of previously approved products, a compam ny may fileff a Section 505(b)(2) NDA. Section 505(b)(2) permits the
submission of an NDA where at least some of the inforff mation required for appa roval comes froff m studies not conducted by or forff the applicanta
and forff which the applicant has not obtained a right of referenff ce. The FDA reviews any NDA submitted to ensure that it is suffiff ciently
complete for substantive review before the FDA accepts the NDA for filing. The FDA may request additional information rather than accept
the NDA for filff ing. Even if the NDA is filed, companies cannot be sure that any approval will be granted on a timely basis, if at all. The FDA
may also refer the application to an appropriate advisory committee, typically a panel of clinicians, forff review, evaluation and ann
recommendation as to whether the application should be appa roved. The FDA is not bound by the recommendations of the advisory
committee, but it typically follows such recommendations. We submitted our NDA for Amphmm ora on July 2, 2015 via the 505(b)(2) regulatory
pathway. No advisory committee was convened by the FDA on the first-round review and no advisory committee is expected upon
resubmission of our NDA.

The FDA may require that certain contraindications, warnings or precautions be included in the product labeling, or may condition the
approval of an NDA on other changes to the proposed labeling, development of adequate controls and specificff ations, or a commitment to
conductd post-marketing testing or clinical trials and surveillance programs to monitor the safetff y of appa roved products that have been
commercialized.
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Post-Appr- oval Requirementstt

Oftentimes, even after a drug has been approved by the FDA for sale, the FDA may require that certain post-approval requirements be
satisfied, including the conduct of additional clinical trials. If such post-approval conditions are not satisfied, the FDA may withdraw its
approval of the drug. In addition, holders of an approved NDA are required to (i) report certain adverse reactions to the FDA, (ii) complmm y
with certain requirements concerning advertising and promotional labeling forff their products, and (iii) continuen to have quality ctt ontrol and
manufacturing procedures conform to cGMP regulations afteff r appra oval. The FDA periodically inspects the sponsor�s records related to safety
reporting and/or manufacff turing facilitiesff . This latter effortff includes assessment of ongoing complm iance with cGMP regulations. We have used
and intend to continue to use third-party manufacff turers to produce active pharmaceutical ingredients for our products in clinical and
commercial quantities, and for final, finished product, and future FDA inspections may identify cff omplmm iance issues at the facilitiesii of our
contract manufacturerff s that may disrupt production or distribution, or require substantial resources to correct. In addition, discovery orr f
problems with a productdd afterff approval may result in restrictions on a product, including withdrawal of the product from the markaa et.

Hatch-WaxWW man Act

As part of the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, Section 505(b)(2) of the FDCA was enacted,
otherwise known as the Hatch-Waxman Amendments. Section 505(b)(2) permits the filing of an NDA where at least some of the informarr tion
required forff approval comes from studies not conductedd by or for the applicant and for which the applicant has not obtained a right of
reference. The Hatch-Waxman Amendments permit the applicant to rely upon certain pre-clinical or clinical studies conducted forff an
approved producdd t. The FDA may also require companim es to perforff m additional studies or measurements to support the change froff m thett
approved producdd t. The FDA may then approve the new producd t forff all or some of the label indications for which the referff enced product has
been approved, as well as for any new indication sought by the Section 505(b)(2) applia cant.

To the extent that the Section 505(b)(2) applicant is relying on studies conducted for an already approvea d product, which is referred to
as the Reference Listed Drug, the applicant is required to certify to the FDA concerning any listed patents in the FDA�s Orange Book
publication that relate to the Reference Listed Drug.rr Specificaff lly, the applicant must certify fff orff all listed patents one of the follff owing
certifications: (i) the required patent information has not been fileff d by the original applicant; (ii) the listed patent already hdd as expired; (iii) the
listed patent has not expired, but will expire on a specified dateaa and approval is sought after patent expiration; or (iv) the listed patent is
invalid or will not be infringed by the manufacture, use or sale of the new product.

If a Paragraph I or II certification is filed, the FDA may make approval of the application effective immediately upon completion of its
review. If a Paragraph III certification is filed,ff the approval may be made effective on the patent expiration date specified in the applica ation,
although a tentative approval may be issued beforeff that time. If an appa lication contains a Paragraph IV certificff ation, a series of events will be
triggered, the outcome of which will determine the effectff ive date of approval of the 505(b)(2) application. The Section 505(b)(2) application
also will not be approved until any non-patent exclusivity, such as exclusivity forff obtaining approval of a new chemical entity, listed in the
Orange Book forff the Referenced Listed Drug has expired.

A certification that the new product will not infringff e the Reference Listed Drug�s listed patents or that such patents are invalidaa is called
a Paragraph IV certificatioff n. If the appla icant has provided a Paragraph IV certification to the FDA, the applicant must also send notice of the
Paragraph IV certification to the NDA and patent holders for the Reference Listed Drug once the applicant�s NDA has been accepted for
filing by the FDA. The NDA and patent holders may then initiate a legal challenge to the Paragraph IV certification. The filing of a patent
infringement lawsuit within 45 days of their receipt of a Paragraph IV certification automatically prevents the FDA from appa roving the
Section 505(b)(2) NDA by imposing a 30-month automatic statutory injun nction, which may be shortened by the court in a pending patent
case if either party failff s to reasonably cooperate in expediting the case. The 30-month stay terminates if a court issues a finalnn order
determining that the patent is invalid, unenforceable or not infringed. Alternatively, if the listed patent holder does not file a patent
infringement lawsuit within the required 45-day period, the applicant�s NDA will not be subject to the 30-month stay.

The Hatch-Waxman Amendments provide five years of data exclusivity for new chemical entities which prevents the FDA from
accepting Abbreviated New Drug Applications and 505(b)(2) applications containing the protected active ingredient. The Hatch-Waxman
Amendments also provide three years of exclusivity for appa lications containing the results of new clinical investigations (other tee han
bioavailabia lity studies) essential to the FDA�s approva al of new uses of approved products such as new indications, delivery mechanisms,
dosage forff ms, strengths, or conditions of use.

Pricing and Reimbursement

Sales of products that we may market in the future, and our ability to generate revenues on such sales, are dependent, in significantff
part, on the availability and level of reimbum rsement from third-partyaa payers such as state and federff al governments, managed care providers
and private insurance plans. If our productsdd are approved by the FDA, we intend to work with payers to demonstrate the clinical benefits of
our products over other delivery modalities to secure adequate and commercially favff orable pricing and reimbum rsement levels.
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Other Governmental Regulations,tt Healthcall re Laws and Environmental Matters

The FDA regulates all advertising and promotion activities for products under its jurisdiction both prior to and after approval. A
company can make only those claims relating to safety and efficacff y that are approved by the FDA. Failure to comply with applicablea FDA
requirements may subject a company to adverse publicity, enforceff ment action by the FDA, corrective advertising, consent decrees and the
full range of civil and criminal penalties available to the FDA.

In addition, under the Pediatric Research Equity Act, or the PREA, an NDA or supplement to an NDA must contain data that are
adequate to assess the safetyff and effectiveness of the drug forff the claimed indications in all relevant pediatric subpopulations, and to support
dosing and administration forff each pediatric subpopulation for which the product is safe and effectff ive. The FDA has indicated thattt Amphmm ora
is covered by the PREA, but the FDA may, on its own initiative or at the request of an applicant, grant deferrals for submission oo f some or all
pediatric data until after approval of the product forff use in adults, or full or partial waivers from the pediatric data requirements. We have
requested a partial waiver of the PREA in our NDA.

Although we currently do not have any products on the market, we may be subjeb ct to additional healthcare regulation and enforceff ment
by the federal government and by authorities in the United States and foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct business. Such laws include,
without limitation, state and federal fraud and abuse laws such as anti-kickbackk k statutes, physician self-referral prohibitions, and false claims
laws, privacy and security, and the Sunshine Act, many of which may become more applicable to us if our product candidates are approveda
for commercialization. If our operations are found to be in violation of any of such laws or any other governmental regulations that apply to
it, we may be subject to penalties, including, without limitation, civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, the curtailment or restructuring
of our operations, exclusion froff m participation in federal and state healthcare programs and imprisonment, any of which could adversely
affeff ct our ability to operate our business and our finaff ncial results.

If we establish international operations, we will be subject to compliance with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or the FCPA, which
prohibits corporr rations and individuals from paying, offering to pay,aa or authorizing the payment of anything of value to any forff eign
government official, government staff member, political party, or political candidate to obtain or retain business or to otherwiseww influence a
person working in an official capacitya . We also may be implimm cated under the FCPA for activities by our partnerst , collaborators, contract
research organizations, vendors or other agents.

Our present and future business has been and will continue to be subject to various other laws and regulations. Various laws,
regulations and recommendations relating to safe working conditions, laboratory practices, the experimental use of animals, and the purchase,
storage, movement, import and export and use and disposal of hazardous or potentially hazardous substances used in connection with our
research work are or may be appa licablea to our activities. Certain agreements involving exclusive license rights, if any, or acquisqq itions, if any,
may be subject to national or supranational antitrust regulatory control, the effect of which cannot be predicted. The extent of government
regulation, which might result from futuff re legislation or administrative action, cannot accurately be predicted.

Review and Approvalpp of Drug Pu roductPP s itt n tii hett European Union

We are currently assessing how Amphmm ora is going to be regulated in the EU and expect that Amphoram is going to be regulated as a
drug. Pursuant to the European Clinical Trials Directive, a system forff the approval of clinical trials in the EU has been implemeee nted through
national legislation of the member states. Under this system, an applicant must obtain approval from the competent national authott rity of an
EU member state in which the clinical trial is to be conducted. Furthermore, the applicant may only start a clinical trial after aee competent
ethics committee has issued a favorableff opinion. Clinical trial applications must be accompanied by an investigational medicinal pa roduct
dossier with supporting inforff mation prescribed by the European Clinical Trials Directive and corresponding national laws of the member
states and further detailed in appla icable guidance documents.

To obtain marketing appa roval of a drugrr in the EU, an applicant musmm t submit a Marketing Authorization Application, or MAA, eithere
under a centralized or decentralized procedure.d The centralized procedure provides for the grant of a single marketing authorization by the
European Commission that is valid for all EU member states, Iceland, Lichtenstein and Norway. The centralized procedured is compulspp ory forff
specific products, including forff medicines produced by certain biotechnological processes, products designated as orphan medicinal products,
advanced therapy products and products with a new active substance indicated for the treatment of certain diseases. For products with a new
active substance indicated for the treatment of certain diseases and products that are highly innovative or for which a centralized process is in
the interest of patients, the centralized procedurdd e may be optional.

The decentralized procedure is available to applicants who wish to market a producdd t in specific EU membem r states where such product
has not received marketing appa roval in any EU member states before.ff The decentralized procedure provides for an applicant to appa ly to one
member state to assess the application (the reference member state) and specifically list other member states in which it wishes to obtain
approval (concerned member states). Under this procedure, an applicant submits an application based on identical dossiers and related
materials, including a draft summary of product characteristics, and draft labelling and package leafletff , to the reference member state and
each concerned member state. The reference member state prepares a draft assessment report and drafts of the related materials within 210
days after receipt of a valid application which is then reviewed and approved commented on by the concernedr member states. Within 90 daysaa
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of receiving the reference member state�s assessment report and related materials, each concerned member state must decide whethett r to
approve the assessment report and related materials.

In the EU, only products for which marketing authorizations have been granted may be promoted. Even if authorized, prescription-only
medicines may only be promoted to healthcare professionals, not the general public. All promotion should be in accordance with the
particulars listed in the summary of product characteristics. Promotional materials must also comply with various laws, and codesdd of conduct
developed by pharmaceutical industry bodies in the EU which govern (amongst other things) the training of sales staff, pff romotional claims
and their justification, comparative advertising, misleading advertising, endorsements, and (where permitted) advertising to the general
public. Failure to comply with these requirements could lead to the imposition of penalties by the competm ent authorities of the EU member
states. The penalties could include warninr gs, orders to discontinue the promotion of the medical device, seizure of promotional materials,
fines and possible imprisonment.

Emerging Growth Company

We are an �emerging growth compam ny,� as defineff d in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012. We will remain an emerging
growth compam ny until the earlier of (1) the last day of the fisff cal year folff lowing the fifth anniversary of our initial public offering,ff (2) the last
day of the fiscal year in which we have total annual gross revenue of at least $1.0 billion, (3) the day we are deemed to be a large accelerated
filer, which means the market value of our common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as measured as of each
June 30th, and (4) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt during the prior three-year period. We
referff to the Jumpstart Our Business Startup Act of 2012 herein as the �JOBS Act,� and references herein to �emerging growth company�
shall have the meaning associated with it in the JOBS Act.

As long as we remain an �emerging growth company,� we may take advantage of certain exemptiom ns from various reporting
requirements that are applica able to public compam nies that are not �emerging growth companies� including, but not limited to, not being
required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reducedd d disclosure obligations
regarding executive compensation and finaff ncial statements in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions froff m the
requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote to approve executive compem nsation and stockholder approval of any golden paracrr hute
payments not previously approved. We may take advantage of one or more of these reporting exemptionm s until we are no longer an
�emerging growth company.�
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Except forff the historical informff ation contained herein or incorporated by rb eference, thitt s Aii nnual Repoe rt and the infon rmation
incorporated by reference contains forward-lodd oking statements ttt hattt involve risks and uncertainties. These statements itt nclude pdd rojeco tions
about our accounting and finances, plans and objectives forff the future,ff future operating and economic performance and other statementstt
regarding future performance. These statements att re not guarantees of futff ure performance or events.tt Our actual results may da iffeff r mee ateriallyl
from those discussed here. FacFF tors that could cause or contribute to differences in our actual results itt nclude those discussed in the following
section, as well as thott se discuii ssed in Part II, Item 7 entitled �Mana� gement�s D� iscussion and Analysiyy s of Fo inFF ancial ConCC dition and Results of
Operations� and elsewhell re throughout this Annual Report and in any othertt documents itt ncorporr rated by reference into this Annual Report.
You should consider carefullye the folff lowing risk factors, together with all of the other inforff mation included or incorporr rated in this Annual
Report. Each of these risk factors, either alone or taken together, could adversely affectff our business, operating results att nd fid nancial
condition, as well as adversely all ffa ectff the value of an investment in our common stock. Tkk herTT e may be additional riskii s tkk hat we do not presentlyl
know of or that we currently bll elieve are immaterial which could also impair our business and financial position.

Risks Related to Our Business

Risks Related to Our Financial Condition and Capital Requirements

We have incurred losses since our inception and anticipate that we will continue to incur significant losses forff the foreseeable futuff re.

We are a development-stage biotechnology company with a limited operating history. Neothetics and Private Evofemff each incurred net
yearly losses since their respective inceptions. Private Evofem incurredr net losses of $105.3 million and $66.7 million for the years ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. As of December 31, 2017, Private Evofem had an accumulated deficit of $307.3 million.
Negative cash flows from our operations are expected to continue for the foreseeable future. Our utilization of cash has been and will
continue to be highly dependent on our product development programs, particularly our programs forff the development of our MPT vaginal
gel and our lead product candidate, Amphmm ora. Our cash expenses will be highly dependent on the product development programs we choose
to pursue, the progress of these productdd development programs, the results of our pre-clinical studies and clinical trials, the cost, timing and
outcomes of regulatory drr ecisions regarding potential approval for our product candidate or any future productd candidate we may choose to
develop, the terms and conditions of our contracts with service providers and license partners, and the rate of recruitment of patients in our
clinical trials. In addition, the continuation of our clinical trials, and quite possibly our entire business, will depend on results of upcu oming
clinical data analyses and our financial resources at the time. Failure to raise capital as and when needed, on favff orable terms or at all, would
have a negative impact on our financial condition and our ability to develop our productd candidates.

We have devoted substantially all of our financial resources to develop our product candidates, including conducting clinical trials and
providing general and administrative suppu ort for our operations. To date, we have financed our operations primarily through the sale of
equity securities. The amount of our future net losses will depend, in part, on the rate of our future expenditures and our ability to obtain
funding through equity or debt financings, strategic collaborata ions or grants. Biopharmaceutical product development is a highly sll peculative
undertaking and involves a substantial degree of risk.

We expect to continue to incur significant expenses and increasing operating losses for the foreff seeable future and our expenses will
increase substantially if and as we:

continue the clinical development of our MPT vaginal gel and our lead product candidate, Amphora;

continue efforts to discover new product candidates;

undertake the manufacturing of our product candidates or increase volumes manufacff tured by third parties;

advance our programs into larger, more expensive clinical trials;

initiate additional pre-clinical, clinical, or other trials or studies for our product candidates or any product candidates we may
choose to develop in the future;

seek regulatory and marketing approvals and reimbursement for our product candidates or any product candidates we may
choose to develop in the future;

establish a sales, marketing, and distribution infrastructurt e to commercialize any products forff which we may obtain marketing
approval and market for ourselves;

seek to identify, assess, acquire, and/ordd develop other productdd candidates;

make milestone, royalty or other payments under third-party license agreements;

seek to maintain, protect, and expand our intellectual property portfolio;ff
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seek to attract and retain skilled personnel; and

experience any delays or encounter issues with the development and regulatory approval of our product candidates such as
safety issues, clinical trial accrual delays, longer follow-up for planned studies, additional major studies or supportive studiesdd
necessary to support marketing approval.

Further, the net losses we incur may fluctuateff significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year, such that a period-to-periodee
comparison of our results of operations may not be a good indication of our futuret performance.

We must raise additional funds to finaff nce our operations to remain a going concern.

Based on our cash balance, recurring losses since inception and inadequacy of existing capital resources to fund planned operations for
a twelve-month period, we will, during the remainder of 2018, require significant additional funding to continue operations. If we are unable
to raise additional funds when needed, we will not be able to continue development of our MPT vaginal gel or our lead product candidate,
Amphom ra, or we will be required to delay, scale back or eliminate some or all of our development programs or cease operations. Any
additional equity or debt financing that we are able to obtain may be dilutive to our current stockholders and debt financing, if available, may
involve restrictive covenants or unfavorable terms. If we raise fundff s through collaborative or licensing arrangements, we may be required to
relinquish, on terms that are not favff orable to us, rights to some of our technologies or product candidates that we would otherwise seek to
develop or commercialize. Moreover, if we are unable to continue as a going concern, we may be forced to liquidatqq e our assets andaa the values
we receive for our assets in liquidation or dissolution could be significantlyff lower than the values reflected in our financial statements.

We have never generated any revenue from product sales and may never be profitabff le.

We have no products appra oved for commercialization and have never generated any material amount of revenue from product sales.
Our ability to generate revenue and achieve profitabilia ty depends on our ability, alone or with strategic collaborators, to successfully
complete the development of, and obtain the regulatory and marketing appa rovals necessary to commercialize one or more of our curruu ent or
future product candidates. We do not anticipate generating revenue from product sales until 2020. Our ability to generate future revenue from
product sales depends heavily on our success in many areas, including, but not limited to:

completing research and development of our MPT vaginal gel, Amphora,m our lead product candidate, and one or more of our
current or future productd candidates;

obtaining regulatory and marketing approvals forff one or more of our current or future product candidates;

manufacturing one or more product candidates and establishing and maintaining supply and manufacturing relationships with
third parties that are commercially feasible, meet regulatory requirements and our supply needs in sufficieff nt quantities to meet
market demand forff our product candidates, if approved;a

marketing, launching and commercializing one or more product candidates forff which we obtain regulatory and marketing
approval, either directly or with a collaborator or distributor;

gaining market acceptance of one or more of our product candidates as treatment options;

addressing any competing products;

protecting, maintaining and enforcing our intellectual property rights, including patents, trade secrets and know-how;

negotiating favff orable terms in any collaboration, licensing or other arrangements into which we may enter;

obtaining reimbursement or pricing for our MPT vaginal gel, our lead product candidate, Amphmm ora, or one or more of our
current or future producdd t candidates that supports profitaff bility; and

attracting, hiring and retaining qualifiedff personnel.

Even if one or more of the product candidates that we develop is approved for commercial sale, we anticipate incurring significant
costs associated with launching and commercializing any approved productd candidate. We also will have to develop or acquire manufann cturing
capabilities or continue to contract with contract manufacturers in order to continue development and potential commercialization of our
product candidates. If we are not abla e to generate revenue from the sale of any approved products, we may never become profitabff le.

We are heavily reliant on our ability to access funding through capital market transactions. Due to our small public float, limited
operating history and lack of revenue, it may be difficult and expensive forff us to raise additional funds.

We are heavily reliant on our ability to raise funds through the issuance of shares of our common stock or securities linked to our
common stock. Our ability to raise these fundsff may be dependent on a numberm of factors, including the risk factors further described herein
and the low trading volume and volatile trading price of our shares of common stock. The stocks of small cap compamm nies in the biotechnology
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sector similar to us tend to be highly volatile. We expect that the price of our common stock will be highly volatile for the next several years.
Even if we expand our portfoliff o of products and product candidates, we may never successfulff ly commercialize or monetize our currentrr
product candidate or any future producdd t candidate that we may seek to develop.

As a result, we may be unable to access funff ding through sales of our common stock or other equity-linked securities. Even if we are
able to access funding, the cost of capital may be substantial. The terms of any fundff ing we are able to obtain may not be favorable to us and
may be highly dilutive to our stockholders. We may be unable to access capital due to unfavorable market conditions or other markaa et factors
outside of our control. There can be no assurance that we will be able to raise additional capital when needed. The failure to obtain additional
capital when needed would have a material adverse effecff t on our business.

Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights.

In order to completm e the development of our MPT vaginal gel and our lead productdd candidate, Amphora,mm we must raise significant
additional capital. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity, convertible debt or other securitiesii convertible into
equity, the ownership interest of our stockholders will be diluted, and the terms of these new securities may include liquidation or other
preferences that adversely affectff rights of our stockholders. Debt financing, if availabla e at all, would likely involve agreements that include
covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capita al expenditnn ures, making
additional product acquisitions or declaring dividends. If we raise additional fundsff through strategic collaborations or licensing arrangements
with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our productd candidates or futuret revenue streams or grant licenses on terms
that are not favorable to us. We do not know if we will be able to obtain additional funding if and when necessary to fund our entire portfolio
of product candidates to meet our projected plans. If we are unable to obtain funding on a timely basis, we may be required to delay or
discontinue one or more of our development programs or the commercialization of any productd candidates or be unable to expand ouroo
operations or otherwise capita alize on potential business opportunities, which could materially harm our business, financial condition, and
results of operations.

Our limited operating history makes it difficult to evaluate the success of our business to date and to assess our future viability.

To date, our activities have been largely limited to staffing,ff business planning, raising capital, developing our technology, identifying
potential producd ts and undertaking pre-clinical and clinical studies of our productdd candidates. We have a limited operating histoss ry that makes
it difficulff t to evaluate our business and prospects. Biopharmaceutical product development is a highly speculative undertaking and involves a
substantial degree of uncertainty. As a largely development stage company, we have not yet demonstrated our ability to obtain regulatory
approvals, generate significant revenue or conduct biopharmaceutical marketing activities necessary frr orff successful product
commercialization. In addition, given our limited operating history,rr we may encounter unforesff een expenses, difficulff ties, complications,
delays, and other known and unknown factors. Our likelihood of success must be evaluated in light of such challenges and variables
associated with a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical product development company and we may not be successfulff in our commercialization
efforff ts or may incur greater costs than expected, both of which would materially adversely affecff t our business, results of operatrr ions or
financial condition.

The recently passed comprehensive tax reform bill could adversely affect our business and finaff ncial condition.

On December 22, 2017, the President signed into law the �Tax Cuts and Jobs Act,� or TCJA, that significantly reforms the Internalnn
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code. The TCJA, among othertt things, includes changes to U.S. federal tax rates, imposes
significant additional limitations on the deductd ibility of interest and net operating loss carryforwards, allows for the expensing of capital
expenditures, and puts into effectff the migration froff m a �worldwide� system of taxation to a territorial system. Our net deferred tax assets and
liabilities will be revalued at the newly enacted U.S. corporate rate,aa and the impact,m if any, will be recognized in our tax expensexx in the year of
enactment. We continue to examine the impamm ct this tax reforff m legislation may have on our business. The impamm ct of this tax reform is
uncertain and could be adverse. We urge our stockholders to consult with their legal and tax advisors with respect to such legislation and the
potential tax consequences of investing in our common stock.

Risks Related to the Development of Our Product Candidates

Our success will depend heavily on whether we can develop our lead product candidate, Amphora, as a contraceptive. Failure to
develop Amphora as a contraceptive would likely cause our business to fail.

We currently have a single platforff m technology, our MPT vaginal gel, from which we intend to create multmm iple product candidates.
However, we will rely primarily on our lead product candidate, Amphormm a, for use as a contraceptive for our commercial success. Amphora is
currently the subjeb ct of an ongoing Phase 3 clinical trial intended to demonstrate efficacff y as a contraceptive. While we believe tvv hat our MPT
vaginal gel may also be usefulff in preventing other indications, currently our business depends almost entirely on the successful cuu linical
development and regulatory approval of Amphmm ora forff use as a contraceptive, which may never occur. We have never received a regulatoryuu
approval for any product. Accordingly, even if we are able to successfullyff complm ete our clinical trial for Amphoram as a contraceptive, we may
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be unable to obtain regulatory approval forff Amphorm a as a contraceptive, which would have a material adverse effeff ct on our business and
operations.

Our ability to develop our MPT vaginal gel for additional indications could have an adverse effect on our business and our ability to
successfullyff market Amphora as a contraceptive.

We believe that Amphmm ora may also be useful in certain other indications and we are conducting a Phase 2b/3 clinical trial forff the
prevention of urogenital chlamydia and gonorrhear in women. In addition, we are currently designing a Phase 2b/3 trial of our MPT vaginal
gel product candidate for the reduction of recurrent BV. We do not know if we will successfully complmm ete either of these clinical trials. Even
if we do complete these clinical trials, there is no assurance that we will obtain regulatory arr ppa roval of Amphmm ora or our MPT vaginal gel for
additional indications. Such a failurff e could impede our ability to market Amphora as a contraceptive because these product candidatedd s are
based on the same active ingredients. Also, any faiff lure to obtain regulatory arr ppa rovals for additional indications will likely have a material
adverse effect on the company�s business and operations.

Indemnity claims from lawsuits or damages against our clinical trial sites could cause us to incur substantial liabilities and to limit
commercialization of Amphora, and any future product candidate that we may develop.

In connection with our clinical trials, our third-party clinical sites faceff inherent risk of liability exposure froff m patients enrolled in our
clinical trials. We have entered into indemnification agreements with each of these clinical trial sites obligating us to reimburbb se these sites
should they incur certain liability in connection with our clinical trials. If we or our clinical trial sites cannot successfully defend against these
product liability and other health related claims, we may incur substantial liabilities. Regardless of merit or eventual outcome, liability claims
may result in decreased demand forff our MPT vaginal gel and our lead product candidate, Amphmm oraor, as applicable, any future product
candidate we may develop, injury trr o our reputation, negative media attention and the diversion of our management�s time and attention from
our product development and commercialization effortsff to address claim related matters.

The success of our business is also expected to depend in part upon its ability to identify, license, discover, develop or commercialize
additional product candidates. Failure to identify additional product candidates would have a negative impact on our business and
operations.

Although a substantial amount of our effoff rt will focus on the continued clinical testing, potential approval and commercializationtt of
our MPT vaginal gel as a contraceptive, as a possible preventative for certain STIs and prevention of recurrent BV, the success of our
business is also expected to depend in part uponu our ability to identify,ff license, discover, develop or commercialize additional paa roductdd
candidates. We are seeking to license, or otherwise obtain, product and technology rights to a variety of producd ts and product candidates in
the field of women�s health, but there can be no assurance we will be able to do so, or do so on favorable terms. Research programgg s to
identify nff ew product candidates require substantial technical, finaff ncial and human resources. There are risks, uncertainties and costs
associated with identifying, licensing and advancing product candidateaa s through successful clinical development. We may focus our effortsff
and resources on potential programs or product candidates that ultimately prove to be unsuccessfulff . Our research programs or licensing
efforts may failff to yield additional product candidates for clinical development and commercialization for a numbem r of reasons, including but
not limited to the following:ff

our research or business development methodology or search criteria and process may be unsuccessfulff in identifying potential
product candidates;

we may not be able or willing to assemblem sufficieff nt resources to acquire or discover additional productdd candidates;

our productd candidates may not succeed in pre-clinical or clinical testing;

our potential product candidates may be shown to have harmfulff side effecff ts or may have other characteristics that may make
the products unmarketable or unlikely to receive marketing approval;

competitors may develop alternatives that render our product candidates obsolete or less attractive;

product candidates we develop may be covered by third parties� patents or other exclusive rights;

the market for a producd t candidate may change during our program so that such a product may become unreasonable to
continue to develop;

research and development programs are quite costly and we may be unable to obtain the financing and resources to do so;

a producdd t candidate may not be capable of being produced in commercial quantities at an acceptable cost, or at all; and

a product candidate may not be accepted as safe aff nd effecff tive by patients, the medical community or third-party payers.
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If any of these events occur, we may be forcedff to abandon our development efforts for a program or programs, or we may not be able
to identify, license, partner, discover, develop or commercialize additional product candidates, which would have a material adverdd se effecff t on
our business, financial condition or results of operations and could potentially cause us to cease operations. Moreover, even if we were able
to obtain the rights to additional productd candidates, there can be no assurance that these candidates will ever be advanced succuu essfullff y
through clinical development.

Clinical trials are costly, time consuming and inherently risky, and we may faiff l to demonstrate safety and efficacy to the satisfacff tion
of applicable regulatory authorities.

Clinical development is expensive, time consuming and involves significant risk. We cannot guarantee that any clinical trials will be
conducted as planned or complm eted on schedule, if at all. In addition, our product candidates are targeted toward pregnancy prevention and
the prevention of certain infectious diseases. Therefore, it may be especially difficult to recruirr t patients to participate in our clinical trials
when doing so will require that patients refrain from other methods of contraception and disease prevention. A failureff of one or more clinical
trials can occur at any stage of development. Events that may prevent successful or timely completion of clinical development include, but
are not limited to:

inability to obtain the funding necessary to initiate or complete any clinical trial;

inability to generate satisfactory pre-clinical, toxicology or othert in vivo or in vitro data or to develop diagnostics capable of
supporting the initiation or continuation of clinical trials;

delays in reaching agreement on acceptable terms with clinical research organizations, or CROs, and clinical trial sites, the
terms of which can be subju ect to extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among different CROs and clinical trial
sites;

delays or faiff lure in obtaining required institutional review board, or IRB, approva al at each clinical trial site;

failure to obtain or delays in obtaining a permit froff m regulatory authorities to conduct a clinical trial;

delays in recruiting or failure to recruit sufficient eligible patients in our clinical trials;

failure by clinical sites or CROs or other third partiesaa to adhere to clinical trial requirements;

failure by clinical sites, CROs or other third parties to perform in accordance with the good clinical practices requirements of
the FDA or applicable foreign regulatory guidelines;

patients withdrawing from our clinical trials;

adverse events or other issues of concern significant enough forff the FDA, or comparam blea foreign regulatory authority, to put an
IND on clinical hold;

occurrence of adverse events associated with our product candidates;

changes in regulatory requirements and guidance that require amending or submitting new clinical protocols;

the cost of clinical trials of our productd candidates;

negative or inconclusive results froff m our clinical trials that may result in our deciding, or regulators requiring us, to conduct
additional clinical trials or abandon development programs in other ongoing or planned indications for a product candidate;
and

delays in reaching agreement on acceptable terms with third-party manufacff turers and the time for manufacture of sufficient
quantities of our product candidates for use in clinical trials.

Any inability to successfully complm ete clinical development and obtain regulatory approval for one or more of our product candidates
could result in additional costs to us or impairmm our ability to generate revenue. In addition, if we make manufacturing or formulamm tion changes
to our product candidates, we may need to conduct additional nonclinical studies and/or clinical trials to show that the results ott btained from
such new formulation are consistent with previous results obtained. Clinical trial delays could also shorten any periods during which our
products have patent protection and may allow compem titors to develop and bring products to market beforeff we do, which could impair our
ability to successfully commercialize our productd candidates and may harm our business and results of operations.

Contraception is a highly competitive healthcare niche. The success of Amphora and any other future contraceptive product
candidate we may pursue will be related to our efficacy and safety outcomes during clinical trials.

Today, there are a variety of hormonal and non-hormonal contraceptive options available to women, including oral contraceptive pills
and intrauterine devices; newer hormonal contraceptive products including implants, injectables, vaginal rings, patches, and hormonal
intrauterine systems; and non-hormonal methods such as femff ale condoms, novel diaphragms, and new methods of femff ale sterilization.o Based
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on our market research, clinical testing of Amphmm ora may need to demonstrate efficacy for typical use of at least 80% to be commercially
viable. Should Amphora failff to generate the safety and efficacff y data expected, our business prospects would be materially damaged.

Due in part to our limited financial resources, we may fail to select or capitalize on the most scientifically, clinically or commercially
promising or profitaff ble indications or therapeutic areas forff our product candidates, and we may be unable to pursue and complete
the clinical trials that we would like to pursue and complete.

We have limited finff ancial and technical resources to determine the indications on which we should focff us the development effortff s forff
our product candidates and any future candidates we may choose to develop. Due to our limited available financial resources, we may be
required to curtail clinical development programs and activities that might otherwise have led to more rapid progress of our productrr
candidates, or productd candidates that we may in the future choose to develop, through the regulatory and development processes. We may
make incorrect determinations with regard to the indications and clinical trials on which to focus the available resources that we do have. The
decisions to allocate our research, management and financial resources toward particular indications may not lead to the developmoo ent of
viable commercial productsd and may divert resources froff m better opportunities. Similarly, our decisions to delay or terminate development
programs may also cause us to miss valuable opportunities.

Risks Related to Regulatory Approval of Our Product Candidates and Other Legal Compliance Matters

We must obtain regulatory approval prior to marketing or commercializing our product candidates. In order to obtain regulatory
approval, we must complete our clinical and pre-clinical trials in compliance with the regulatory approval requirements of the FDA
and any applicable and comparable foreiff gn regulators. If clinical trials of our product candidates fail to satisfactorily demonstrate
safety and efficacy to the FDA and other comparable foreign regulators, we may incur additional costs or experience delays in
completing, or ultimately be unable to complete, the development and commercialization of our product candidates.

We are not permitted to commercialize, market, promote or sell any product candidate in the United States without obtaining
marketing appra oval from the FDA. Comparabla e forff eign regulatory arr uthorities impomm se similar restrictions. We may never receive suchuu
approvals, and must complete extensive pre-clinical development and clinical trials to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our product
candidates before we will be able to obtain these approvals.

Any inability to complmm ete pre-clinical and clinical development successfully could result in additional costs to us, and impaimm r our
ability to generate revenues. Moreover, if (1) we are required to conduct additional clinical trials or other testing of our prodrr udd ct candidates
beyond the trials and testing that we currently contemplm ate (2) we are unable to successfully complete clinical trials of our producd t candidates
or other testing, (3) the results of these clinical trials or tests are unfavorable, uncertain or are only modestly favorable or (4) there are
unacceptable safetyff concerns associated with our productdd candidates, we may:

be delayed in obtaining marketing approval for our productdd candidates;

not obtain marketing approval at all;

obtain approval with labeling that includes significant use or distribution restrictions or significant safetyff warnings, includindd g
boxed warnings;

be subject to additional post-marketing testing or other requirements; or

be required to remove the product from the market after obtaining marketing approval.

Amphora is a drug/device combination and the process forff obtaining regulatory approval for Amphora in the United States will
require compliance with requirements of two divisions of the FDA. A change in the FDA�s primary oversight responsibility would
adversely impact our development timeline and significantly raise our costs.

Amphoram is comprised of both drug and device components and is considered a combim nation product by the FDA. It is a method of
self-applied contraception that uses a pre-filled applicator to apply a semi-solid topical gel. The key active ingredient has been shown to be an
active anti-inflamff matory arr nd anti-infective and works in combination with other active ingredients to stabilize the pH levels in tii he vagina
without altering the vaginal microbiome, which results in both the inhibition and the immobilization of sperm. Other properties contributing
to the contraceptive effect of Amphora are its capaa city to reducdd e/inhibit cervical mucmm us penetration, its abilia ty to maintain sufficient viscosity
even on dilution, and its bioadhesive strength. The FDA has different divisions responsible forff assessing and approving devices and drugs.
The Center forff Drugrr Evaluation and Research, or CDER, has responsibility for drugrr products, while the Center for Devices and Radiological
Health, or CDRH, has oversight responsibility for medical devices. Amphom ra previously underwent a request for designation process with the
FDA that determined that CDER would lead the review. If the designation were to be changed to CDRH, or if either division were to institute
additional requirements for the approval of Amphoram , we could be required to complete clinical studies with more patients and over longer
periods of time than is currently anticipated. This would likely require us to raise additional funds and would cause us to miss anticipated
timelines. The impam ct of either a change in review agency or the impomm sition of additional requirements for approval would be significant to us
and would have a material adverse effect on the prospects forff the development of Amphormm a, our business and our financial condition.
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Serious adverse events arising during clinical studies of our MPT vaginal gel product candidates or post marketing could have a
material, adverse effecff t on our product development timeline or our ability to develop and market our MPT vaginal gel product
candidates at all.

If serious adverse events or undesirable side effectff s occur durdd ing the clinical investigation of our MPT vaginal gel or our lead product
candidate, Amphmm ora, or post marketing, the following events could materially and adversely affecff t our business:

regulatory authorities may impose a clinical hold, which could result in substantial delays and adversely impamm ct our ability to
continue development of our MPT vaginal gel and Amphorm a;

regulatory authorities may require the addition of specific warnings or contraindications to product labeling or field alerts to
physicians and pharmacies;

we may be required to change the way the MPT vaginal gel and/or Amphmm ora is administered or the labeling of the MPT
vaginal gel and/odd r Amphora;

we may be required to conduct additional clinical studies with more patients or over longer periods of time than anticipated;

we may be required to implemm ment a risk minimization action plan, which could result in substantial cost increases and have a
negative impact on our ability to commercialize our MPT vaginal gel and/or Amphora;m

we may be required to limit the patients who can receive our MPT vaginal gel and/or Amphorm a;

we may be subject to promotional and marketing limitations on our MPT vaginal gel and/or Amphora;m

sales of our MPT vaginal gel and/or Amphora may decrease significantly;

regulatory authorities may require us to take an approved product off the market;

we may be subject to litigation or productdd liabilita y claims; and

our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of our MPT vaginal gel or our lead product
candidate, Amphmm ora, or any futurett product candidate we may seek to develop, or could substantially increase commercialization costs and
expenses, which in turn could delay or prevent us from generating significant revenues froff m our MPT vaginal gel or Amphmm ora sales or the
sales from any future producd t candidate.

If FDA approva al is received for our MPT vaginal gel, our lead product candidate, Amphora,mm or any other future productd candidate we
may develop, serious adverse events or side effectsff could require the product to be taken off of the market, may require the productrr to be
packaged with safetyff warninr gs or may otherwise limit our sales of the product.

Even if we obtain regulatory approval forff a product, we will remain subject to ongoing regulatory requirements.

If our MPT product candidates are approved, we will be subject to ongoing regulatory requirements with respect to manufacturing,
labeling, packaging, storage, advertising, promotion, sampling, record-keeping, conductdd of post-marketing clinical trials and submission of
safetyff , efficaff cy and other post-approval information, including both ft edff eral and state requirements in the United States and requirements of
comparable foreign regulatory authorities.

Manufacturers and manufacturers� facilities are required to continuously comply with FDA and comparable foreign regulatory
authority requirements, including ensuring that quality control and manufacturing procedures conforff m to current good manufacff turingrr
practices, or cGMP, regulations and corresponding foreign regulatory mrr anufacturing requirements. As such, we and our contract
manufacturers will be subject to continual review and inspections to assess compliance with cGMP and adherence to commitments made in
any NDA submission to the FDA or marketing authorization application.

Any regulatory approvals that we receive for any of our product candidates may be subju ect to limitations on the approved indicated
uses forff which the product candidate may be marketed or to the conditions of approval, or contain requirements for potentially costly post-
marketing testing, including Phase 4 clinical trials, and surveillance to monitor the safety and efficacy of the productd candidate. We will be
required to report adverse reactions and production problems, if any, to the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory arr uthorities. Any new
legislation addressing drug safety issues could result in delays in product development or commercialization, or increased costs to assure
compliance. If our original marketing approval forff a product candidate was obtained through an accelerated approval pathway, we could be
required to conduct a successfulff post-marketing clinical trial in order to confirm the clinical benefit forff our producd ts. An unsuccessful post-
marketing clinical trial or failure to complete such a trial could result in the withdrawal of marketing approval.
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If a regulatory agency discovers previously unknown problems with a product,dd such as adverse events of unanticipated severity oroo
frequency, or problems with the facility where the product is manufactureff d, or disagrees with the promotion, marketing or labeling of a
product, the regulatory agency may impomm se restrictions on that product or us, including requiring withdrawal of the productd from the market.
If we fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, a regulatory agency or enforcemff ent authority may, among other thingii s:

issue warning letters;

impomm se civil or criminal penalties;

suspend or withdraw regulatory approval;

suspend any of our ongoing clinical trials;

refuse to appra ove pending appla ications or supplements to approved appa lications submitted by us;

impomm se restrictions on our operations, including closing our contract manufacturers� facilities; or

require a product recall.

Any government investigation of alleged violations of law would require us to expend significant time and resources in response and
could generate adverse publicity. Any failure to complymm with ongoing regulatory requirements may significantly and adversely affectff our
ability to develop and commercialize our productd s and the value of our business and our operating results would be adversely affeff cted.

Even if we receive approval from the FDA in the U.S. to market our MPT vaginal gel product candidates or a futuff re product
candidate we may seek to develop, we may fail to receive similar approval outside the U.S.

In order to market a new product outside the United States, we must obtain separate marketing approvals in each jurisdiction and
comply with numerous and varying regulatory rrr equirements of other countries, including clinical trials, commercial sales, pricing
manufacture distribution and safety requirements. The time required to obtain approval in other countries might differ from, and be longer
than, that required to obtain FDA approval. The marketing approval process in other countries may include all of the risks associated with
obtaining FDA approval in the United States, as well as other risks. Further, we may be unable to obtain rights to the necessary clinical data
and may be required to develop our own. In addition, in many countries outside the United States, a new productdd must receive pricingrr and
reimburm sement approval prior to commercialization. This can result in substantial delays in these countries. Additionally, the product labeling
requirements outside the United States may be differff ent and inconsistent with the United States labelina g requirements, negatively affecting
our ability to market our products in countries outside the United States.

In addition, if we fail to comply with applicable foreign regulatory requirements, we may be subject to fines, suspension or withdii rawal
of marketing approvals, product recalls, seizure of productsdd , operating restrictions and criminal prosecution. In such an event, our ability ttt o
market to our full target market will be reduced and our ability to realize the full market potential of our product candidate will be harmed,
which could have a materially adverse effeff ct on our business, finff ancial condition, results of operation and prospects.

Our development and commercialization strategy for our MPT vaginal gel product candidates depend, in part, on published
scientific literature and the FDA�s prior findings regarding the safetyff and efficacy of approved products based on data developed by
others that the FDA may rely on in reviewing our NDA.

The Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act added section 505(b)(2) to the FDCA. Section 505(b)(2) of the FDCA
permits the filing of a NDA where at least some of the information required forff approval comes froff m investigations that were not conducted
by or for the applicant and for which the applicant has not obtained a right of reference or use from the person by or for whom the
investigations were conducted. The FDA interpretsrr section 505(b)(2) of the FDCA, for the purposes of approa ving an NDA, to permit tii he
applicant to rely, in part, uponu published literature or the FDA�s previous findff ings of safety and effiff cacy for an appra oved product.d The FDA
may also require the applicant to perform additional clinical trials or measurements to support any deviation froff m the previously approved
product. The FDA may then approve the new product candidate forff all or some of the labela indications forff which the referenced product
candidate has been approved, as well as forff any new indication sought by the section 505(b)(2) appa licant. The applicant�s product label,
however, may require all or some of the limitations, contraindications, warnings or precautions included in the referenff ce product�s label,
including a black box warning, or may require additional limitations, contraindications, warnings or precautions. We have submittii ed a NDA
for Amphora under section 505(b)(2) of the FDCA and as such the NDA relied, in part, on the FDA�s previous finff dings of safety and efficff acy
from investigations for approved products and published scientific literature for which we have not received a right of reference. In addition,
notwithstanding the approval of many products by the FDA pursuant to section 505(b)(2) of the FDCA, over the last few years some
pharmaceutical companies and others have objected to the FDA�s interpretation of section 505(b)(2) of the FDCA. If the FDA changes its
interpretation of section 505(b)(2) of the FDCA, or if the FDA�s interpretation is successfully challenged in court, this could delay or even
prevent the FDA froff m approva ing any section 505(b)(2) NDAs that we submit. Such a result could require us to conductdd additional testing and
costly clinical trials, which could substantially delay or prevent the approval and launch of our product candidates.
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Product liability lawsuits against us could cause us to incur substantial liabilities and to limit commercialization of our MPT vaginal
gel product candidates and any futureff product candidate that we may develop.

We face an inherent risk of productdd liability exposure should we commercialize Amphorm a. We will face similar risks with any other
futuret indications for our MPT vaginal gel or other product candidates that we may develop or commercialize. If we cannot successfully
defendff ourselves against these product liability claims, we may incur substantial liabilita ies. Regardless of merit or eventual outcome, liability
claims may result in decreased demand for our MPT vaginal gel, Amphoramm or, as applicable, any future product candidate we may develop,
injury to our reputation, negative media attention and the diversion of our management�s time and attention from our product development
and commercialization efforts to address claim related matters.

We will need to maintain liability insurance coverage as we seek to conduct and continue to conduct clinical trials forff our MPT vaginal
gel and Amphom ra. Such insurance may become increasingly expensive and difficult to procure. In the future, such insurance may not be
available to us at all or may only be available at a very high cost and, if available, may not be adequate to cover all liabilitiii es that we may
incur. In addition, we may need to increase our liability insurance coverage in connection with the commercialization of our MPT vaginal
gel, Amphmm ora or any other product candidate we may commercialize. If we are not able to obtain and maintain insurance coverage at a
reasonable cost or in an amount adequate to satisfy any liability that may arise, our business could be harmed, possibly materially.

If we fail to comply with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, we could become subject to fines or penalties or
incur costs that could have a material adverse effectff on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Our research and development activities and our third-party manufacturers� and suppliers� activities involve the controlled storage, use,
and disposal of hazardous materials, including the components of our product candidates and other hazardous compounds. We and our
manufacturers and suppliers are subject to laws and regulations governing the use, manufacture, storage, handling, and disposal of these
hazardous materials. In some cases, these hazardous materials and various wastes resulting froff m their use are stored at our and our
manufacturers� facilities pending their use and disposal. We cannot eliminate the risk of contamination, which could cause an interruptionu of
our commercialization efforts, research and development efforts and business operations; environmental damage resulting in costly clean-up;
and liabila ities under applicable laws and regulations governing the use, storage, handling, and disposal of these materials and specified waste
products. Although we believe that the safetyff procedured s utilized by us and our third-party mtt anufacff turers for handling and disposing of these
materials generally complymm with the standards prescribed by these laws and regulations, we cannot guarantee that this is the case or eliminate
the risk of accidental contamination or injun ry from these materials. In such an event, we may be held liable for any resulting damages and
such liability could exceed our resources and state or federal or other applicable authorities may curtail our use of specified materials and/or
interruptu our business operations. Furthermore, environmental laws and regulations are complex, change frequently, and have tended to
become more stringent. We cannot predict the impam ct of such changes and cannot be certain of our future compliance. We do not currencc tly
carry biological or hazardous waste insurance coverage.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

If we are unable to obtain and maintain patent protection for our MPT vaginal gel product candidates and other proprietary
technologies we develop, or if the scope of the patent protection we have or will obtain is not sufficiently broad, our competitoii rs could
develop and commercialize products and technology similar or identical to ours, and our ability to successfullyff commercialize
Amphora, other MPT vaginal gel product candidates and other proprietary technologies we may develop may be adversely affecff ted.

Our success depends in large part on our ability ttt o obtain and maintainnn patent protection in the United States and other countries with
respect to our MPT vaginal gel, our lead productdd candidate, Amphorm a, and other proprietary technologies we may develop. We seek to protect
our proprietary position by in-licensing intellectual property and filing patent applications in the United States and abroad relating to our
MPT vaginal gel, our Amphmm ora product candidate and other proprietary technologies we may develop. If we or our licensors are unabla e to
obtain or maintain patent protection with respect to our MPT vaginal gel, our Amphoram product candidate and other proprietary technologies
we may develop, our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects could be materially harmed.

Changes in either the patent laws or their interpretation in the United States and other countries may diminish our ability to protect our
inventions, obtain, maintain, and enforce our intellectual property rights and, more generally, could affectff the value of our intellectual
property or narrow the scope of our owned and licensed patents. With respect to both in-licensed and owned intellectual property,tt we cannot
predict whether the patent applications we and our licensors are currently pursuing will issue as patents in any particular jurisrr diction or
whether the claims of any issued patents will provide suffiff cient protection froff m compem titors or other third parties.

The patent prosecution process is expensive, time-consuming, and complex, and we may not be able to file, prosecute, maintain,
enforce, or license all necessary or desirable patent applia cations at a reasonabla e cost or in a timely manner. It is also possiblii e that we will fail
to identify pff atentable aspects of our research and development output in time to obtain patent protection. Although we enter intonn non-
disclosure and confidentiality agreements with parties who have access to confidential or patentable aspects of our research and dnn evelopment
outputt , such as our employmm ees, corporate collaborators, outside scientific collaborators, CROs, contract manufacturers, consultants, advisors,
and other third parties, any of these parties may breach the agreements and disclose such output before a patent application is filed, thereby
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jeopardizing our ability to seek patent protection. In addition, our ability to obtain and maintain valid and enforceable patents depends on
whether the differences between our inventions and the prior art allow our inventions to be patentable over the prior art. Furthertt more,
publications of discoveries in the scientific literature often lag behind the actual discoveries, and patent applications in the United States and
other jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months after filff ing, or in some cases not at all. Therefore, we cannot be certain that we
or our licensors were the first to make the inventions claimed in any of our owned or licensed patents or pending patent applications, or that
we or our licensors were the first to file for patent protection of such inventions.

The patent position of biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies generally is highly uncertain, involves complmm ex legal and factualt
questions, and has been the subjeb ct of much litigation in recent years. As a result, the issuance, scope, validity, enforcff eability, and
commercial value of our patent rights are highly uncertain. Our owned or in-licensed pending and future patent appa lications may not result in
patents being issued which protect Amphoram product candidate and other proprietary technologies we may develop or which effectiff vely
prevent others froff m commercializing competitive technologies and producd t candidates.

Moreover, the coverage claimed in a patent application can be significantff ly reduced beforeff the patent is issued, and its scope can be
reinterprerr ted after issuance. Even if patent applications we license or own currently or in the futuret issue as patents, they may not issue in a
form that will provide us with any meaningfulff protection, prevent competitors or other third parties froff m competing with us, or otherwise
provide us with any competm itive advantage. Any patents that we own ow r in-license may be challenged, narrowed, circumvented, or
invalidated by third parties. Consequently, we do not know whether our MPT vaginal gel, Amphm oraproduct candidate and other proprietary
technology will be protectable or remain protected by valid and enforceable patents. Our competitors or other third parties may be able to
circumvent our patents by developing similar or alternative technologies or productsdd in a non-infrinff ging manner which could materially
adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its inventorship, scope, validity, or enforff ceability, and our patents may be challenged in
the courts or patent officesff in the United States and abroad. We or our licensors may be subjeb ct to a third-party preissuance subss mission of
prior art to the United States Patent and Trademark Office, or the USPTO, or become involved in opposition, derivation, revocation,
reexamination, post-grant and inter partes review, or interferenff ce proceedings or other similar proceedings challenging our owned or licensed
patent rights. An adverse determination in any such submission, proceeding or litigation could reducd e the scope of, or invalidateaa or render
unenforceff able, our owned or in-licensed patent rights, allow third parties to commercialize our MPT vaginal gel, Amphmm ora productd candidate
and other proprietary technologies we may develop and compem te directly with us, without payment to us, or result in our inabilityii to
manufacture or commercialize products without infringing third-party ptt atent rights. Moreover, we, or one of our licensors, may have to
participate in interference proceedings declared by the USPTO to determine priority of invention or in post-grant challenge proceedings, such
as oppositions in a forff eign patent office, that challenge our or our licensor�s priority of invention or other featuresff of patente ability with
respect to our owned or in-licensed patents and patent applications. Such challenges may result in loss of patent rights, loss of exclusivity, or
in patent claims being narrowed, invalidated, or held unenforff ceable, which could limit our ability to stop others from using or
commercializing similar or identical technology and products, or limit the duration of the patent protection of our MPT vaginal gel, Amphoramm
product candidate and other proprietary technologies we may develop. Such proceedings also may result in substantial cost and reqrr uire
significant time from our scientists and management, even if the eventual outcome is favoff rabla e to us.

In addition, given the amount of time required for the development, testing, and regulatory rrr eview of our MPT vaginal gel and
Amphoram product candidate, patents protecting such producd t candidates might expire before or shortly after such product candidates are
commercialized. As a result, our intellectual property may not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others froff m commercializing
products similar or identical to ours. Moreover, some of our owned and in-licensed patents and patent applications are, and may in the future
be, co-owned with third parties. If we are unable to obtain an exclusive license to any such third-party co-owners� interest in such patents or
patent applications, such co-owners may be able to license their rights to other third parties, including our compemm titors, and our competitors
could market competing products and technology. In addition, we may need the cooperation of any such co-owners of our patents in order to
enforce such patents against third parties, and such cooperation may not be provided to us. Furthermore, our owned and in-licensed patents
may be subject to a reservation of rights by one or more third parties. Any of the foregff oing could have a material adverse effect on our
competitive position, business, finff ancial conditions, results of operations, and prospects.

Our rights to develop and commercialize our MPT vaginal gel product candidates are subject, in part, to the terms and conditions of
licenses granted to us by others.

We are reliant upon licenses to certain patent rights and proprietary technology from third parties that are impom rtant or necessary to the
development of our Amphormm a producd t candidate. For example, our license agreement with Rush University includes intellectual property
rights to our MPT vaginal gel and our Amphora product candidate. This agreement requires us, as a condition to the maintenance of our
license and other rights, to make milestone and royalty ptt ayments and satisfy certain performance obligations. Our obligations under this in-
license agreement impomm se significant finanff cial and logistical burdens upon our ability to carry orr ut our business plan. Furthermormm e, if we do
not meet such obligations in a timely manner, and, in the case of milestone payment requirements, if we were unable to obtain an extension
of the deadlines for meeting such payment requirements, we could lose the rights to this proprietary technology, which would haveaa a material
adverse effecff t on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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There is no assurance that the existing RusRR h License Agreement covering the rights related to our MPT vaginal gel or our Amphm ora
product candidate will not be terminated due to a material breach of the underlying agreement. This would include a failureff on our part to
make the milestone and royalty payments, our faiff lure to obtain applicable approvals from governmental authorities, or the loss of rights to the
underlying intellectual property by any such licensors. There is no assurance that we will be able to renew or renegotiate a license agreement
on acceptable terms if the agreement is terminated. We cannot guarantee that any license agreement will be enforceable. The termirr nation of
this license agreement or our inabia lity to enforce our rights under this license agreement would materially and adversely affecff t our ability to
commercialize our MPT vaginal gel and our Amphm ora product candidate.

In addition, with respect to our MPT vaginal gel and our Amphmm ora product candidate, Rush University has the right, in certain
instances, to control the defense against any infriff ngement litigation arising fromff the manufacff ture or development (but not the sale) of our
MPT vaginal gel and our Amphmm ora product candidate. While our license agreement with Rush University requires Rush University to
indemnify uff s forff certain losses arising from these claims, this indemnification may not be sufficiff ent to adequately compensate us forff any
related losses or the potential loss of our ability to manufactff urett and develop our MPT vaginal gel or Amphormm a productdd candidate.

In addition, the agreements under which we currently license intellectual property or technology from third parties are complex, and
certain provisions in such agreements may be susceptible to multiple interpretations. The resolution of any contract interpretatioaa n
disagreement that may arise could narrow what we believe to be the scope of our rights to the relevant intellectualt property or technology, or
increase what we believe to be our financial or other obligations under the relevant agreement, either of which could have a material adverse
effecff t on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects. Moreover, if disputes over intellectual property that we have
licensed prevent or impair our ability to maintain our current licensing arrangements on commercially acceptable terms, we may be unable to
successfullff y develop and commercialize the affecff ted product candidate, which could have a material adverse effectff on our business, financialff
conditions, results of operations, and prospects.

Our licensors may have relied on third-party consultants or collaborators or on funds from third parties such that our licensors are not
the sole and exclusive owners of the patents we in-licensed. If other third parties have ownership rights to our in-licensed pateaa nts, they may
be able to license such patents to our competitors, and our compem titors could market competing products and technology. This couldoo have a
material adverse effect on our competitive position, business, financff ial conditions, results of operations, and prospects.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property and proprietary rights throughout the world.

Filing, prosecuting, and defenff ding patents on our MPT vaginal gel product candidates and other proprietary technologies we may
develop in all countries throughout the world would be prohibitively expensive, and the laws of foreff ign countries may not protect our rights
to the same extent as the laws of the United States. Consequently, we may not be able to prevent third parties from practicing our inventions
in all countries outside the United States, or from selling or impom rting products made using our inventions in and into the Unitedii States or
other jurisdictions. Competim tors may use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not obtained patent protection to develop their own
productsdd and, further, may export otherwise infringiff ng products to territories where we have patent protection but enforceff ment is not as
strong as that in the United States. These producd ts may compemm te with our products, and our patents or other intellectual property rights may
not be effectivff e or sufficientff to prevent them froff m competing.

Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in foreign jurisdictions.
The legal systems of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favff or the enforcement of patents, trade secrets, and
other intellectual property protection, particularly those relating to biotechnology produd cts, which could make it difficultff for uoo s to stop the
infringement of our patents or marketing of compem ting products in violation of our intellectual property and proprietary rights generally. In
addition, some jurisdictions, such as Europe, Japan, and China, may have a higher standard for patentability than in the U.S., including for
example the requirement of claims having literal support in the original patent filff ing and the limitation on using supporting data that is not in
the original patent filing. Under those heightened patentability requirements, we may not be able to obtain sufficient patent protection in
certain jurisdictions even though the same or similar patent protection can be secured in U.S. and other jurisdictions.

Proceedings to enforce our intellectual propertyrr and proprietary rights in foreign jurisuu dictions could result in substau ntaa ial costs andaa divert ouruu
effoff rts and atteaa ntion fromff othet r aspects of our buu usiness, could put ouu ur pateaa nts at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narraa owly, could put ouu ur
pateaa nt applicationsaa at risk of not issuing, andaa could provoke third parties to assert claims against us. We may not prevail in any lnn awsuits that iaa t
initiates, and thet damages or other remedies awarded, if any,nn may naa ot be commercially meaningful. Accordingly, our euu fforts to enforce our
intellectual property att ndaa proprietaryaa rightshh arounduu the world may baa e inadequatqq e to obtain a significant cnn ommemm rcial advantage from the intenn llectual
propertyrr that we develop or license.

Many countries have compum lsory lrr icensing laws under which a patent owner may be compelm led to grant licenses to third parties. In
addition, many countries limit the enforff ceabila ity of patents against government agencies or government contractors. In these countries, the
patent owner may have limited remedies, which could materially diminish the value of such patent. If we or any of our licensors are forced to
grant a license to third parties with respect to any patents relevant to our business, our competitive position may be impaired, and our
business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects may be adversely affected.
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Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document submission, fee
payment, and other requirements imposed by government patent agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated
for non-compliance with these requirements.

Periodic maintenance feeff s, renewal feeff s, annuity feeff s, and various other government fees on patents and applications will be due to be
paid to the USPTO and various governmr ent patent agencies outside of the United States over the lifetime of our owned or licensed patents
and applications. In certain circumstances, we rely on our licensing partners to pay these feeff s due to U.S. and non-U.S. patent agencies. The
USPTO and various non-U.S. government agencies require compliance with several procedural, documentary, feeff payment, and other similar
provisions duringdd the patent appa lication process. We are also dependent on our licensors to take the necessary action to comply with these
requirements with respect to our licensed intellectual property. In some cases, an inadvertent lapsea can be cured by payment of a late fee or
by other means in accordance with the applicable rules. There are situations, however, in which non-compliance can result in abandonment or
lapsea of the patent or patent appla ication, resulting in a partial or completmm e loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. In such an event,
potential competitors might be able to enter the market with similar or identical products or technology, which could have a material adverse
effecff t on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects.

Changes in U.S. patent law could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect our products.

Changes in either the patent laws or interpretation of the patent laws in the United States could increase the uncertainties and costs
surrounding the prosecution of patent applica ations and the enforceff ment or defense of issued patents. Assuming that other requirements for
patentability are met, prior to March 2013, in the United States, the first to invent the claimed invention was entitled to the patent, while
outside the United States, the first to file a patent application was entitled to the patent. Afteff r March 2013, under the Leahy-Smith America
Invents Act, or the America Invents Act, enacted in Septembem r 2011, the United States transitioned to a firsff t inventor to file system in which,
assuming that other requirements forff patentability are met, the first inventor to file a patent application will be entitled to the patent on an
invention regardless of whether a third party wtt as the first to invent the claimed invention. A third party that files a patent application in the
USPTO after March 2013, but before we could therefore be awarded a patent covering an invention of ours even if we had made the
invention before it was made by such third party. This will require us to be cognizant going forff ward of the time from invention to filinff g of a
patent application. Since patent appla ications in the United States and most other countries are confidential forff a period of timeii after filingff or
until issuance, we cannot be certain that we or our licensors were the first to either (i) file any patent application related to our MPT vaginal
gel, our Amphomm ra product candidate and other proprietary technologies we may develop or (ii) invent any of the inventions claimed in our or
our licensor�s patents or patent applications.

The America Invents Act also includes a number of significant changes that affect the way patent applia cations will be prosecuted and
also may affecff t patent litigation. These include allowing third-party submission of prior art to the USPTO durd ing patent prosecution and
additional procedures to attack the validity of a patent by USPTO administered post-grant proceedings, including post-grant review, inter
partes review, and derivation proceedings. Because of a lower evidentiary standard in USPTO proceedings compared to the evidentiarytt
standard in United States federal courts necessary to invalidate a patent claim, a third party could potentially provide evidence in a USPTO
proceeding sufficiff ent for the USPTO to hold a claim invalid even though the same evidence would be insufficff ient to invalidate the claim if
first presented in a district court action. Accordingly, a third party may attempt to use the USPTO proceduresd to invalidate our puu atent claims
that would not have been invalidated if firsff t challenged by the third party as a defendant in a district court action. Therefore, the America
Invents Act and its implemm mentation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our owned or in-licensed patent
applications and the enforcement or defense of our owned or in-licensed issued patents, all of which could have a material adverse effectff on
our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects.

In addition, the patent positions of companies in the development and commercialization of biologics and pharmaceuticals are
particularly uncertain. Recent U.S. Supreme Court rulings have narrowedaa the scope of patent protection available in certain circurr mstances
and weakened the rights of patent owners in certain situations. This combination of events has created uncertainty with respect to the validity
and enforcff eability of patents, once obtained. Depending on future actions by the U.S. Congress, the federal courts, and the USPTO, the laws
and regulations governing patents could change in unpredictable waysaa that could have a material adverse effect on our existing patent
portfolio and our ability to protect and enforceff our intellectualt property in the future.

Issued patents covering our MPT vaginal gel product candidates and other proprietary technologies we may develop could be foundff
invalid or unenforceabff le if challenged in court or before administrative bodies in the United States or abroad.

If we or one of our licensors initiated legal proceedings against a third party to enforce a patent covering our MPT vaginal gel, our
Amphorm a product candidate and other proprietary trr echnologies we may develop, the defenff dant could counterclaim that such patent is invalid
or unenforceable. In patent litigation in the United States, defenff dant counterclaims alleging invalidity or unenforceabff ility are crr ommonplace.
Grounds forff a validity challenge could be an alleged failure to meet any of several statutory requirements, including lack of novelty,
obviousness, or non-enablement. Grounds for an unenforceaff bila ity assertion could be an allegation that someone connected with prosecurr tion
of the patent withheld relevant inforff mation from the USPTO, or made a misleading statement, durid ng prosecution. Third parties may raise
claims challenging the validity or enforceability of our owned or in-licensed patents before administrative bodies in the United States or
abroad, even outside the context of litigation. Such mechanisms include re-examination, post-grant review, inter partes review, interference
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proceedings, derivation proceedings, and equivalent proceedings in foreign jurisdictions (e.g., opposition proceedings). Such proceedings
could result in the revocation of, cff ancellation of, or amendment to our patents in such a way that they no longer cover our MPT vaginal gel,
our Amphmm ora product candidate and other proprietary trr echnologies we may develop. The outcome following legal assertions of invalidity and
unenforceff ability is unpredictable. With respect to the validity question, for example,m we cannot be certain that there is no invalnn idating prior
art, of which we or our licensing partners and the patent examineaa r were unaware during prosecution. If a third party were to prevail on a legal
assertion of invalidity or unenforceability, we would lose at least part, and perhaps all, of the patent protection on Amphmm ora product candidate
and other proprietary trr echnologies we may develop. Such a loss of patent protection would have a material adverse impacm t on our business,
financial condition, results of operations, and prospects.

If we do not obtain patent term extension and data exclusivity for our MPT vaginal gel product candidates, our business may be
materially harmed.

Depending upon the timing, duration and specifics of any FDA marketing appa roval of any productd candidate we may develop, one or
more of our owned or in-licensed U.S. patents may be eligible for limited patent term extension under the Drug Price Competition aoo nd Patent
Term Restoration Action of 1984, or the Hatch-Waxman Amendments. The Hatch-Waxman Amendments permit a patent extension term, or
PTE, of up to five years as compensation for patent term lost during the FDA regulatory review process. A patent term extension cannot
extend the remaining term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years froff m the date of product approval, only one patent may be extended and only
those claims covering the approved drug, a method for using it, or a method for manufacturt ing it may be extended. Similar patent tnn erm
restoration provisions to compensate for commercialization delay caused by regulatory review are also available in certain foreign
jurisdictions, such as in Europe under Supplemental Protection Certificatff e, or the SPC.

An impomm rtant part of our patent strategy is reliant on our ability to obtain patent term extension on the patents licensed from RusRR h
University. However, we may not be granted an extension, such as PTE for the U.S. patent and SPC forff the European patents because of, fff orff
example, failiff ng to exercise dued diligence during the testing phase or regulatory review process, failff ing to apply within applicablea deadlines,
failing to applya prior to expiration of relevant patents, or otherwtt ise failing to satisfy aff pplicaa bla e requirements. Moreover, the appla icablea time
period or the scope of patent protection afforded could be less than our request. If we are unable to obtain patent term extension or the term of
any such extension is shorter than what we request, our competitors may obtain approva al of competing products following our patent
expiration, and our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects could be materially harmed.

The patent protection and patent prosecution forff our MPT vaginal gel product candidates are dependent on third parties.

While we normally seek to obtain the right to control prosecution, maintenance and enforcement of the patents relating to our MPT
vaginal gel and Amphora product candidate, there may be times when the filing and prosecution activities for patents relating to our producd t
candidate are controlled by our licensors or collaboration partnett rs. If any of our current or futuret licensing or collaboration partners fail to
prosecute, maintain and enforcff e such patents and patent applia cations in a manner consistent with the best interests of our busineii ss, including
by payment of all applicable feeff s forff patents covering our product candidate, we could lose our rights to the intellectual property or our
exclusivity with respect to those rights, our ability to develop and commercialize our product candidate may be adversely affecff ted and we
may not be able to prevent competitors from making, using and selling competing products. In addition, even where we have the right to
control patent prosecution of patents and patent applications we have licensed to and from third parties, we may still be adversely affected or
prejue diced by actions or inactions of our licensees, our licensors and their counsel that took place prior to the date upon which we assumed
control over patent prosecution.

We may be subject to claims challenging the inventorship of our patents and other intellectual property.

We or our licensors may be subjeb ct to claims that former employees, collaboratoa rs or other third parties have an interest in our ouu wned
or in-licensed patents, trade secrets, or other intellectual property as an inventor or co-inventor. For example,mm we or our licensors may have
inventorship disputes arise from conflictinff g obligations of consultants or others who are involved in developing Amphmm ora product candidate
and other proprietary technologies we may develop. Litigation may be necessary trr o defend against these and other claims challenging
inventorship or our or our licensor�s ownership of our owned or in-licensed patents, trade secrets or other intellectual propertyrr . If we or our
licensors faiff l in defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary drr amages, we may lose valuable intellectualtt property rights, such
as exclusive ownership of, or right to use, intellectualnn property that is impomm rtant to Amphora product candidate and other proprietaryrr
technologies we may develop. Even if we are successfulff in defending against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a
distraction to management and other emplmm oyees. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effectff on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.

If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, our business and competitive position would be harmed.

In addition to seeking patents for our MPT vaginal gel, our Amphm ora product candidate and other proprietary technologies we may
develop, we also rely on trade secrets and confidentiality agreements to protect our unpatented know-how, technology, and othert proprietary
information and to maintain our competitive position. With respect to our MPT vaginal gel and our Amphmm ora product candidate, we consider
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trade secrets and know-how to be one of our important sources of intellectual property. Trade secrets and know-how can be difficult to
protect. In particular, the trade secrets and know-how in connection with our MPT vaginal gel and our Amphoraproduct candidate and other
proprietary technology we may develop over time may be disseminatedaa within the industry trr hrt ough independent development, the publication
of journal articles describing the methodology, and the movement of personnel with scientificff positions in academic and industry.rr

We seek to protect these trade secrets and other proprietary technology, in part, by entering into non-disclosure and confidentiatt lity
agreements with parties who have access to them, such as our employmm ees, corporate collaborators, outside scientific collaborators,oo CROs,
contract manufactureff rs, consultants, advisors, and other third parties. We also enter into confidenff tiality and invention or patent assignment
agreements with our employmm ees and consultants. We cannot guarantee that we have entered into such agreements with each party thathh may
have or have had access to our trade secrets or proprietary technology and processes. Despite these efforts, any of these parties may breach
the agreements and disclose our proprietary irr nformation, including our trade secrets, and we may not be able to obtain adequate remedies for
such breaches. Enforcing a claim that a party illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade secret is difficult, expensive, and time-consuming,
and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, some courts inside and outside the United States are less willing or unwilling to protect trade
secrets. If any of our trade secrets were to be lawfully obtained or independently developed by a compemm titor or other third partyrr , we would
have no right to prevent them froff m using that technology or inforff mation to compem te with us. If any of our trade secrets were to be disclosed
to or independently developed by a competm itor or other third partyaa , our competitive position would be materially and adversely harmed.

We may be subject to claims that third parties have an ownership interest in our trade secrets. For example, we may have disputestt arise
from conflicting obligations of our emplomm yees, consultants or others who are involved in developing our product candidates. Litigation may
be necessary to defend against these and other claims challenging ownership of our trade secrets. If we fail in defendff ing any suchss claims, in
addition to paying monetary damages, it may lose valuable trade secret rights, such as exclusive ownership of, or right to use, trade secrets
that are importamm nt to Amphormm aproduct candidate and other proprietary technologies we may daa evelop. Such an outcome could have a material
adverse effect on our business. Even if we are successful in defenff ding against such claims, litigation could result in substantiatt l costs and be a
distraction to management and other emplmm oyees.

We may not be successfulff in obtaining necessary rights to any product candidate we may develop through acquisitions and in-
licenses.

We currently have rights to intellectual property, covering our MPT vaginal gel, our Amphmm oraproductdd candidate and other proprietary
technologies we may develop. Other pharmaceutical companm ies and academic institutions may also have filed or are planning to filff e patent
applications potentially relevant to our business. In order to avoid infriff nging these third-party patents, we may find it necessary or pruderr nt to
obtain licenses to such patents froff m such third-party intellectual property holders. However, we may be unable to secure such licenses or
otherwise acquire or in-license any compositions, methods of use, processes, or other intellectual property rights from third parties that we
identify as necessary frr orff our MPT vaginal gel, our Amphmm oraproduct candidate and other proprietary technologies we may develop. The
licensing or acquisition of third-party intellectual property rights is a competitive area, and several more established companienn s may pursue
strategies to license or acquire third-party intellectual property rtt ights that we may consider attractive or necessary. These established
companies may have a competitive advantage over us due to their size, capital resources and greater clinical development and
commercialization capabilities. In addition, compam nies that perceive us to be a competm itor may be unwilling to assign or license rights to us.
We also may be unable to license or acquire third-party intellectualt property rights on terms that would allow it to make an appa ropriate return
on our investment or at all. If we are unable to successfully obtain rights to required third-party intellectual property rights or maintain the
existing intellectualtt property rights we have, we may have to abandon development of the relevant program or product candidate, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects.

We may be subject to claims that our employees, consultants, or advisors have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of
their current or formerff employers or claims asserting ownership of what we regard as our own intellectual property.

Many of our employees, consultants, and advisors are currently or were previously employmm ed at universities or other biotechnology or
pharmaceutical companm ies, including our competitors or potential competm itors. Although we try to ensure that our emplomm yees, consultants,
and advisors do not use the proprietary information or know-how of others in their work for us, we may be subject to claims that we or these
individuals have used or disclosed intellectual property, including trade secrets or other proprietary information, of any such individual�s
current or formff er emplomm yer. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. If we failff in defending any such claims, in addition to
paying monetary drr amages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel. Even if we are successfulff in defending against such
claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to our management.

In addition, while it is our policy to require our emplom yees and contractors who may be involved in the conception or development of
intellectual property to execute agreements assigning such intellectual property to us, we may be unsuccessful in executing such an
agreement with each party who, in fact, conceives or develops intellectualt property that it regards as its own. The assignment of intellectual
property rights may not be self-exff ecuting, or the assignment agreements may be breached, and we may be forced to bring claims against third
parties, or defendff claims that they may bring against us, to determine the ownership of what we regard as our intellectual property. Such
claims could have a material adverse effeff ct on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects.
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Third-party claims of intellectual property infringement, misappropriation or other violation against us or our collaborators may
prevent or delay the development and commercialization of our MPT vaginal gel product candidates and other proprietary
technologies we may develop.

The fieff ld of contraceptive and/or anti-STDs vaginal gel is competitive and dynamic. Due to the significant research and development
that is taking place by several compamm nies, including us and our competitors, in this fieldff , the intellectual property landscape is in flux,ff and it
may remain uncertain in the future. There may be significant intellectual property related litigation and proceedings, in additiott n to the
ongoing interferff ence proceedings, relating to our owned and in-licensed, and other third party, intellectual property and proprietary rights in
the future.

Our commercial success depends in part on our and our collaborators� ability to avoid infringing, misapproa priating and otherwise
violating the patents and other intellectual property rights of third parties. There is a substantial amount of complex litigation involving
patents and other intellectual property rights in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries, as well as administrative procrr eedings forff
challenging patents, including interfereff nce, derivation and reexamination proceedings beforeff the USPTO or oppositions and other
comparable proceedings in forff eign jurisdictions. As discussed above, recently, dued to changes in United States law referred to as patent
reform, new procedures including inter partes review and post-grant review have been implem mented. As stated above, this reform adds
uncertainty to the possibility of challenge to our patents in the future.

Numerous U.S. and foreign issued patents and pending patent applications owned by third parties exist in the fields in which we intend
to commercialize Amphom ra and our MPT vaginal gel product candidate and in which we are developing other proprietary technologies. As
the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries expand and more patents are issued, the risk increases that our product candidateaa may give
rise to claims of infringement of the patent rights of others. We cannot assure you that our MPT vaginal gel, our Amphoramm productuu candidate
and other proprietary technologies we may develop will not infringe existing or futff uret patents owned by third parties. We may not be aware
of patents that have already been issued and that a third party, forff example, a compemm titor in the fields in which we are developioo ng our product
candidate, might assert are infringed by our current or futuret product candidate, including claims to compom sitions, formulations, methods of
manufacturff e or methods of use or treatment that cover our productdd candidate. It is also possible that patents owned by third partiesaa of which
we are aware, but which we do not believe are relevant to our MPT vaginal gel, our Amphmm oraproductdd candidate and other proprietary
technologies we may develop, could be found to be infringed by our product candidate. In addition, because patent applications can take
many years to issue, there may be currently pending patent applications that may later result in issued patents that our product ccc andidate may
infringe.

Third parties may currently have patents or obtain patents in the future, and claim that use of our technologies or the manufacture, use
or sale of our MPT vaginal gel or our Amphoramm productd candidate infringes upon these patents. In the event that any third-party ctt laims that
we infringe their patents or that we are otherwiser employm ing their proprietary trr echnology without authorization and initiates litigation against
us, even if we believe such claims are without merit, a court of competent jurisdiction could hold that such patents are valid, enforceable and
infringed by our technologies or product candidate. In this case, the holders of such patents may be able to block our ability to commercialize
the appa licabla e product candidate or technology unless we obtain a license under the appa licable patents, or until such patents expee ire or are
finally determined to be held invalid or unenforceable.ff Such a license may not be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Even
if we are able to obtain a license, the license would likely obligate us to pay license fees or royalties or both, and the rightshh granted to us
might be nonexclusive, which could result in our competitors gaining access to the same intellectualt property. If we are unable to obtain a
necessary license to a third-party patent on commercially reasonable terms, we may be unable to commercialize our product candidate or
technologies or such commercialization effortff s may be significantly delayed, which could in turn significantly harm our business.

Defense of infringement claims, regardless of their merit, would involve substantial litigation expense and would be a substantial
diversion of management and other employmm ee resources froff m our business, and may impact our reputation. In the event of a successfulff claim
of infringement against us, we may be enjoined froff m furthff er developing or commercializing our infringing products or technologies. In
addition, we may have to pay substantial damages, including treble damages and attorneys� fees for willful infringement, obtain one or more
licenses froff m third parties, pay royalties and/or redesign our infringing products or technologies, which may be impomm ssible or require
substantial time and monetary expendituret . In that event, we would be unable to further develop and commercialize our product candidate or
technologies, which could harm our business significantly. Further, we cannot predict whether any required license would be availaaa ble at all
or whether we would be available on commercially reasonable terms. In the event that we could not obtain a license, we may be unableuu to
further develop our productd candidate and commercialize our product and productd candidate, if approved, which could harm our business
significantly. Even if we are able to obtain a license, the license would likely obligate us to pay license fees or royalties or boo oth, and the rights
granted to us might be nonexclusive, which could result in our competitors gaining access to the same intellectual property. Ultill mately, we
could be prevented from commercializing a product, or be forced to cease some aspect of our business operations, if, as a result oll f actual or
threatened patent infringement claims, we are unable to enter into licenses on acceptabla e terms.

Engaging in litigation defendinff g us against third parties alleging infringff ement of patent and other intellectual property rights is veryrr
expensive, particularly for a company of our size, and time-consuming. Some of our compemm titors may be able to sustain the costs of litigation
or administrative proceedings more effectively than we can because of greater finanff cial resources. Patent litigation and other proceedings
may also absorb sr ignificant management time. Uncertainties resulting froff m the initiation and continuation of patent litigation or other
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proceedings could impairmm our ability to compemm te in the marketplace. The occurrence of any of the forff egoing could have a material aaa dverse
effectff on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

We may become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents and other intellectual property rights, which could be
expensive, time consuming, and unsuccessful.

Competitors may infrinff ge our patents or the patents of our licensing partners, or we may be required to defend against claims of
infrinff gement. In addition, our patents or the patents of our licensing partners also may become involved in inventorship, priority or validity
disputes. To counter or defendff against such claims can be expensive and time consuming. In an infringement proceeding, a court may decide
that a patent owned or in-licensed by us is invalid or unenforff ceable,a or may refuseff to stop the other party from using the technolohh gy at issue
on the grounds that our owned and in-licensed patents do not cover the technology in question. An adverse result in any litigation proceeding
could put one or more of our owned or in-licensed patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly. Furthermore, because of the
substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, theret is a risk that some of our confidential
information could be compromised by disclosure durid ng this type of litigation.

Even if resolved in our favor, litigation or other legal proceedings relating to intellectual property claims may cause us to incur
significantff expenses and could distract our personnel froff m their normal responsibilities. In addition, there could be public annonn uncements of
the results of hearings, motions, or other interim proceedings or developments, and if securities analysts or investors perceive these results to
be negative, it could have a substantial adverse effect on the price of our common stock. Such litigation or proceedings could substantially
increase our operating losses and reduce the resources available forff development activities or any futuret sales, marketing, or distribution
activities. We may not have sufficientff financial or other resources to conduct such litigation or proceedings adequately. Some of our
competitors may be able to sustain the costs of such litigation or proceedings more effecff tively thant we can because of their grearr ter finaff ncial
resources and more mature and developed intellectual property portfoliff os. Uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of
patent litigation or other proceedings could have a material adverse effect on our ability to compem te in the marketpltt ace.

If our trademarks and trade names are not adequately protected, then we may not be able to build name recognition in our markets
of interest and our business may be adversely affected.

Our registered or unregistered trademarks or trade names may be challenged, infrinff ged, circumvented or declared generic or
determined to be infringing on other marks. During trademark registration proceedings, including those for Amphom ra, we may receive
rejections of our applications by the USPTO or in other foreign jurisdictions. Although we are given an opportunity to respond to those
rejections, it may be unable to overcome such rejee ctions. In addition, in the USPTO and in comparable agencies in many foreign jurisdictions,
third parties are given an opportunity to oppose pending trademark applications and to seek to cancel registered trademarks. Opposition or
cancellation proceedings may be filed against our trademarks, and our trademarks may not survive such proceedings. Moreover, any name we
have proposed to use with our product candidate in the United States must be approved by the FDA, regardless of whether we have registered
it, or applied to register it, as a trademark. Similar requirements exist in Europe. The FDA typically conducts a review of proposeoo d product
names, including an evaluation of potential for confusioff n with other product names. If the FDA (or an equivalent administrative body in a
foreign jurisdiction) objects to any of our proposed proprietary product names, it may be required to expend significantff additional resources
in an effort to identify a suitable substitute name that would qualify under applicable trademark laws, not infringe the existingii rights of third
parties and be acceptable to the FDA. Furthermore, in many countries, owning and maintaining a trademark registration may not provide an
adequate defense against a subsequent infringement claim asserted by the owner of a senior trademark.

We may not be able to protect our rights to these trademarks and trade names, which we need to build name recognition among
potential partners or customers in our markets of interest. At times, competitors or other third parties may adopt trade names or trademarks
similar to ours, thereby impedim ng our ability to build brand identity and possibly leading to market confusion. In addition, there could be
potential trade name or trademark infringement claims brought by owners of other registered trademarks or trademarks that incorporr rate
variations of our registered or unregistered trademarks or trade names. Over the long term, if we are unable to establish name recognition
based on our trademarks and trade names, then we may not be able to compete effecff tively and our business may be adversely affected. Our
efforts to enforce or protect our proprietary rights related to trademarks, trade secrets, domain names, copyrights or other intellectnn ualt property
may be ineffective and could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could adversely affect our business, finff ancial condition,
results of operations and prospects.
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Intellectual property rights do not necessarily address all potential threats.

The degree of future protection afforded by our intellectual property rights is uncertain because intellectual property rights have
limitations and may not adequately protect our business or permit us to maintain our competitive advantage. For example:

others may be able to make products that are similar to our product candidate or utilize similar technology but that are not
covered by the claims of the patents that we license or may own;

we, or our current or future licensors or collaborators, might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by the
issued patent or pending patent application that we license or may own in the future;

we, or our current or future licensors or collaborators, might not have been the first to file patent applications covering certarr in
of our or their inventions;

others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicu ate any of our technologies without infringiff ng
our owned or licensed intellectual property rights;

it is possible that our current or future pending owned or licensed patent applications will not lead to issued patents;

issued patents that we hold rights to may be held invalid or unenforceable, including as a result of legal challenges by our
competitors or other third parties;

our competitors or other third parties might conduct research and development activities in countries where we do not have
patent rights and then use the information learned from such activities to develop competitive productsd for sale in our majoa r
commercial markets;

we may not develop additional proprietary trr echnologies that are patentable;

the patents of others may harm our business; and

we may choose not to file a patent in order to maintain certain trade secrets or know-howk , and a third party may subsequently
file a patent covering such intellectual property.

Should any of these events occur, they could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations,
and prospects.

Risks Related to Our Reliance on Third Parties

Our success relies on third-party suppliers and manufacturers. Any failure by such third parties, including failff ure to successfulff ly
perform and comply with regulatory requirements, could negatively impact our business and our ability to develop and market
Amphora and potential future product candidates, and our business could be substantially harmed.

We have a small number of employees and no internalr manufacff turing capabila ity. Our management does not expect to manufacture any
products and expects to rely on third parties to make our productdd s, and as such we will be subject to inherent uncertainties related to productdd
safetyff , availability and security. To date, our contract manufacff turer, Swiss-American, has only produced a small quantity of our Muu PT vaginal
gel for clinical testing. Furthermore, we have only a single source of supply for some of the key raw materials and components of our MPT
vaginal gel and alternate sources of supply may not be readily availabla e.

Moreover, we do not expect to control the manufacturing processes for the production of our MPT vaginal gel or any of our other
future products or product candidates, which must be made in accordance with relevant regulations, and includes, among other things, quality
control, quality assurance, compliance with cGMP and the maintenance of records and documentation. In the future, it is possible that our
suppliers or manufacturers may faiff l to complymm with FDA regulations, the requirements of other regulatory brr odies or our own requirements,
all of which would result in suspension or prevention of commercialization and/or manufacturing of our products or product candidates,
including our MPT vaginal gel and our lead product candidate, Amphora, suspension of ongoing research, disqualificaff tion of data or other
enforcement actions such as product recall, injun nctions, civil penalties or criminal prosecutions against us. Furthermore, we may be unable to
replace any supplier or manufacturer with an alternate supplier or manufacturt er on a commercially reasonable or timely basis, or at all.

If we were to experience an unexpected loss of supply of, or if any supplier or manufacturer were unable to meet our demand for our
product candidates, we could experience delays in research, planned clinical studies or commercialization. We might be unabla e to ftt inff d
alternative suppliers or manufacff turers with FDA appa roval, of acceptablea quality, in the appropriate volumes and at an acceptable cost. The
long transition periods necessary to switch manufactff urers and suppliers would significantly delay our timelines, which would materially
adversely affectff our business, financial conditions, results of operation and prospects.
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In addition, our reliance on third-party manufacturers exposes us to the following additional risks:

we may be unable to identify manufacturers on acceptable terms or at all;

our third-party manufacturers might be unable to timely formulate and manufactureff our product or produce the quantity and
quality required to meet our clinical and commercial needs, if any;

Contract manufacturers may not be able to executeuu our manufacturing procedures appra opriately;

our futureff third-party manufacturers may not perform as agreed or may not remain in the contract manufacturing business for
the time required to supply our clinical trials or to successfullyff produce, store and distribute our products;

Manufacturers are subject to ongoing periodic unannounced inspection by the FDA and corresponding state agencies to ensure
strict complim ance with cGMPs and other government regulations and corresponding foreign standards, and we do not have
control over third-party manufactff urers� compliance with these regulations and standards;

we may not own, or may have to share, the intellectual property rights to any improvmm ements made by our third-party
manufacturers in the manufacturing process for our product candidates; and

our third-party manufactff urers could breach or terminate their agreement with us.

Each of these risks could delay our clinical trials, the approval, if any of our product candidates by the FDA or the commercialization
of our product candidates or result in higher costs or deprive us of potential product revenue. In addition, we rely on third parties to perform
release testing on our product candidates prior to delivery to patients. If these tests are not appropriately conducd ted and test data are not
reliable, patients could be put at risk of serious harm, which could result in product liability suits.

The manufacture of medical products is complex and requires significant expertise and capital investment, including the development
of advanced manufactff uring techniques and process controls. Manufacturers of medical productsd often encounter difficulff ties in production,
particularly in scaling up and validating initial production and absence of contamination. These problems include difficulff ties with production
costs and yields, quality control, including staba ility of the product, quality assurance testing, operator error, shortages of qualified personnel,
as well as compliance with strictly enforced federal, state and foreign regulations. Furthermore, if contaminants are discovered in our supply
of our product candidates or in the manufactff uring facilities, such manufacff turing facff ilities may need to be closed forff an extended period of
time to investigate and remedy the contamination. We cannot be assured that any stability or other issues relating to the manufacture of our
producd t candidates will not occur in the future. Additionally, our manufactff urers may experience manufacturing difficulties due to resource
constraints or as a result of labor disputes or unstable political environments. If our manufacff turers were to encounter any of these difficuff lties,
or otherwise fail to complymm with their contractual obligations, our ability to provide our product candidates to patients in clinical trials would
be jeopardized. Any delay or interruption in the supply of clinical trial supplies could delay the completion of clinical trials, increase the costs
associated with maintaining clinical trial programs and, depending upon the period of delay, require us to commence new clinical taa rials at
additional expense or terminate clinical trials completely.

We have no internal distribution capabilities and intend to engage third-party distributors for distribution of products outside the
United States. The inability to identify, or enter into an agreement with, any such third-party distributor, would likely have a
material adverse effectff on our business and operations.

Although we currently plan to market and sell our lead product candidate, Amphora, directly in the United States, we do intend to enter
into distribution agreements with one or more distributors of Amphm ora outside the United States. We currently have not entered into any such
distribution agreement with any such distributor, and we cannot guaranty that we will be able to enter into any such distributionii agreement on
commercially reasonable terms, or at all. If we were to outsource product distribution, including the distribution of Amphora or any future
productd candidate or product, this outsourcing would also be subject to uncertainties related to such distribution services, inclnn uding the
quality of such distribution services. For example, distributors may not have the capacity to supply sufficientff product if demand increases
rapidly. Further, we would be dependent on the distributors to ensure that the distribution process accords with relevant regulations, which
includes, among other things, compliance with current good documentation practices, the maintenance of records and documentation and
compliance with other regulations, including, without limitation, the FCPA. Failure to comply with these requirements could resulss t in
significantff remedial action, including improvem ment of facilities, suspension of distribution or recall of product.dd Additionally, any failure by us
to forecast demand for finished product, including Amphora,m and failure by us to ensure our distributors have appropra iate capacity to
distribute such quantities of finisff hed product, could result in an interruptirr on in the supply of certain products and a decline in sales of that
product. Further third-party dtt istributors may not perform as agreed or may terminate their agreements with us. Any significantff problem that
our distributors experience could delay or interruptu our sale of products in the applicable jurisdiction until the applicablea distributor cures the
problem or until we identify and negotiate an acceptable agreement with an alternative distributor, if one is available. Any failureaa or delay in
distributing products would likely have a negative impamm ct on our business and operations.
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We rely and intend to rely on third-parties for the execution of our development programs forff our MPT vaginal gel product
candidates and our potential future product candidates. Failure of these third parties to provide services of a suitable quality att nd
within acceptable timeframes may cause the delay or failure of our development programs.

We emplomm y a business model that relies on the outsourcing of certain functions, tests and services to CROs, medical institutions and
other specialist providers, including, without limitation, the conduct, management and monitoring of our ongoing and planned clinical trials.
As a result, we rely on these third parties for, among other things, quality assurance, clinical monitoring, clinical data managema ent and
regulatory expertise. In terms of Amphora, we have engaged PAREXEL International Corporation as CRO to run substantially all aspects of
the AMPOWER clinical trial. We also intend to engage a CRO for all future clinical trial requirements needed to file for regulatory approvals.
There is no assurance that such organizations or individuals will be able to provide the functions, tests or services as agreed upon,u or to the
requisite quality. We will rely on the efforts of these organizations and individuals and could suffer significaff nt delays in the development of
our product or processes should they fail to perform as expected.

There is also no assurauu nceaa that taa heset third partaa ies will not make errorr rs in, or simplymm fail to be effeff ctive in, the design, managenn ment or
retentionn n of our dataaa or data systems. Any fnn aiff luresuu by such third partiesrr could lead to a loss of data, which in turnuu could lead taa o delays in clinical
development and obtaining regulatory approval. Third partiesaa may naa ot pass FDA or othet r regulatory audits, which could delay or prohibit
regulatoaa ry approval. In addition, the cost of such servirr ces could significantlynn increase over time. If these thirdt partiesaa do not successfully carryaa out
their contrnn actual dutiuu es or meet expexx cted deadlines, regulatoaa ry approval of our Muu PT vaginal gel producdd t candidateaa s or anyaa futuuu reuu producdd t
candaa idateaa s, may baa e delayed, prevented or cost significantly more than expecxx ted, all of which would have a mateaa rial adverse effect on our business,
financial conditions, results of operation andaa prospects.

If we fail to enter into or maintain strategic relationships or collaborations with respect to future product candidates, or if we are
unable to realize the potential benefitsff from such collaborations, our business, financial condition, commercialization prospects and
results of operation may be materially adversely affecff ted.

If we are successful in identifyiff ng and in-licensing the rights to additional product candidates, our expected strategy with respect to the
development of any such futff ure product candidates is to supplement internal efforff ts with third-party collaborations. We face significant
competition in seeking appropriate collaboratoa rs. Collaborations are complex and time-consuming arrangements to negotiate and document.

Our success in entering into a definitive agreement for any collaboration will depend upon, among other things, our assessment of the
collaboa rator�s resources and expertise, the terms and conditions of the proposed collaboration and the proposed collaborator�s evaluation of a
number of factors. Those factors may include the design and outcomes of the clinical studies, the likelihood of appra oval by regulgg atory
authorities, the potential market forff the producd t, the costs and complexities of manufacturing and delivering such producd ts to customers, the
potential of competing products, the strength of the intellectual property and industry and market conditions generally. The collaborator may
also consider alternative products or technologies forff similar indications that may be availabla e to collaborate on and whether such
collaboration could be more attractive than the one with us for our products or product candidates.

Any potential collaboration agreement into which we might enter may call for licensing or cross-licensing of potentially blocking
patents, know-how or other intellectual property. Due to the potential overlap of data, know-how and intellectual property rights, there can be
no assurance that one of our collaboratorsa will not dispute our right to use, license or distribute such data, know-how or other iee ntellectuat l
property rights, and this may potentially lead to disputes, liability or termination of the collaboraa tion.

We may also be restricted under existing and future collaboration agreements froff m entering into agreements on certain terms with
other potential collaborators and may not be able to negotiate collaboraa tions on a timely basis, on acceptable terms, or at all. If that were to
occur, we may have to curtail the development of a particular product, reduce or delay our development program, delay commercialization,
reduce the scope of sales or marketing activities, or increase expenditures and undertake development or commercialization activities at our
own expense. If we elect to fund development or commercialization activities on our own, we will need to obtain additional capital,ii which
may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. Absent sufficientff funds, we may not be able to commercialize a product ccc andidate. If
we enter into a collabora ation agreement regarding a productdd or productdd candidate, we could be subject to, among other things, the folff lowing
risks, each of which may materially harm our business, commercialization prospects and financial condition:

we may not be able to control the amount and timing of resources that the collaborator devotes to the product development
program;

we may experience financial diffiff culties and thus not commit sufficff ient financff ial resources to the productd development
program;

we may be required to relinquish importanmm t rights to the collaboa rator such as marketing, distribution and intellectual property
rights;

a collaborator could move forward with a competm ing product developed either independently or in collaboraa tion with third
parties, including our competitors;
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a collaborator could terminate the agreement (for convenience if permitted) for our breach; or

business combinations or significant changes in a collaborator�s business strategy may adversely affect our willingness to
complete our obligations under any arrangement.

As a result, a collaboration may not result in the successful development or commercialization of our producdd t candidates.

We enter into various contracts in the normal course of our business in which we indemnify tff he other party to the contract. In the
event we have to perform under these indemnification provisions, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, finanff cial
condition and results of operations.

In the normal course of business, we periodically enter into academic, commercial, service, collaboration, licensing, consulting and
other agreements that contain indemnification provisions. With respect to our academic and other research agreements, including the Rush
License, we typically indemnify tff he institutiont and related partaa ies froff m losses arising from claims relating to the products, processes or
services made, used, sold or performed pursuant to the agreements for which we have secured licenses, and from claims arising from our or
our sublicensees� exercise of rights under the agreement. With respect to collaboration agreements, we may have to indemnify ouruu
collaborators froff m any third-party product liabia lity claims that could result from the production, use or consumption of the product, as well as
for alleged infringements of any patent or other intellectual property right owned by a third party. With respect to consultants, we indemnify
them froff m claims arising from the good faith perforff mance of their services.

If our obligations under an indemnification provision exceed applicabla e insurance coverage or if we were denied insurance coverage,rr
our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected. Similarly, if we are relying on a collaborator to
indemnify uff s and the collaborator is denied insurance coverage or the indemnification obligation exceeds the applicable insurancenn coverage,
and if the collaborator does not have other assets available to indemnify us, our business, financial condition and results of operations could
be adversely affected.

Risks Related to Commercialization of Our Product Candidates

We currently have limited marketing and sales experience. If we are unable to establish sales and marketing capabilities or enter into
agreements with third parties to market and sell our product candidates, we may be unable to generate any revenue.

Although some of our emplomm yees may have marketed, launched and sold other pharmaceutical productd s in the past while empm loyed at
other compam nies, we have no experience selling and marketing our product candidates, and we currently have no marketing or sales
organization. To successfully commercialize any products that may raa esult from our development programs, we will need to find one or more
collaborators to commercialize our products or invest in and develop these capabilities, either on our own or with others, which would be
expensive, difficult and time consuming. Any failure or delay in the timely development of our internal commercialization capabilities could
adversely impam ct the potential for success of our products.

If commercialization collaborators do not commit sufficient resources to commercialize our future producd ts and we are unable to
develop the necessary marketing and sales capaa bilities on our own, we will be unable to generate sufficff ient productd revenue to sustain or
grow our business. We may be competing with compamm nies that currently have extensive and well-fundedff marketing and sales operations,
particularly in the markets our product candidates are intended to address. Withoutt appropriate capabia lities, whether directly or through third-
party collaborators, we may be unable to compete successfully against these more established companies.

We face competition from other medical device, biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies and our operating results will suffer if
we fail to compete effectively.

The medical device, biotechnology and pharmaceutical indusd tries are intensely competim tive. Significant competition among various
contraceptive products already exists. Existing products have name recognition, are marketed by companies with established commercial
infrastructures and with greater finaff ncial, technical and personnel resources than us. In order to competmm e and gain market share, any new
product will need to demonstrate advantages in efficaff cy, convenience, tolerability or safetyff . In addition, new products developed by others
could emerge as competitors to Amphora, if approved. Such products could offer an alternative form of non-hormonal contraceptive that
provides protection over longer periods of time. If we are not able to compete effectively against our current and future competitors, our
business will not grow and our financial condition and operations will suffer.ff

Our potential competitors include large, well-establia shed pharmaceutical compam nies and specialty pharmaceutical companies. These
companies include Merck & Co., Inc., Allergan plc, Teva Pharmaceutical Industries Ltd., Bayer AG, Johnson & Johnson, Cooper and Mylan
Inc. Additionally, several generic manufacturers currently market and continue to introduce new generic contraceptives. There are other
contraceptive product candidates in development that, if approved, would potentially compemm te with Amphora, including hormonal patches
and hormonal vaginal rings.
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Our MPT vaginal gel product candidates and any of our future potential product candidates, may not gain acceptance among
physicians, patients or the medical community, thereby limiting our potential to generate revenue, which will undermine our future
growth prospects.

Even if our MPT vaginal gel, our lead product candidate, Amphmm ora, or any of our future productdd candidates are approved for
commercial sale by the FDA or other regulatory authorities, the degree of market acceptance of any new producd t by physicians, health care
professionals and third-party payers will depend on a number of facff tors, including:

demonstrated evidence of efficacy and safety;

sufficff ient third-party insurance coverage or reimburm sement;

effectiveness of our or our collaborators� sales and marketing strategy;

the willingness of uninsured consumers to pay for the product;

the willingness of pharmacy chains to stock the products;

the prevalence and severity of any adverse side effectff s; and

availability of alternative products.

If our MPT vaginal gel product candidates that we may license, develop or sell does not provide a benefit over currently availablea
options, that product candidate is unlikely to achieve market acceptance and we will not generate sufficient revenues to achieve profitability.

The success of our MPT vaginal gel product candidates or any future contraceptive product candidate we may seek to develop, will
depend on the availability of contraceptive alternatives and women�s preferenff ces, in addition to the market�s acceptance of this
specific method of contraception.

The commercial success of our MPT vaginal gel, Amphora, or any other future contraceptive producd t candidate we may seek to
develop, will depend upon the contraceptive market as well as markaa et acceptance of this alternative method. Risks related to market
acceptance include, among other things:

minimum acceptable contraceptive efficacy rates;

perceived safety differences of hormonal and/or non-hormonal contraceptive options;

changes in healthcare laws and regulations, including the ACA, and its effectff on pharmaceutical coverage, reimburm sement and
pricing, and the birth control mandate;

competition froff m new lower dose hormonal contraceptives with more favorable side effect profiles; and

new generic contraceptive options including a generic version of Amphora as a contraceptive.

If one or more of these risks occur it could reduce the market potential for our MPT vagina gel, Amphora,mm or any future contraceptive
product we may seek to develop, and place pressure on our business, financial condition, results of operation and prospects.

If we suffeff r negative publicity concerning the safety or efficacyff of our products in development, our reputation could be harmed and
we may be forced to cease development of such products.

If concerns should arise about the actual or anticipated clinical outcomes regarding the safety of any of our product candidates, such
concerns could adversely affectff the market�s perception of these candidates. Such concerns could lead to a decline in investors� expectations
and a decline in the price of our common stock.

We rely, and continue to expect to rely, on market research conducted on our behalf to evaluate the potential commercial acceptance
our MPT vaginal gel product candidates and other future product candidates.

We have contracted with and expect to continue to contract with third parties to perform market research on our behalf. Bff ased on to he
results of our market research to date, we believe that Amphorm a, if approved, would be an attractive alternative to hormonal birth control to
certain women. However, these research findings may not be indicative or predictive of actual or overall market acceptance and any future
market research may not be indicative of the acceptance forff another product candidate or futuff re product candidate we may develop.
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The commercial success of our MPT vaginal gel product candidates and any future product candidates will depend in significant
measure on the label claims that the FDA or other regulatory authorities approve forff the product.

The commercial success of our MPT vaginal gel, our lead producdd t candidate, Amphm ora, and any of our future product candidates will
depend in significantff measure upon our ability to obtain approval from the FDA or other regulatory authorities of labeling descric bing a
product candidate�s expected features or benefits. Failure to achieve appa roval from the FDA or other regulatory authorities of productd
labeling containing adequate inforff mation on feaff tures or benefits will prevent or substantially limit our advertising and promotion of such
features in order to differentiate Amphora or any future product candidate from those products that already exist in the market. This failure
would have a material adverse impam ct on our business, financial condition, results of operation and prospects.

The proportion of the contraceptive market that is made up of generic products continues to increase, making introduction of a
branded contraceptive difficult and expensive.

The proportion of the U.S. market that is made up of generic productdd s has been increasing over time. In 2005, generic contraceptive
products held 47% of prescription volume and 34% of sales and, by 2011, those values had risen to 68% and 44%, respectively. For the year
ended December 31, 2016, approximately 83% of the prescription volume and approximately 43% of sales of combinm ed hormonal
contraceptives in the United States were generated by generic products. If this trend continues, it may be more difficulff t to introduce Amphm ora,
if approved, or any futurff e appra oved contraceptive product candidate we may develop, as a branded contraceptive, at a price that will
maximize our revenue and profits. Also, there may be additional marketing costs to introduce Amphoram in order to overcome the trend
towards generics and to gain access to reimbursement by payers. If we are unable to introduce Amphoram or any future approved contoo raceptive
product candidate at a price that is commensurate with that of current branded contraceptive products, or we are unable to gain
reimbursement from payers forff Amphmm ora, or if patients are unwilling to pay any price differential between Amphm ora and a generic
contraceptive, our revenues will be limited.

Changes in healthcare laws and regulations may eliminate current requirements that health insurance plans cover and reimburse
FDA-cleared or approved contraceptive products without cost sharing, which could reduce demand for products such as Amphora.
Even if Amphora is approved for commercialization, our management expects that our success will be dependent on the willingness
or ability of patients to pay out-of-pocket should they not be able to obtain third-party reimbursement or should such reimbursement
be limited.

We cannot be certain that third-party reimbursement will be available for Amphora,m and if reimbursement is available, the amount of
any such reimbursement. The ACA and subsequent regulations enacted by the DHHS require health plans to provide coverage forff women�s
preventive care, including all forms of FDA-cleared or appra oved contraception, without impomm sing any cost sharing on the plan beneficiary.
These regulations ensure that women who wish to use an approved forff m of contraception may request it froff m their doctors and their health
insurance plan must cover all costs associated with such products. However, after the 2016 election, the U.S. Federal Government is
attemptim ng to repeal the ACA and corresponding regulations, which would likely eliminate the requirement for health plans to cover women�s
preventive care without cost sharing. Even if the ACA is not repealed, the DHHS regulations to specifically enforce the preventivtt e health
coverage mandate could be repealed under the Congressional Review Act. Any repeal or elimination of the preventive care coverage rules
would mean that women seeking to use prescribed forms of contraceptives may have to pay some portion of the cost for such producd ts out-
of-pff ocket, which could deter some women froff m using prescription contraceptive products, such as Amphm ora, at all. As a result, we expect
that our success will be dependent on the willingness of patients to pay out-of-pocket forff Amphm ora in the event that either they do not have
insurance or their insurance requires payment of a portion of Amphmm ora by the patient, thus increasing the patient�s overall cost to use
Amphora.m This could reducedd market demand forff Amphoramm or any future producdd t candidates we may seek to develop, if and when they receive
FDA approval, which would have a material adverse effectff on our business, financial conditions, and prospects.

In the event that we are successful in obtaining regulatory approval to market our MPT vaginal gel product candidates or a futff ure
product in the United States, revenues may be adversely affected if the product fails to obtain insurance coverage or adequate
reimbursement froff m third-party payers and administrators in the United States.

Third-party payers and administrators, including state Medicaid programs and Medicare, have recently been challenging the prices
charged forff pharmaceutical and medical device products. The United States government and other third-party payers are increasingly limiting
both coverage and the level of reimbursement for new drugs and medical devices. Third-party insurance coverage may not be available to
patients for Amphora or any future product we may seek to commercialize. If such government and other third-party payers do not provide
adequate coverage and reimbursement for Amphora or such products, healthcare providers may not prescribe them or patients may ask their
healthcare providers to prescribe competing products with more favorable reimbum rsement.

Managed care organizations and other private insurers frequently adopt their own payment or reimbursement reductions. Consolidation
among managed care organizations has increased the negotiating power of these entities. Private third-party payers, as well as governments,
increasingly employm formulariemm s to control costs by negotiating discounted prices in exchange for formff ulamm ry inclusion. Failure to obtain
timely or adequate pricing or formulary placement for our MPT vaginal gel, Amphoram or any future product we may seek to commercialize,
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or obtaining such pricing or placement at unfavorable pricing levels, could materially adversely affect our business, financial conditions,
results of operation and prospects.

The pharmaceutical and medical device industries are highly regulated and subject to various fraud and abuse laws, including,
without limitation, the U.S. federal Anti-Kickback Statute, the U.S. federal False Claims Act and the U.S. FCPA.

Healthcare fraud and abuse regulations are complex, and even minor irregularities can potentially give rise to claims that a statute or
prohibition has been violated. The laws that may affectff our ability to operate include, among other things:

the federal healthcare programs� anti-kickback law, which prohibits, among other things, persons from knowingly and willfully
soliciting, receiving, offering or paying remunmm eration, directly or indirectly, in exchange for or to induce either the referral oaa f
an individuald for, or the purchase, order or recommendation of, any good or service for which payment may be made under
federal healthcare programs such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs;

false claims laws which prohibit, among other things, individuals or entities from knowingly presenting, or causing to be
presented, claims forff payment from Medicare, Medicaid, or other third-party payers that are false or fraudulent;

the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, which created fedff eral criminal laws that prohibit executing a
scheme to defraud any healthcare benefitff program or making false statements relating to healthcare matters; and

the U.S. FCPA, which prohibits corrupt payments, giftsff or transfers of value to non-U.S. officials.

The scope and enforcff ement of these laws is uncertain and subju ect to rapida change in the current environment of healthcare reform,rr
especially in light of the lack of applicable precedent and regulations. Regulatory authorities might challenge our current or future activities
under these laws. Any such challenge could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, results of operations and finaff ncial
condition. In addition, efforts to ensure that our business arrangements with third parties will comply with these laws will invonn lve substantial
costs. Any investigation of us or the third parties with whom we contract, regardless of the outcome, would be costly and time consuming.

Our business may be adversely affected by unfavorable macroeconomic conditions.

Various macroeconomic factors could adversely affectff our business, our results of operations and financial condition, including
changes in inflation, interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates and overall economic conditions and uncertainties, including those
resulting froff m political instability (including workforcff e uncertainty) and the current and futuret conditions in the global finaff ncialaa markets. For
example,m if inflatff ion or other factors were to significaff ntly increase our business costs, we may be unable to pass through price increases to
patients. The cost of importing similar products from foreign markets may affect our sales in any domestic market.

Interest rates and the ability to access credit markets could also adversely affect the ability of patients, payers and distributorsb to
purchase, pay for and effectivff ely distribute our productdd if and when approa ved. Similarly, these macroeconomic factors could affecff t the ability
of our current or potential future third-party manufacturers, sole source or single source suppliers, licensors or licensees to remain in business,
or otherwise manufacture or supply our product candidate. Failure by any of them to remain in business could affect our ability to
manufacture Amphm ora or any of our future product candidates.

Risks Related to Our Business Operations

As we mature and expand our sales and marketing infrastructure, we will need to expand the size of our organization. If we
experience difficulties in managing this growth or fail to attract and retain management and other key personnel, we may be unable
to successfully commercialize our products, develop any product candidates or otherwise implement our business plan.

As of February 9, 2018, we had a total of 23 full-time employm ees and use third-party consultants to assist with research and
development activities, including regulatory filings and clinical trial operations and support, sales and marketing research and programs, as
well as general and administrative activities. As our development ann nd commercialization plans and strategies develop, we expect that we will
expand the size of our emplmm oyee base forff managerial, operational, sales, marketing, financial, regulatory affaiff rs and other resources. Future
growth would impom se significant added responsibilities on membem rs of management, including the need to identify, recruit, maintain,
motivate and integrate additional emplmm oyees. In addition, management may have to divert a disproportionate amount of its attentiontt away
from day-to-day activities and devote a substantial amount of time to managing these growth activities, which would lead to disruptionss s in
our operations. We cannot provide assurance that we will be able to retain adequate staffing levels to run our operations and/or too o accomplish
all of the objeb ctives that we otherwise would seek to accomplish.

Our ability to compemm te in the highly competitmm ive pharmaceutical and medical device industd ries depends upon our ability to attract and
retain highly qualifiedff managerial and key personnel. We are highly dependent on our senior management, including our President and Chief
Executive Officer, Saundra Pelletier, our Chief Financial Officer, Justin J. File, Kelly Culwell, M.D., our Chief Medical Officer and Russell
Barrans, our Chief Commercial Officer. The loss of the services of any of these individuals could impemm de, delay or prevent the development
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and commercialization of our product candidates, hurt our ability ttt o raise additional funds and negatively impamm ct our ability to itt mplement our
business plan. If we lose the services of any of these individuals, it might not be able to find suitable replacements on a timelmm y basis or at all,
and our business could be harmed as a result. We do not maintain �key man� insurance policies on the lives of these individuadd ls.

We might not be able to attract or retain qualifiedff management and other key personnel in the futureff due to the intense competition for
qualifiedff personnel among biotechnology, medical device, pharmaceutical and other businesses, particularly in the San Diego area where we
are headquartered. As a result, we may be required to expend significantff financial resources in our employmm ee recruitment and retention efforts,
including the grant of significant equity incentive awards which would be dilutive to stockholders. Many of the other compam nies within the
contraceptive industrdd y wrr ith whom we compem te for qualifiedff personnel have greater financial and other resources, different risk profiles and
longer histories in the industry than we do. They also may provide more diverse opportunities and better chances for career advanvv cement. If
we are not abla e to attract and retain the necessary personnel to accomplish our business objectives or if we are not able to effeff ctively manage
any future growth, we may experience constraints that will harm our ability to implmm ement our business strategy and achieve our business
objectives.

Our current or future employees, principal investigators, consultants and commercial partners may engage in misconduct or other
improper activities, including non-compliance with regulatory standards.

We may become exposed to the risk of emplomm yees, independent contratt ctors, principal investigators, consultants, suppliers, commercial
partners or vendors engaging in fraud or other misconduct. Misconductdd by employm ees, independent contractors, principal investigators,
consultants, suppliers, commercial partners and vendors could include intentional failuff res such as failures: (i) to complmm y with FDA or other
regulators� regulations, (ii) to provide accurate information to such regulators or (iii) to comply with manufacff turing standards established by
us and/or required by law. In particular, sales, marketing and business arrangements in the healthcare industry arr re subject to extensive laws,
regulations and industry guidance intended to prevent fraff ud, misconduct, kickbacks, self-dealing and other abusive practices. These laws and
regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, sales commission, customer incentive
programs and other business arrangements. Misconduct by current or future employees, independent contractors, principal investigators,
consultants, suppliers, commercial partners and vendors could also involve the improm per use of information obtained in the course of clinical
studies, which could result in regulatory or civil sanctions and serious harm to our reputation. It is not always possible to identify aff nd deter
misconducd t by employees, independent contractors, principal investigators, consultants, suppliers, commercial partners and vendors,dd and the
precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effecff tive in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses, or in
protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a faiff lure to be in complim ance with such laws or
regulations. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending or asserting our rights, those actions could
have a significaff nt adverse impam ct on our business, including the imposition of significant fines or other sanctions, and our reputation.e

We may be vulnerable to disruption, damage and financial obligations as a result of informaff tion technology system failures.

Despite the implm ementation of security measures, any of the internal computerm systems belonging to us or our third-party service
providers are vulnerablea to damage from computer viruses, unauthorizedtt access, natural disasters, terrorism, war, and telecommunication and
electrical failure. Any system failff ure, accident, security breach or data breach that causes interruptions in our own or in third-party service
vendors� operations could result in a material disruptu ion of our productd development programs. For example, the loss of clinical study data
from futuff re clinical studies could result in delays in our or our partners� regulatory approval effortsff and significantly increase our costs in
order to recover or reproduce the lost data. Further, our information technology and other internal infrastructure systems, including firewalls,
servers, leased lines and connection to the Internet, face the risk of systemic failure, which could disruptu our operations. To the extent that
any disruption or security breach results in a loss or damage to our data or applications, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or
proprietary information, we may incur resulting liability, our product development programs and competitive position may be adversely
affectff ed and the further development of our products may be delayeaa d. Furthermore, we may incur additional costs to remedy the damage
caused by these disruptions or security breaches.

We expect to continue to incur increased costs as a result of operating as a public company and our management will be required to
devote substantial time to compliance initiatives and corporate governance practices.

As a public company, we incur and expect to continue to incur additional significanff t legal, accounting and other expenses in relation to
our statust as a public reporting companm y. We expect that these expenses will further increase after we are no longer an �emergingii growth
company.�We may need to hire additional accounting, finance and other personnel in connection with our continuing efforff ts to comply with
the requirements of being a public company, and our management and other personnel will need to continue to devote a substantial amount of
time towards maintaining compliance with these requirements. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and rules subsequently
implmm emented by the SEC and Nasdaq have imposed various requirements on public companies, including establishment and maintenance of
effective disclosure and financial controls and corporate governance practices. Our management and other personnel will need to devote a
substantial amount of time to these compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules and regulations will increase our legal and financialff
compliance costs and will make some activities more time-consuming and costly.
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Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbaner s-Oxley Act of 2002, or Section 404, we will be required to furnisr h a report by our management
on our internal controls over financial reporting, including an attestation report on internal control over financial reporting issued by our
independent registered public accounting firm. However, while we remain an �emerging growth company,� we will not be required tott
include an attestation report on internal control over financial reporting issued by our independent registered public accounting firm. To
achieve complim ance with Section 404 within the prescribed period, we will be engaged in a process to document and evaluate our internal
control over financial reporting, which is both costly and challenging. In this regard, we will need to continue to dedicate intenn rnal resources,
potentially engage outside consultants and adopt a detailed work plan to assess and document the adequacy of internal control over financial
reporting, continue steps to improvm e control processes as appra opriate, validate through testing that controls are functioning as documented
and implement a continuous reporting and imprmm ovement process for internal control over financial reporting. If we identify one or more
material weaknek sses, this could result in an adverse reaction in the finff ancial markets due to a loss of confidence in the reliability of our
financial statements.

Risks Related to our Common Stock

We expect the price of our common stock may be volatile and may fluctuate substantially.

The stock market in general and the market for biopharmaceutical companies in particular, have experienced extreme volatility that has
often been unrelated to the operating perforff mance of particular companmm ies. The market price for our common stock may be influencednn by
many factors, including:

the results of our efforts to discover, develop, acquire or in-license product candidates or products, if any;

failure or discontinuation of any of our research programs;

actual or anticipated results from, and any delays in, any futureff clinical trials, as well as results of regulatory reviews relating to
the approval of any product candidates we may choose to develop;

the level of expenses related to any producd t candidates that we may choose to develop or clinical development programs we
may choose to pursue;

commencement or termination of any collaboration or licensing arrangement;

disputes or other developments relating to proprietary rrr ights, including patents, litigation matters and our ability to obtain
patent protection for our technologies;

announcements by us or our competitors of significaff nt acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures and capita al
commitments;

additions or departures of key scientificff or management personnel;

variations in our finaff ncial results or those of companies that are perceived to be similar to us;

new products, productd candidates or new uses forff existing products introducd ed or announced by our competitors, and the
timing of these introductid ons or announcements;

results of clinical trials of productdd candidates of our competitors;

general economic and market conditions and other factors that may be unrelated to our operating performance or the operating
performance of our competitors, including changes in market valuations of similar companies;

regulatory or legal developments in the United States and other countries;

changes in the structure of healthcare payment systems;

conditions or trends in the biotechnology and biopharmaceutical industries;

actual or anticipated changes in earnings estimates, development timelines or recommendations by securities analysts;

announcement or expectation of additional finff ancing effoff rts;

sales of common stock by us or our stockholders in the future, as well as the overall trading volume of our common stock; and

the other factors described in this �Ri� skii Factorsrr � section.

In the past, followiff ng periods of volatility in compam nies� stock prices, securities class-action litigation has often been institutt ted against
such companies. Such litigation, if instituted against us, could result in substantial costs and diversion of management�s attention and
resources, which could materially and adversely affect our business and financial condition.
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If we were to be delisted from Nasdaq, it could reduce the visibility, liquidity and price of our common stock.

There are various quantitative listing requirements for a compamm ny to remain listed on The Nasdaq Capital Market, including
maintaining a minimum bid price of $1.00 per share and Nasdaq equity standards. There is no guarantee that we will be able to continue
complying with the minimum bid price rule, the minimum equity standard or other Nasdaq requirements.

Delisting froff m The Nasdaq Capital Market could reduce the visibility, liquidity and price of our common stock.

Two of our stockholders own a significant percentage of our issued and outstanding common stock and will be able to exercise
significant influence over matters submitted to stockholders for approval.

Funds affiliateff d with or discretionarily managed by Invesco Asset Management and funds affiliateff d with or discretionarily managed by
Woodford Investment Management hold approximately 39.6% and 42.0%, respectively, of our outstanding common stock. We have entered
into voting agreements with certain funds affiliated with Woodford Investment Management providing that the shares held by such holders in
excess of 19.5% of our issued and outstanding common stock shall be voted in the same proportion as the shares voted by all otherhh
stockholders. Notwithstanding the voting agreements, if the funds affiliated with Woodford Investment Management and Invesco Asset
Management were to choose to act together, they would be able to exert a significant degree of influence over matters submitted to our
stockholders for appra oval, as well as our management and affairs. This concentration of voting power could delay or prevent an acquisition
on terms that other stockholders may desire. For example, these entities, if they choose to act together, would be able to have significant
influence on the election of directors, appra oval of any increase in the number of shares reserved under equity incentive plans, appra oval of new
equity incentive plans, and appa roval of any merger, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets.

In addition and per the terms of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, we are not subject to or governed by Section 203
of the DGCL, which prohibits a publicly-held Delaware corporation from engaging in a �business combination� with an �interested
stockholder,� and the combined entity will be abla e to enter into transactions with our principal stockholders. A concentration of ownership
may have the effectff of delaying, preventing or deterring a change of control of the Company, could deprive our stockholders of an
opportunity to receive a premium for their common stock as part of a sale of the Companm y and may materially adversely affectff the market
price of our common stock.

A significant portion of our total outstanding shares of common stock may be sold into the public market at any point, which could
cause the market price of our common stock to drop significantly, even if our business is doing well.

Sales of a substantial numberm of shares of our common stock in the publu ic market could occur at any time. These sales, or the
perception in the market that holders of a large number of shares intend to sell shares, could reduce the market price of our common stock.
Outstanding shares of our common stock may be freff ely sold in the public market at any time to the extent permitted by RuleRR s 144 and 701
under the Securities Act or to the extent such shares have already been registered under the Securities Act and are held by non-ann ffiliates.

As of February 9, 2018, there were 399,962 shares of our common stock subjeb ct to outstanding options, 240,637 shares of which have
been registered on registration statements on Form S-8. Shares registered on a Form S-8 can be freelyff sold in the public market uponu exercise,
except to the extent they will be held by our affiliates,ff in which case such shares will become eligible forff sale in the publicu market as
permitted by Rule 144 under the Securities Act. Furthermore, as of February 9, 2018, there were 2,011,875 shares subject to outstanding
warrants to purchase common stock. These shares will become eligible for sale in the public market, to the extent such warrants are exercised,
as permitted by Rule 144 under the Securities Act. Moreover, holders of approximately 15,026,968 shares of our common stock have rights,
subject to conditions, to require us to file registration statements covering their shares or to include their shares in registration statements that
we may filff e.

We are an �emerging growth company,� and the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies may
make our common stock less attractive to investors.

We are an �emerging growth compam ny,� as definff ed in the JOBS Act and may remain an emerging growth company through 2019. For
so long as we remain an emerging growth company, we will be permitted to and intend to rely on exemptionmm s froff m certain disclosureuu
requirements that are applicabla e to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies. These exemptionm s include:

not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements in the assessment of our internal control over financial
reporting;

not being required to comply with any requirement that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
regarding mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor�s report providing additional information about the
audit and the financial statements;
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reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation; and

exemptions fromff the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compem nsation and stockholder approval
of any golden parachute payments not previously approved.

We may choose to take advantage of some, but not all, of the available exemptions. We cannot predict whether investors will find onn ur
common stock less attractive if we rely on these exemptions. If some investors findff our common stock less attractive as a result,ll there may be
a less active trading market for our common stock and the price of our common stock price may be more volatile.

We do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our capital stock in the foreseeable future; capital appreciation, if any, will be
your sole source of gain as a holder of our common stock.

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on shares of our capital stock. We currently plan to retain all of our future earnings, if
any, and any cash received as a result of future finaff ncings to finance the growth and development of our business. Accordingly, capital
appreciation, if any, of our common stock will be the sole source of gain for our common stockholders for the foresff eeable future.

Provisions in our amended and restated certificff ate of incorporation, our bylaws or Delaware law might discourage, delay or prevent
a change in control of the Company or changes in our management and, therefore, depress the trading price of our common stock.

Provisions in our amended and restated certificff ate of incorporr ration, our bylaws or Delaware law may discourage, delay or prevent ann
merger, acquisition or other change in control that stockholders may consider favorff able, including transactions in which our stockholdertt s
might otherwise receive a premium forff their shares. These provisions could also limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the
future forff shares of our common stock, thereby depressing the market price of our common stock. In addition, because our board of directors
is responsible forff appointing the members of our management team, these provisions might frustrate or prevent any attempts by our
stockholders to replace or remove the current management by making it more difficultff for our stockholders to replace members of our board
of directors. These provisions include the following:

a classified board of directors with three-year staggered terms, which may delay the ability of stockholders to change the
membership of a majority of our board of directors;

prohibiting our stockhok lders from calling a special meeting of stockholders or acting by written consent other than unanimous
written consent;

permitting our board of directors to issue additional shares of our preferredff stock, with such rights, preferences and privileges
as they may designate, including the right to approve an acquisition or other changes in control;

establia shing an advance notice procedure for stockholder proposals to be brought before an annual meeting, including proposed
nominations of persons for election to our board of directors;

providing that our directors may be removed only for cause;

providing that vacancies on our board of directors may be filleff d only by a majority of directors then in office, even though less
than a quorumrr ; and

requiring the appa roval of our board of directors or the holders of a supermajority of our outstanding shares of capital stock to
amend our bylaws and certain provisions of our certificff ate of incorporrr ation.

Claims forff indemnification by our directors and officeff rs may reduce our available funds to satisfy sff uccessfulff third-party claims
against us and may reduce the amount of money available to us.

Our amended and restated certificatff e of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provides that we will indemnify our directorscc
and officers, in each case to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law.

In addition, as permitted by Section 145 of the DGCL, our amended and restated bylaws and our indemnificaff tion agreements that we
have entered into with our directors and officersff provide that:

We will indemnify our directors and officers for serving us in those capacities or for serving other business enterprises at ouruu
request, to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. Delawaraa e law provides that a corporation may indemnify such person
if such person acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests
of the registrant and, with respect to any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe such person�s conducd t was
unlawful.

We may, in our discretion, indemnify eff mployees and agents in those circumstances where indemnification is permitted by
applicabla e law.
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We are required to advance expenses, as incurred, to our directors and officers in connection with defending a proceeding,
except that such directors or officers shall undertake to repay such advances if it is ultimately determined that such person is
not entitled to indemnification.

We will not be obligated pursuant to our amended and restated bylaws to indemnify a person with respect to proceedings
initiated by that person against us or our other indemnitees, except with respect to proceedings authorized by our board of
directors or brought to enforce a right to indemnificff ation.

The rights conferred in our amended and restated bylaws are not exclusive, and we are authorized to enter into indemnification
agreements with our directors, officersff , employees and agents and to obtain insurance to indemnify such persons.

We may not retroat ctively amend our bylaw provisions to reducdd e our indemnifm icff ation obligations to directors, officersff ,
employm ees and agents.

If securities analysts do not publish research or reports about our business or if they publish negative evaluations of our common
stock, the price of our common stock could decline.

The trading market for our common stock relies in part on the research and reports that industd ry or financial analysts publish about us
or our business. We do not have any control over these analysts. If one or more of the analysts covering our business downgrade their
evaluations of our common stock, the price of our common stock could decline. In addition, if one or more of these analysts cease coverage
or fail to regularly publish reports on our business, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could causeaa our common
stock price or trading volume to decline.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 2. Properties.

Our corporarr te headquarters are located in San Diego, California, where we lease approximately 16,000 square feet of officeff space. We
have two five-year renewal options, but the sub-lessor is not expected to renew its lease. We believe that our existing facilities are adequate
for our current needs.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

From time to time we may be involved in various disputes and litigation matters that arise in the ordinary course of business. We are
currently not a party to any material legal proceedings.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicabla e.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant�s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Market Information.

Our common stock began trading on The Nasdaq Global Market on November 20, 2014, under the trading symbolm �NEOT�.
Prior to November 20, 2014, there was no public market forff our common stock. On January 17, 2018, Neothetics and Private Evofem
completed the Merger. In connection with the Merger, we changed the name of the Compamm ny to Evofem Biosciences, Inc. and
changed the trading symbol for our common stock to �EVFM�. Shares of our common stock began trading on The Nasdaq Capital
Market under the ticker EVFM on January 18, 2018. The table below provides the high and low sales prices of our common stock for
the periods indicated, as reported by The Nasdaq Global Market and The Nasdaq Capital Market (as adjud sted for the Reverse Split
effected on January 17, 2018).

High Low
Year ended December 31, 2017
Fourth Quarter $ 12.84 $ 2.52
Third Quarter $ 3.83 $ 1.80
Second Quarter $ 15.78 $ 3.02
First Quarter $ 11.88 $ 6.18

Year ended December 31, 2016
Fourth Quarter $ 8.64 $ 4.80
Third Quarter $ 9.00 $ 4.32
Second Quarter $ 9.36 $ 3.37
First Quarter $ 9.72 $ 3.19

The last sale price forff our common stock as reported by The Nasdaq Capital Market on February 9rr , 2018, was $7.20 per share.

Holders of Common Stock

As of February 9, 2018, there were 17,763,340 shares of our common stock outstanding and 31 holders of record of our common stock.
This number was derived from our stockholder records and does not include beneficial owners of our common stock whose shares are held in
the name of various dealers, clearing agencies, banks, brokers and other fiduciarid es.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

During the year ended December 31, 2017, we did not issue any securities that were not registered under the Securities Act.
Information describing the Financing is incorporated herein by reference to the section entitled �Merger of Neothetics, Inc. and Evofemff
Biosciences Operations, Inc.� in Part I, Item 1 of this Annual Report.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividend on our common stock. We currently anticipate that we will retain future earnings,n if
any, for the development, operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends forff the
foreseeable future. Any future determination related to our dividend policy will be made at the discretion of our board of directors.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Inforff mation about our equity compensation plans is incorporated herein by reference to Part III, Item 12 of this Annual Report.

Issuer Repurchases of Equity Securities

None.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The folff lowing tabla e shows selected financial data as of, and for the periods ended on, the dates indicated. Our historical results are not
necessarily indicative of the results to be expected in the futureuu and results of interim periods are not necessarily indicative ovv f the results for
the entire year. You should read the following selected financial data in conjunction with our financial statements, the notes to the financial
statements and �Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations� included elsewhere in this report.
The selected financff ial data included in this section are not intended to replace the financial statements and the related notes included
elsewhere in this report.

The financial information included in this Selected Financial Dataaa is that of Neothetics prior to the Merger because the Merger was
consummated after the period covered by the financial statements in this Annual Report. Accordingly, the historical inforff mation included in
this Annual Report, unless otherwise indicated or as the context othert wisr e requires, is that of Neothetics prior to the Merger.

Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Statement of Operations Data:
Operating expenses:
Research and development $ 3,946 $ 6,579 $ 34,410
General and administrative 6,099 5,463 7,639
Total operating expenses 10,045 12,042 42,049
from operations (10,045) (12,042) (42,049)
terest income 52 59 26

Interest expense �� (1,036) (1,134)
Net loss $ (9,993) $ (13,019) $ (43,157)
et loss per share, basic and diluted(1) $ (4.33) $ (5.66) $ (18.91)
Weighted average shares used to compute basic and
diluted net loss per share(1) 2,305,817 2,300,167 2,282,672

(1) Please see Note 2 of our financial statements included elsewhere in this document forff an explanation of the calculations of our actual
basic and diluted net loss per share.

As of December 31,
2017 2016 2015

(in thousands)
Balance sheet data:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,417 $ 11,478 $ 37,749
Working capital $ 2,613 $ 11,605 $ 30,626
Total assets $ 4,119 $ 12,817 $ 40,112
Long-term debt, less current portion $ �� $ �� $ 7,205
Accumulated deficff it $ (135,844) $ (125,850) $ (112,832)
Total stockholders� equity $ 2,707 $ 11,915 $ 23,807
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Item 7. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

You should read thett following discussion and analysis of oo ur financial condition and results of operations together with our financialii
statements and related notes appearinpp g elsewhere in this rii eport. SomeSS of the information contained in this discussion and analysiyy s or set
forth elsewhere in this rii eport, including inforff mation with respect to our plans and strategy for our business and related financing, includes
forward-loodd king statements that involve risks and uncertainties. As a result of many factors, including those factors set forth in the �Risk�
Factors� section of this document, ot ur actual results ctt ould diffeff r materially from the results described in, or implm ied by, the forward-looking
statements contained in the following discussion and analysis.

Recent Developments

On January 1rr 7, 2018, Neothetics and Private Evofem completm ed the Merger in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement,
whereby the Merger Sub mu erged with and into Private Evofem,ff with Private Evofem surviving as a wholly owned subsidiary orr f Neothetics.
Immediately following the Merger, Neothetics changed its name to �Evofem Biosciences, Inc.� In connection with the closing of the Merger
and on January 18, 2018, our common stock began trading on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the ticker symbol �EVFM�.

Effectivff e January 1rr 7, 2018, we completed a six-for-one reverse stock split, which we refer to as the Reverse Split, of shares of our
common stock. Share and per share amounts this Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operationsaa
reflect the Reverse Split.

The financial information included in this Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is
that of Neothetics prior to the Merger because the Merger was consummated afterff the period covered by the finff ancial statements included in
this Annual Report. Accordingly, the historical financial information included in this Annual Report, unless otherwise indicated or as the
context otherwise requires, is that of Neothetics prior to the Merger.

Neothetics Overview

As a result of the Merger, our historic business operations ceased and our going forwarr rd operations will be those of Private Evofem.
Accordingly, the results of operations reported for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, in this Management�s Discussion and
Analysis are not indicative of the results of operations expected in 2018 and future years dued to the termination of our historicrr business
operations.

Prior to the Merger, we were a clinical-stage specialty pharmaceutical company that developed therapeutia cs for the aesthetic market.
Our initial focusff was on localized fat reduction and body contouring.

We have never been profitableff and, as of December 31, 2017, we had an accumulated deficit of $135.8 million. We incurred net losses
of $10.0 million and $13.0 million forff the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Basis of Presentation

Revenue

Prior to the Merger, we did not generate revenue, and we have not generated revenue following the Merger.

Research and Development ExpensEE es

Prior to the Merger, our research and development expenses consisted primarily of:ff

fees paid to clinical consultants, clinical trial sites and vendors, including CROs in conjun nction with implemm menting and monitoring
our pre-clinical and clinical trials and acquiring and evaluating pre-clinical and clinical trial data, including all related fees, such
as for investigator grants, patient screening feeff s, labora atory wrr ork and statistical compilation and analysis;

expenses related to pre-clinical studies, clinical trials and related clinical manufacturing, materials and supplies;

expenses related to compliance with drug development regulatory requirements in the United States and other foreign
jurisdictions; and

personnel costs, including cash compensation, benefits and share-based compensation expense.

Prior to the Merger, we expensed both internal and external research and development costs in the periods in which they were incurred.nn
Substau ntially all our research and development expenses were related to the development of LIPO-202. For the years ended December 31,
2017, 2016 and 2015, we incurred costs of $3.9 million, $6.6 million and $34.4 million respectively, on research and development expenses.
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Prior to the Merger, we did not allocate compensation expense to individual product candidates, as we were organized and recordeddd
expense by funff ctional department and our emplom yees were able to allocate time to more than one development project. We did not utilize a
formal time allocation system to capture expenses on a project-by-project basis.

General and Administii ratt tive ExpensesEE

Prior to the Merger, our general and administrative expenses primarily consisted of personnel costs, including cash compensation,
benefitsff and share-based compensation expense, associated with our executive, accounting and finance departments. Other general and
administrative expenses included costs in connection with patent filinff gs, director and officerff insurance premiums to support our ouu perations as
a public company, facilities expenses, inforff mation technology costs and professional fees forff legal, consulting, marketing, audit and tax
services.

Interest Income

Prior to the Merger, our interest income consisted primarily of interest received or earned on our cash and cash equivalents. Prior to the
Merger, our interest income was not significff ant in any individual period.

Interest Expense

Prior to the Merger, our interest expense consisted of cash and non-cash interest costs related to our borrowings.

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates

Our management�s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our finaff ncial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP. The preparation of our financial
statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of our financial statements as well as the reportedrr revenues and expenses during the reported
periods. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments, including those related to accrued expenses and share-based
compensation. We base our estimates on historical experience andaa on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments abouta the carryirr ng value of assets and liabilities that are not apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ materially from these estimates. To the extent that there are material differences between these
estimates and actual results, our future finaff ncial statement presentation, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows will be
affected.

While our significant accounting policies are described in the notes to our financial statements appearing elsewhere in this document,
we believe that the following critical accounting policies are most imporm tant to understanding and evaluating our reported financaa ial results.

As a result of the Merger, our historic business operations ceased and our going forward operations will be those of Private Evofem.
Accordingly, the results of operations reported forff the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, in this Management�s Discussion and
Analysis are not indicative of the results of operations expected in 2018 and future years dued to the termination of our historicrr business
operations.

Accrued Research and Developmento Expenses

As part of the process of preparing our financial statements, we are required to estimate our accruerr d research and development
expenses. This process involves reviewing contracts and purchase orders, reviewing the terms of our vendor agreements, communicating with
our applicable personnel to identify services that have been perforff med on our behalf, and estimating the level of service performed and the
associated cost incurred for the service when we have not yet been invoiced or otherwise notified of actual cost. The majority of our service
providers invoice us monthly in arrears for services perforff med. We make estimates of our accrurr ed expenses as of each balance sheeth date in
our financial statements based on facts and circumstances known to us at that time.

Examples of estimated accrued research and development expenses include:

fees paid to CROs in connection with clinical trials;

fees paid to investigative sites in connection with clinical trials;

fees paid to vendors in connection with pre-clinical development activities; and

fees paid to vendors related to product manufacff turing, development and distribution of clinical supplies.
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We base our expenses related to clinical trials on our estimateaa s of the services received and effortsff expended pursuant to contracts with
multiple research institutions and CROs that conduct and manage clinical trials on our behalf. The financial terms of these agreements are
subju ect to negotiation, vary froff m contract to contract, and may result in uneven payment flows and expense recognition. Payments under
some of these contracts depend on factors such as the successfulff enrollment of patients and the completion of clinical trial milestones. In
accruing service fees, we estimate the time period over which services will be performed and the level of effort to be expended in each
period. If the actual timing of the perforff mance of services or the level of effort varies from our estimate, we adjust the accruarr l accordingly.
Our understanding of the statust and timing of services performed relative to the actual statust and timing of services perforff med may vary and
may result in our reporting changes in estimates in any particular period. Through December 31, 2017, there have been no material
adjustments to our prior period estimates of accrued expenses for clinical trials. Nonrefundable advance payments for goods and services,
including fees forff process development or manufacturing and distribution of clinical supplies that will be used in futurett research and
development activities, are deferred and recognized as expense in the period that the related goods are consumed or services are prr erformed.

Share-Based Compensation

Prior to the Merger, we accounted for all share-based compem nsation payments using an option pricing model for estimating faiff r value.
Accordingly, share-based compensation expense for employees and directors was measured based on the estimated fairff value of the awards
on the date of grant, net of estimated forfeiturff es. Compensation expense was recognized for the portion that is ultimately expected to vest
over the period during which the recipient renders the required services to us using the straight-line single option method. In accordance with
authoritative guidance, the faiff r value of non-employm ee share-based awards was remeasured as the awards vest, and the resulting change in
value, if any, is recognized as expense during the period the related services are rendered.

Prior to the Merger, we estimated the fair value of our share-based awards using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Black-
Scholes model requires the use of subjective and complex assumptions, including (a) the expected stock price volatility, (b) the calculation of
the expected term of the award, (c) the risk-freff e interest rate and (d) the expected dividend yield, which determine the fair value of share-
based awards.

We will continue to use judgment in evaluating the fair value of the underlying common stock and expected term and expected
volatility, related to our share-based compensation on a prospective basis. As we continue to accumulate additional data related to our
common stock, we may make refinements to the estimates of our expected term and expected volatility, which could materially impamm ct our
futuret share-based compem nsation expense.

Results of Operations

Compam rison of the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

Year Ended December 31, Change
2017 2016 $

thousands)
Operating expenses:
Research and development $ 3,946 $ 6,579 $ (2,633)
General and administrative 6,099 5,463 636

Total operating expenses 10,045 12,042 (1,997)
ss from operations (10,045) (12,042) 1,997

Interest income 52 59 (7)
Interest expense �� (1,036) 1,036
Net loss $ (9,993) $ (13,019) $ 3,026

Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expenses decreased by $2.6 million to $3.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2017 from $6.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. Approximately $2.3 million of the decrease was due to
the completion of close out activities for our AbCONTOUR1 and AbCONTOUR2 U.S. Phase 3 clinical trials and related supplemental
clinical trials, $1.4 million decrease from the reduction of other research and development activities, and $0.5 million decrease due to
additional reducdd tion in workforce. The decreases were offset by $1.5 million of expenses incurred in 2017 related to the Phase 2 proof-of-
concept clinical trial forff the reductidd on of localized fat deposits under the chin.

General and Administrative Expensex s. General and administrative expenses increased by $0.6 million to $6.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2017, from $5.5 million for the year ended Decembem r 31, 2016. An increase of $1.9 million was due to legal,
accounting, and banker fees associated with the Merger with Private Evofem. The increase was offset by a decrease of $0.9 million due to the
reduction in workforce and a reduction of $0.2 million in patent expense.
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Interest Income. Interest income decreased by $7,000 to $52,000 forff the year ended December 31, 2017 from $59,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2016. The decrease was dued to lower cash balance in 2017, compared to prior year.

Interest Expense.x Interest expense decreased by $1.0 million to $0 for the year ended December 31, 2017 from $1.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2016. The decrease in interest expense was dued to the prepayment in full of the loan from Hercules Technology Growth
Capia tal Inc., or Hercules, debt facility in Septembem r 2016.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

Year Ended December 31, Change
2016 2015 $

thousands)
Operating expenses:
Research and development $ 6,579 $ 34,410 $ (27,831)
General and administrative 5,463 7,639 (2,176)

Total operating expenses 12,042 42,049 (30,007)
from operations (12,042) (42,049) 30,007

Interest income 59 26 33
Interest expense (1,036) (1,134) 98
Net loss $ (13,019) $ (43,157) $ 30,138

Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expenses decreased by $27.8 million to $6.6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2016 from $34.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2015. Approximately $19.1 million of the decrease was due
to the complmm etion of our AbCONTOUR1 and AbCONTOUR2 U.S. Phase 3 clinical trials and $4.7 million of the decrease was dued to the
termination of the suppu lemental clinical trials. Approximately $1.1 million of the decrease was dued to the reduction of consulting and other
outside services, the elimination of the Corporr rate Advisory Board, as well as a decrease of $1.4 million due to a reducd tion in headcount in
research and development. The remaining decrease of appa roximately $1.5 million was due to a reduction of regulatory, pre-clinical and CMC
activities.

General and Administrative Expensex s. General and administrative expenses decreased by $2.2 million to $5.5 million for the year
ended Decembem r 31, 2016, from $7.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2015. The decrease of approximately $2.0 million was due to
reduction in general legal fees,ff public and investor relation expenses, accounting feeff s and outside services expenses. The remaining decrease
of $0.1 million was related to a reductidd on of headcount for the year ended Decemberm 31, 2016.

Interest IncomII e. Interest income increased by $33,000 to $59,000 for the year ended December 31, 2016 from $26,000 for the year
ended Decembem r 31, 2015. The increase resulted from higher rates of return during the year ended Decemberm 31, 2016.

Interest Expense. Interest expense decreased by $0.1 to $1 million forff the year ended December 31, 2016 from $1.1 million forff the
year ended Decemberm 31, 2015. The decrease in interest expense was duedd to the prepayment in full of the Hercules debt faciff lity in Septemberm
2016.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have incurred losses and negative cash flows from operating activities for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. As of
December 31, 2017, we had an accumulated deficit of $135.8 million. We anticipate that we will continue to incur net losses for the
foreseeable futff ure as we continue the development and potential commercialization of our product candidates and incur additional ca osts
associated with being a public compamm ny.

At Decembem r 31, 2017, we had cash and cash equivalents of appa roximately $3.4 million.

On December 1, 2015, we entered into a Controlled Equity Offering Sales Agreement, or the Sales Agreement, with Cantor Fitzgeraldaa
& Co., or Canter Fitzgerald, as a sales agent, pursuant to which we may offer and sell from time to time, through Cantor Fitzgerald,ee shares of
our common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, having an aggregate offeringff price of up to $20.0 million. As of December 31, 2017, no
shares were issued pursuant to the Sales Agreement.

On January 17, 2018, immediately following the complem tion of the Merger, we issued, in the Financing, an aggregate of 1,614,289
shares of its common stock to certain accredited investors for an aggregate purchase price of $20 million pursuant to the terms of the
Securities Purchase Agreement, dated October 17, 2017, by and among us, Private Evofem and certain investors.
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Management believes that there is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months after the dhh ate
that the finaff ncial statements forff the year ended December 31, 2017, are issued. We plan to continue to fund our operating expensenn s and
capital expenditure requirements through additional debt or equity financing or through collaboraa tions and partnerships with other entities.
Debt or equity financing or collaborations and partnerships with other entities may not be available on a timely basis, on acceptabee le terms, or
at all. In addition, the Company may be required to scale back or discontinue the advancement of product candidates, reducd e headcoua nt or
reduce other operating expenses. This could have an adverse impam ct on the Company�s ability to achieve certain of its planned objeb ctives
during 2018, and thus, materially harm the Company�s business. Our ability to successfully transition to profitability will be dependent upon
obtaining additional financing and achieving a level of product sales adequate to support our cost structure. We cannot be assuredss that we
will ever be profitable or generate positive cash flow from operating activities.

Summary Stattt emtt ent of Cash Flows

The following table sets forthff a summary of the net cash flowff activity for each of the periods set forth below (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015

Net cash used in operating activities $ (8,201) $ (16,255) $ (37,911)
et cash provided by (used in) investing activities 7 3 (226)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 26 (10,019) 139
Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ (8,168) $ (26,271) $ (37,998)

Cash Flows from OperatiO ng Activities.

Net cash used in operating activities was $8.2 million, $16.3 million and $37.9 million forff the years ended Decemberm 31, 2017, 2016
and 2015, respectively. The primary use of cash was to fundff our operations related to the development of our product candidates in each of
these periods.

Cash Flows from InveII sting Activities.

Net cash provided by investing activities was $7,000 and $3,000 for the years ended Decembem r 31, 2017 and Decemberm 31, 2016,
respectively. Net cash used in investing activities was $226,000 forff the year ended Decemberm 31, 2015. Cash provided by investingi activities
consisted of proceeds from the sale of equipment and furniture forff the years ended December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016. Cash used
for investing activities consisted primarily of the purchase of equipment and furff niture durid ng the year ended December 31, 2015.

Cash FloFF ws from FinaFF ncing Activities.

Financing activities provided cash of $26,000 forff the year ended Decembem r 31, 2017, from the issuance of common stock from the
exercise of stock options.

Net cash used in financing activities was $10.0 million for the year ended Decemberm 31, 2016, primarily from the prepayment of debt
of $9.5 million and principal payments on debt of $0.5 million.

Financing activities provided cash of $139,000 for the year ended December 31, 2015, was from the issuance of common stock from
the exercise of stock options and emplmm oyee stock purchase plan.

Operating and Capital Expendxx ituredd Requirements

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenues, we expect to finance our cash needs through a combim nation of
equity offerff ings, debt financings, collaborations, strategic partnerships and licensing arrangements. We do not have any committett d external
source of funds. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, the ownership interest
of our stockholders will be diluted, and the terms of these securiuu ties may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect the
rights of our common stockholders. Debt financing, if available, may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricttt ing our
ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditurest or declaring dividends. If we raise additional
funds through collaborations, strategic partnerships or licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to
our product candidates, our other technologies, futuret revenue streams or research programs or grant licenses on terms that may not be
favorable to us. If we are unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt financings when needed, we may be required to delay, limit,
reduce or terminate our product development or futuret commercialization efforts or grant rights to develop and market our producdd t candidates
even if we would otherwise prefer to develop and market them ourselves.
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Contractual obligations and commitments

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations at Decembem r 31, 2017:

Payments Due by Period

Total 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
More than
5 Years

Operating lease $ 951,648 $ 410,848 $ 431,507 $ 109,293 $ �� $ �� $ ��
$ 951,648 $ 410,848 $ 431,507 $ 109,293 $ �� $ �� $ ��

Off-balance sheet arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements (as defined by applicable regulations of the SEC) that are reasonably likely to have
a current or futurett material effecff t on our financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

As a �smaller reporting company�, we are not required to provide the information required by this item.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The finff ancial statements and the report of our independent registered public accounting firm required pursuant to this item are included
in this report beginning on page F-1.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Conclusion Regarding the Effectivff eness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report, or December 31, 2017, our management, with the participation of our
principal executive officff er and principal financial officerff , has evaluated the effecff tiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined
in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act as of December 31, 2017. Based on such evaluation, our principal executivett officer
and principal financial officerff have concluded that as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

Our management, including our principal executive officerff and principal financial officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls
and procedures or our internalr controls will prevent all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can
provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Because of the inherent limitatimm ons in all
control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any,nn within the
Company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that
breakdowns can occur because of a simplemm error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some
persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the control. The design of any system of controls also is based in
part upou n certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving
its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effeff ctive control system,
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Management�s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The Company's management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as
definedff in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act). Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed under the
supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officff er and principal financial offiff cer, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of finff ancial reporting and the preparation of finff ancial statements forff external purposes in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Management conducted an assessment of the
effecff tiveness of the Companm y's internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control�Integrated Framework (2013 Framework). Based on this assessment, our
management concluded that, as of December 31, 2017, our internar l control over financial reporting was effective based on those criteria.
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Attestation Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

This Annual Report does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm due to the deferralrr
allowed under the JOBS Act for emerging growth companies.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the year ended December 31, 2017, that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,ff our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.

PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officersff and Corporate Governance.

The following table lists the names, ages as of February 9rr , 2018, and positions of the individualsdd who serve as our executive officersff
and directors:

Name Age Position(s)
ExecutiEE ve Officeff rs

Saundra Pelletier ........................................................................ 48 Chief Executive Officer and Class III Director
Justin J. File................................................................................ 47 Chief Financial Officer
Kelly Culwell, M.D.................................................................... 43 Chief Medical Officer
Russ Barrans............................................................................... 58 Chief Commercial Officff er
Alexander A. Fitzpatrick, Esq. ................................................... 51 General Counsel and Secretary

Non-EmpNN loyeeo Directorstt
Thomas Lynch............................................................................ 61 Class III Director, Chairman of the Board
Gillian Greer, Ph.D..................................................................... 73 Class II Director
William Hall, Ph.D., M.D. ......................................................... 68 Class II Director
Kim P. Kamdar, Ph.D................................................................. 50 Class I Director
Tony O�Brien ............................................................................. 54 Class II Director
Colin Rutherford ........................................................................ 59 Class I Director

As noted above, our Board currently consists of seven members and is divided into three classes each serving staggered three-year
terms until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified and their terms expire on a staggered basis as set forth below:

Class I directors� terms expire at the annual meeting of our stockholders in 2018;

Class II directors� terms expire at the annual meeting of stockholders in 2019; and

Class III directors� terms expire at the annual meeting of stockholders in 2020.

Executive Offiff cers

Saundra Pelletier

Saundra Pelletier has served as Private Evofemff �s President and CEO since Februarrr y 2013 and has served as our President and Chief
Executive Officff er since January 2018. From 2009 to 2016, Ms. Pelletier was the founff ding Chief Executive Officer of WomenCare Global
International, or WCGI, an international non-profit organization focff used on empom wering, educating and enabling women and girls to make
informed choices about their health. Under her leadership, WCGI secured approximately $68 million in committed funding froff m major
foundations and governmental organizations, and launched an innovative U.S. educational campaign with American actress/activist Jessica
Biel. Since Novembem r 2017, Ms. Pelletier has served as the Chair of the board of WCG Cares, a non-profit California corporation whose
primary purposrr e is to directly engage in and/ordd fund the development and implementation of programs that promote reproductivdd e health,
education, research and increased access to high-quality, innovative and afforff dable reproductive healthcare and healthcare products around
the world. Ms. Pelletier also served as WCG Cares� Chief Executive Officer and President from 2013 until Novemberm 2017. From 2005 to
2009, Ms. Pelletier was founder and Chief Executive Officer of Saundra Pelletier Internatr ional, where she served as a managementnn
consultant, executive coach, entrepreneur, author and keynote speaker. From 2000 until 2004, Ms. Pelletier served as Vice President,
Pharmaceuticals at Women First Healthcare, a specialty healthcare company dedicated to improving the health of women in mid-life,ff and
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from 1992 until 2000 she was Global Franchise Leader (Vice President), with G.D. Searle, developer of the first femff ale birth control pill and
now a wholly owned trademark of Pfizer. In her capacity as a corporrr ate vice president and global fraff nchise leader, Ms. Pelletier managed a
$250 million business unit, reorganized companm ies from the ground up, raised $40 million in capital, managed worldwide partnerships,
negotiated cost saving licensing agreements, assessed country infrastructures, developed commercialization plans and hired fullff scale teams,
including contract sales forces,ff to support women�s healthcare initiatives. Ms. Pelletier has launched pharmaceutical brands worldwide and
expanded indications on female healthcare brands in multiple countries. She has had oversight and accountability for Sales, Marketinrr g,
Operations, Medical Affairsff , Regulatory Affairs, Manufacturing, Customer Service, Business Development and Strategic Partnerships. In
2015, Ms. Pelletier was profiled by the United Nations Foundation as a New Champion for Reproductive Health, and in 2014 was awarded
the Athena Pinnacle Award for Life Sciences, recognizing extraordinary lrr eadership in the life sciences. She is a published author and an
international keynote speaker on the economic return of investing in women and has spoken at the Clinton Global Initiative, Women Deliver,
the Harvard School of Public Health, the Cavendish Global Health Impactm Forumrr at Biocom, the University of Virginia�s Darden School of
Business; and was the keynote speaker at the June 2016 Women�s Global Health Symposm ium. Her accomplishments have been frequentlyll
profilff ed in various media, including The New York Times, Inc. Magazine, Cosmopolitan, Devex, Refinery 29, Bustle, CNN, NBC News,
Glamour, Marie Claire, BBC Radio, Global Grind and Vogue. Ms. Pelletier is the Chair of the Women Deliver Board of Directors and she is
on the board of directors of ClearFast. We believe Ms. Pelletier�s service as our Chief Executive Officff er and extensive professional
experience in women�s healthcare qualifies her to serve as a membem r of our board of directors.

Justin J. File

Justin J. File has served as Private Evofem�s Chief Financial Officerff since July 2015 and has served as our Chief Financial Officerff
since January 2018. He has approximately 25 years of diverse accounting and finance experience within a variety of both public and private
biotechnology companies. Most recently, he provided executive financiff al and accounting oversight services to various biotechnology
companies in San Diego, California, assisting in their initial public offeriff ng process and helping to establish and impromm ve their accounting and
finance operations as publicly-traded entities. Prior to this, Mr. File was Senior Director and Controller of Sequenom, Inc., a diagnostic
company that developed and commercialized molecular diagnostics testing services for the women�s health market. During that time, he
served as Treasurer of their diagnostic subsidiary and providing assistance in the raise of over $400 million in combinm ed equity att nd
convertible note offerings. He also assisted in the commercial launch of four diagnostic tests in a two-year period, which includedll
Sequenom�s revolutionary noninvasive prenatal test forff Down syndrome. Earlier in his career he worked for approximately ten years in
public accounting, primarily with Arthur Andersen LLP, where he worked with a variety of clients assisting with attestation and periodic
reporting requirements, public offeriff ngs and acquisitions. He graduated from Central Washington University with a Bachelor�s of Science in
Accounting and International Business and is a Certified Public Accountant (inactive).

Kelly Cll ulCC well, M.D.

Dr. Kelly Culwell is an Obstetrician/Gynecologist with over 16 years specializing in women�s health and contraceptive research. She
has served as our Chief Medical Officer since January 2018 and has served as Private Evofem�s Chief Medical Officer since April 2015.
Prior to joining Evofem Biosciences, she was a trainer Merck and maintained an academic clinical practice as the Director of Famiaa ly
Planning and Associate Clinical Professor at University of Califorff nia, Davis. She previously served as a Medical Offiff cer with thett World
Health Organization where she developed global guidelines for clinical practice and is widely published in peer reviewed journar lsaa .
Dr. Culwell received a Bachelor�s of Science froff m California Lutheruu an University, a Medical Doctorate froff m the University of California,
Davis and a Masters of Publu ic Health from Northwestern Ur niversity. She complm eted her post-graduate training in Obstetrics and Gynecology
at University of California San Diego and her Family Planning Fellowship at Northwestern Ur niversity. Dr. Culwell maintains appa ointments
as Volunteer Assistant Clinical Professoff r in the Departments of Obstetrics and Gynecology at the University of California, Davis and San
Diego campuses. She is qualified as a Diplomat from the American Board of Obstetrics and Gynecology.

Russ Barrans

Russ Barrans has served as our Chief Commercial Offiff cer since January 2018 and has served as Private Evofemff �s Chief Commercial
Officer since 2016. Mr. Barrans has over 25 years in the women�s healthcare pharmaceuticals and biotechnology space. As the Chief
Commercial Officer, he is responsible for the commercial launch and lifecycle management of the Evofemff Biosciences product portfolio,ff
oversees manufacturiff ng and supply chain, and provides executive leadership to the sales and marketing team. Prior to joining Evofem
Biosciences, Mr. Barrans was the Senior Director of Women�s Healthcare Marketing for TEVA Pharmaceuticals. With significant tenurenn in
life sciences and pharmaceutical companies, he has held senior level positions at global and domestic companies including Bayer Healthcare
and Wyeth Pfizer (formff erly Wyeth), as well as, being Chief Executiveu Officer of FusionRx, a strategic consulting firm servicing biotech and
pharmaceutical brands of which Russ was the founding partner. He has overseen directed the launch of over half a dozen brands worldwide
including the launch of Mirena®, and Plan B One-Step® OTC. He graduated from California Coast University with a Bachelor�s of Science in
Business Administration and holds an MBA from California Coast University. Mr. Barrans is an Accredited Pharmaceutical Manufacturestt
Representative of Canada in General Healthcare and Oncology, and has earned his certification as a Business Coach from Brian Tracyrr
International.



63

Alexander A. FitFF zpatt trick, Esq.

Alexander A. Fitzpatrick has served as our Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary since January 2018 and as the
Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of Private Evofem since October 2017. He is responsible for the Company�s
corporarr te governance, legal, corporate development, intellectual property and risk management functions. Prior to joining Evofem,
Mr. Fitzpatrick served as Senior Vice President, General Counsel, Compliance Officer and Secretary of Verenium Corporr ration, a publpp icly
traded biotechnology company. Prior to that, Mr. Fitzpatrick served as Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of Kintera, Inc.,
a publicly traded technology compam ny. Following the sale of Kintera, Mr. Fitzpatrick continued to serve in a similar position forff a major
division of Blackbaud,kk Inc. Prior to that, as a member of the business, corporate and technology departments with the law firms Cooley LLP
and Latham & Watkins LLP in San Diego, and Rogers & Wells LLP (now Clifford Chance) in London, Mr. Fitzpatrick represented
pharmaceutical and other technology companies, investment banks anda venture capitalists in a variety of transactions including numerous
collaborations, mergers and acquisitions, intellectual property matters, licensing and financing activity. Mr. Fitzpatrick received a B.S. in
mathematics from Georgetown University and a J.D. from the University of California, Berkeley.

Non-Employee Directors

Thomas LynL ch

Mr. Lynch has served as the Chairman of the Board since January 2018 and served as the Chairman of the Board of Private Evofemff
from Novembem r 2015 until January 2018. Mr. Lynch also currently serves as Chairman of the Boards of Profectus Biosciences Inc. and
Adherium Inc. and as a non-executive director of GW Pharmaceuticals where he serves as Chairman of both its remuneration and nomination
committees. Mr. Lynch is also the non-executive chairman of the Ireland East Hospital Group and the Mater Misericordiae University
Hospital, a non-profitff charitable foundation providing acute hospital services to both public patients fundeff d by the HSE (defined below) and
private patients. Mr. Lynch serves on the board of a numberm of other privately held biotechnology companies. Mr. Lynch previously served
as Chairman of ICON plc and was a member of its board for 22 years. Mr. Lynch has also worked in a variety of capacities in Amarin
Corporr ration plc, Elan Corporation plc and Warner Chilcott plc. From 2001 to 2010, Mr. Lynch was a membem r of the Board of IDA Ireland
(an Irish government investment agency). Mr. Lynch received his B.Sc. in Economics froff m Queen�s University of Belfast in 1978, and
qualifieff d as a chartered accountant with KPMG in 1983 and served as a partner in that firm from 1990 to 1993. We believe Mr. Lyncyy h is
qualifiedff to serve as a member of our board of directors because of his decades of business, operational and board of director experience with
pharmaceutical and life sff ciences companies and because of his prior experience as Chairman of Private Evofem�s board of directorsoo .

Gillian Greer, Ph.D.

Dr. Gillian Greer has served as a memberm of our Board since January 2018 and most recently served, froff m 2011 � 2017, as the Chief
Executive Officer of Volunteer Service Abroad, a New Zealand non-profit organization that sends volunteers to work with partner
organizations in the Pacific and Asia region. She is currently Chief Executive Officer of the National Council of Women of New Zealand.
From 2006-2011 Dr. Greer served as Director General of the International Planned Parenthood Federation, or IPPF, the world�s largest
international sexual and reproductive health non-profit organization, working in 172 countries providing advocacy, education and sexual and
reproductive health services, including maternal health, HIV/AIDS, family planning and adolescent health. During this time she also worked
closely with UN agencies and governments to advocate forff investment in health and human rights and served on the Board of ICON plc.
Prior to her work with IPPF, Dr. Greer served as Executive Director of the Family Planning Association of New Zealand where she was
involved in internar tional and regional advocacy trat ining and initiatives, including chairing the Asia Pacificff Alliance, and was made a
Member of the New Zealand Order of Merit for services to family planning in 2005. From 1996-1998 Dr. Greer was Assistant Vice
Chancellor Equity and Human Resources, Victoria University of Wellington, New Zealand. Her early career was in educadd tion at secondaryrr
and tertiary levels. Throughout her career Dr. Greer has demonstrated an ongoing commitment to health, education, sustainable development,
women�s empowerment, and human rights. She is passionate about strengthening civil society and building high performing organizations
that are effectivff e, ethical, and accountable and can clearly demonstrate their impam ct. She has also served in a governance capacity for a
number of charities and a university Council, as well as advisory panels to New Zealand Ministers of Foreign Affairs and Trade. Dr. Greer
was made a Commander of the British Empiremm (CBE) forff services to international health and women�s rights in 2012. She continues to be in
high demand as a speaker, facilitator, chairperson, and board membem r. Dr. Greer holds a B.A. in English from the University of Auckland and
a Ph.D. in New Zealand Literature from the Victoria University of Wellington. We believe Dr. Greer�s long experience as an executcc ive
officerff and board member of organizations dedicated to women�s sexual health qualifies her to serve as a membem r of our board of directors.

William Hall, Ph.D., M.D.

Professor Hall has served as a memberm of our Board since January 2rr 018 and is a renowned expert in infectious diseases and virology.
He currently serves as Distinguished Professoff r in Hokkaido University in Japan and is Professor Emeritus of Medical Microbiology and the
Centre for Research in Infectious Diseases at University College Dublin�s, or UCD, School of Medicine and Medical Science. He is also
Executive Chairman of the UCD National Virus Referenff ce Laboa ratory and is a Consultant Microbiologist at St. Vincent�s Universitytt
Hospital Dublin. Professor Hall also serves as a consultant to the Minister of Heath and Children in the Republic of Ireland, provipp ding input
on a range of topics including influenza pandemic preparedness and bioterrorism. Prior to his tenure at UCD, Professorff Hall was Professor
and Head of the Laboratory orr f Medical Virology, Senior Physician and Director of the Clinical Research Centre at the Rockefelleff r University
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in New York. He previously served as an Assistant and Associate Professor of Medicine at Cornell University. Professor Hall is a Board
member of The Atlantic Philanthropies and is a co-founder of the Global Virusrr Network. Professor Hall has served as a non-executive
director of ICON plc, based in Dublin, Ireland, since Februaryrr 2013. He is a membem r of its audit committee and the compensation committee
and is chair of the nominating and governance committee. Professor Hall holds a B.Sc.(Honors.) in Biochemistry and a Ph.D. in
Biochemistry/Virology from Queen�s University Belfast. He received his M.D. froff m Cornell University Medical College, New York and a
Diploma of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene from the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine in London, England. We believe Dr.
Hall is qualified to serve on our board of directors based on his extensive experience working in infectious diseases and virology and prior
experiences on other board of directors.

Kim P. KamdKK add r, Ph.D.

Dr. Kamdar has served as a member of our Board since April 2011. Dr. Kamdar is a Managing Membem r of Domain Associates, LLC, a
life sciences venture capital firm, which she joined in 2005.

Dr. Kamdar is currently Chair of the board of directors of Obalon (Nasdaq: OBLN). She also serves on the board of directors of several
private companm ies including Epic Sciences, Omniome, ROX Medical, Sera Prognostics and Singular Genomics. Dr. Kamdar is foundff er and
Chairman of the board of directors, and was forff merly acting CEO of Truvian Sciences, a consumer-focused health and wellness companymm .
Past investments include Ariosa (acquired by Roche), Corthera (acquired by Novartis), BiPar Sciences (acquired by Sanofi-ff Aventis) and
Achaogen (Nasdaq: AKAO).

Formerly, Dr. Kamdar was a Kauffmff an Fellow with MPM Capital. Prior to joining MPM, she was a research director at Novartis,
where she built and led a research team that focused on the biology, genetics and genomics of model organisms. Dr. Kamdar is the author of
ten papers as well as the inventor on seven patents. She received her B.A. from Northwestern University and her Ph.D. in biochemistry and
genetics from Emory University. Dr. Kamdar serves as an advisory board member of Dr. Eric Topol�s NIH supported Clinical and
Translational Science Award for Scripps Medicine and is also on the non-profit board for Access Youth Academy,mm an organization that is
transforming the lives of underserved youth through academic enrichment, health and wellness, social responsibility and leadership through
squash. We believe Dr. Kamdar is qualified to serve on our board of directors based on her extensive experience working and servingrr on the
boards of directors of life sff ciences companies and her experience working in the venture capia tal industry.

Tony O�Brien�

Mr. O�Brien has served as a memberm of our board of directors since January 2rr 018 and as the Director General of Ireland�s Health
Service Executive, or HSE, an organization responsible forff the provision of health and personal social services forff the residents of Ireland,
since July 2012. Prior to his role as Director General, Mr. O�Brien was the Chief Operating Officff er of the Department of Health�s Special
Delivery Unit and a membem r of the Department�s Management Board. From May 2011 to September 2011 Mr. O�Brien was Director of
Clinical Strategy and Programs in the HSE. From Decembem r 2011 until October 2012 he held the post of Chief Executive Officer of the
National Treatment Purchase Fund. He served as Chief Advisor to the HSE on the implemm mentation of the National Cancer Control Stratt tegy,
Projeo ct Director for the National Plan for Radiation Oncology and is a forff mer Chairman of the National Cancer Registry Board. He was the
founding Chief Executive Officer of the National Cancer Screening Service, Director of BreastCheck, CervicalCheck and an Associate and
Interim Director of the National Cancer Control Programme. Prior to joining the HSE, Mr. O�Brien served as Chief Executive of thett Irish
Family Planning Association and as the Chief Executive of the UK Family Planning Association. Mr. O�Brien is a Council Member of the
Irish Management Institute, a Membem r of the Healthy Ireland Council and a Membem r of the Institute of Directors in Ireland. Mr. O�Brien
holds a Master of Sciences in Management Practice from Trinity College, University of Dublin. He is Adjunct Ass. Professor in Health
Strategy and Management at Trinity College Dublin. He is also Vice President of the Institute of Public Administration and a Council
Member of the Irish Management Institute. In 2016, he was admitted as a Chartered Director by the Institute of Directors. We believe Mr.
O�Brien�s extensive experience as an executive and member of the boards of directors forff healthcare and life sciences companies qualifies
him to be a member of our board of directors.

Colin Rutherfordff

Mr. RutRR herford has served as a memberm of our board of directors since January 2018 and served as a member of the board of directors
of Private Evofem froff m November 2015 until January 2rr 018. He currently serves as the audit committee chairman of Mitchells & Butlett rs�
Plc., and Renaissance Services SAOG. Mr. RutRR herford is also serving as the Chairman of Brookgate, Limited, TPG and Teachers Mediad
Group Plc. Prior to this, Mr. Rutherford worked for European Healthcare Group au s Non-Executive Chairman froff m 2012 to 2014 until its
acquisition by two hedge funds. From 2008 to 2011, Mr. Rutherford also worked as Chief Executive Officer and Chairman to restructrr uret
MAM Funds Plc that had significantff debt. From 2003 to 2006, Mr. Rutherford was Chairman and oversaw the restructuring of Noble House
Group Limited which was sold in 2006. In 2002, as Chairman and Chief Executive Officerff , he led the restructuring and sale of Eurouu -Sales
Plc. with 18 offices across Europe. While a director of Private Evofem, Mr. Rutherford was Chair of its audit committee and a member of its
remuneration committee. Mr. Rutherford graduated in Accountancy and Finance from Heriot Watt University and qualified as a chartered
accountant with Touche Ross in 1984. Mr. Rutherfordff is a Harvard Business School Alumni. We believe that Mr. Rutherford is qualified to
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serve as a member of our board of directors because of his prior experience as a member of Private Evofem�s board of directors and his
many years of finance and operations leadership experience in the healthcare and life sciences industries.

Audit Committee and Financial Expert

The audit committee of our board was establisa hed by our board of directors in accordance with Section 3(a)(58)(A) of the
Exchange Act. The current members of our audit committee are Mr. Rutherford, Dr. Kamdar and Mr. O�Brien. Mr. Rutherford serves
as Chairperson of the committee. Our board of directors has determined that all of the members of our audit committee meet the
requirements forff financial literacy under the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and Nasdaq. Our board of directors has
determined that Mr. RutRR herfordff is an audit committee finaff ncial expert as defined under the applicable rulrr es of the SEC and has the
requisite financial sophistication as definff ed under the applicable rulrr es and regulations of Nasdaq. Our board of directors has
determined that all of the members of our audit committee are independent directors as defined under the applicablea rules and
regulations of the SEC and Nasdaq.

Stockholder Recommendations for Director Nominees

In nominating candidates forff election as a director, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will consider a
reasonable number of candidates forff director recommended by a single stockholder who has held over 0.1% of our common stock for
over one year and who satisfies the notice, inforff mation and consent provisions set forth in our Bylaws and corporarr te governance
guidelines. Stockholders who wish to recommend a candidate may do so by writing to the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee in care of the Corporr rate Secretary,rr Evofem Biosciences, Inc., 12400 High Bluff Drive, Suite 600, San Diego, CA 92130.
Our amended and restated bylaws state the procedures for a stockholder to bring a stockholder proposal or nominate an individual ta o
serve as a director of the Board. Our amended and restated bylaws provide that advance notice of a stockholder�s proposal or
nomination of an individual to serve as a director must be delivered to our Corporate Secretary at our principal executive officff es not
earlier than the one hundred twentieth (120th) day, nor later than the close of business on the ninetieth (90th) day, prior to the
anniversary orr f the previous year�s annual meeting of stockholders. However, our amended and restated bylaws also provide that in the
event that the date of the annual meeting is advanced by more than thirty (30) days, or delayed by more than seventy (70) days, from
the anniversary date of the preceding year�s annual meeting, notice must be received no earlier than the one hundred twentieth (120th)
day prior to such annual meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of the ninetieth (90th) day prior to such acc nnual
meeting or, if the first public announcement of the date of such annual meeting is less than one-hundred (100) days prior to the dhh ate of
such annual meeting, the tenth (10th) day following the day on which the public announcement of the date of such meeting is firff st
made. In addition to meeting the advance notice provisions mentioned aboa ve, the stockholder in its notice musmm t provide the informo ation
required by our Bylaws to bring a stockholder proposal or nominate an individual to serve as a director of the Board.

A copy of the full text of the provisions of our Bylaws dealing with stockholder nominations and proposals is available to
stockholders from our Corporate Secretary upou n written request. The Nominating and Corporr rate Governance Committee will use the
same evaluation process for director nominees recommended by stockholders as it uses forff other director nominees.

Section 16 (a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act and SEC rules, the Company�s directors, executive officers and beneficial owners of
more than 10% of any class of equity security are required to file periodic reports of their ownership, and changes in that ownership,
with the SEC. Based solely on its review of copies of reports provided to the Company pursuant to Rule 16a-3(e) of the Exchange Act
and representations of such reporting persons, the Company believes that during fiscalff year 2017, such SEC filing requirements were
satisfied.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applaa ies to our officeff rs, directors and emplm oyees, which is available on
our website at www.evofemff .com. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics contains general guidelines for conducting the business of our
company consistent with the highest standards of business ethics and is intended to qualify aff s a �code of ethics� within the meaning of
Section 406 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and Item 406 of Regulation S-K. In addition, we intend to promptly disclose (1) the nature of
any amendment to our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to our principal executive officer, principal financial officff er,
principal accounting officer or controller or persons performing similar funcff tions and (2) the nature of any waiver, including an implicitmm
waiver, from a provision of our code of ethics that is granted to one of these specifiedff officersff , the name of such person who is granted the
waiver and the date of the waiver on our website in the future.
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Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Our named executive officersff , which consisted of our principal executive officerff and our only other executive officer were:

Susan A. Knudson, Former Principal Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officerff ; and

Maria Feldman, Former Vice President, Clinical Operations, Regulatory Affairs and Quality Assurance

We have also included the principal executive officff er and the two most highly compensated officff ers of Private Evofem durid ng 2017
below:

Saundra Pelletier, Chief Executive Offiff cer(1)

Justin J. File, Chief Financial Officer(1)

Kelly Culwell, M.D., Chief Medical Officer(1)

(1) Pursuant to the closing of the Merger as described within this Form 10-K, this individual became an executive officer of the Company
in January 2018.
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Summary Compensation Table

The following table summarizes information concerning the compemm nsation awarded to, earnedr by, or paid for services rendered in all
capaca ities by our named executive officersff and the principal executive officeff r and two most highly compenmm sated officers of Private Evofem
during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. As our management team transitions froff m operating a private company to operating a
ppublicly traded company, our Compensation Committee will evaluate our compensation practices, philosophy and arrangements to ensure
alignment with our structure and the roles of the executives as they relate to managing and oversight of a public company T. he compensation
described in this table does not include medical or other benefitsff that are available generally to all our salaried emplom yees:

Name and Principal Position
Year Ended
December 31, Salary ($) Bonus ($) Option Awards(1)(2) ($)

All Other
Compensation ($) Total ($)

Susan A. Knudson 2017 317,000 190,200 130,102 (3) 1,010(4) 638,312
FormeFF r ChieCC f Fe inancial
Officer 2016 281,197 59,052 19,170 (5) 1,010

(4)

360,429

Maria Feldman 2017 273,980 136,995 197,794 (6) 539(7) 609,308
FormeFF r Vice President,t
Clinical Research,
Operations, Regulatory arr nd
Quality 2016 243,000 46,550 10,650 (8) 539(7) 300,739

Saundra Pelletier 2017 731,364 922,700 �� 810(9) 1,654,874
Chief Executive Officer 2016 588,527 201,562 1,477,691 (10) 1,621(9) 2,269,401

Justin J. File 2017 562,373 306,750 � 810(11) 869,933
Chief Financial Officer 2016 478,113 163,281 822,510 (12) 1,185(11) 1,465,089

Kelly Culwell, M.D. 2017 428,650 123,600 �� 540(13) 552,790
Chief Medical Officer 2016 425,275 90,000 274,170 (14) 675(13) 790,120

(1) Amounts listed in this column for Ms. KnudsoK n and Ms. Feldman represent the aggregate fair value of the option awards computed as
of the grant date of each option award in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification
No. 718, Compemm nsation-Stock Compensation, or FASB ASC Topic 718, rather than amounts paid to or realized by the named
individual.dd There can be no assurance that options will be exercised (in which case no value will be realized by the individuald ) oll r that
the value on exercise will approximate the fair value as computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. The assumptions used inii
the valuation of these awards are set forth in Note 6 to our financial statements forff the year ended December 31, 2017, which are
included in this Annual Report.

(2) Amounts listed in this column for Ms. Pelletier, Mr. File and Dr. Culwell represent the aggregate fair value of Private Evofem option
awards computm ed as of the grant date of each option award in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, rather than amounts paid to or
realized by the named individual. The fair value of the stock-based payments forff these awards was estimated on the date of grant using
the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model based on the following weighted-average assumptim ons forff the year ended Decemberm
31, 2016:

Expected volatility................................................................................................ 89.2%
Risk-free interest rate ........................................................................................... 1.3%
Expected dividend yield ....................................................................................... 0.0%
Expected term (years)........................................................................................... 5.6

There can be no assurance that options will be exercised (in which case no value will be realized by the individual) or that the value on
exercise will approxa imate the fair value as computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718.

(3) In March 2017, Ms. Knudson received options to purchase up tu o 16,666 shares of the Company�s common stock with a perforff mance-
based vesting schedule,d all of which were vested by December 31, 2017. In June 2017, Ms. Knudson received options to purchase up
to 10,832 shares of the Company�s common stock with a two-year vesting schedule.

(4) All Other Compensation for Ms. KnuK dson in 2017 and 2016 includes premiums paid forff group term life iff nsurance of $1,010.
(5) In February 2016, Ms. Knudson received an option to purchase up to 7,500 shares of the Company�s common stock with a fouff r-year

vesting schedule.
(6) In March 2017, Ms. Feldman received options to purchase up to 15,000 shares of the Company�s common stock with a perforff mance-

based vesting schedule,d all of which were vested on December 31, 2017. In June 2017, Ms. Feldman received options to purchase up to
23,332 shares of the Company�s common stock with a two-year vesting schedule.

(7) All Other Compensation for Ms. Feldman in 2017 and 2016 includes premiums paid for group tu erm life iff nsurance of $539.
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(8) In February 2016, Ms. Feldman received an option to purchase up tu o 4,166 shares of the Company�s common stock with a four-year
vesting schedule.

(9) All Other Compensation for Ms. Pelletier in 2017 and 2016 includes premiums paid for group term life iff nsurance of $810 and $1,621,
respectively.

(10) On Septemberm 28, 2016, Ms. Pelletier received (i) options to purchase up to 750,000 and 500,000 shares of Private Evofem common
stock with a three-year vesting schedule and a four-ff year vesting schedule, respectively, pursuant to which the unvested shares under
each option grant agreement will become fullyff vested and exercisable uponu a �change in control� (as definff ed in the agreements) and
(ii) a fulff ly vested option to purchase up tu o 389,404 shares of Private Evofem common stock. Each such option has been exchanged for
an option to purchase shares of the Company�s common stock, equal to approximately 0.1540 multiplied by the number of Private
Evofemff common stock issuable upon the exercise of the option to purchase shares of Private Evofem�s common stock, on the same
terms, in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement.

(11) All Other Compensation for Mr. File in 2017 and 2016 includes premiums paid forff group term life iff nsurance of $810 and $1,185,
respectively.

(12) On September 28, 2016, Mr. File received options to purchase up to 500,000 and 400,000 shares of Private Evofem common stock
with a three-year vesting schedule and a four-year vesting scheduld e, respectively, pursuant to which the unvested shares under each
option grant agreement will become fulff ly vested and exercisable upon a �change in control� (as definedff in the agreements). Each such
option has been exchanged for an option to purchase shares of the Company�s common stock, equal to appra oximately 0.1540
multiplied by the number of Private Evofem common stock issuable upon the exercise of the option to purchase shares of Private
Evofem�s common stock, on the same terms, in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement.

(13) All Other Compensation for Dr. Culwell in 2017 and 2016 includes premiums paid forff group term life iff nsurance of $540 and $675,
respectively.

(14) On September 28, 2016, Dr. Culwell received an option to purchase up to 300,000 shares of Private Evofem common stock with a
three-year vesting schedule, pursuant to which the unvested shares under such option grant agreement will become fulff ly vested and
exercisable upon a �change in control� (as defined in the agreement), and such option has been exchanged forff an option to purchase
shares of the Company�s common stock, equal to approximately 0.1540 multiplied by the number of Private Evofem common stock
issuable upon the exercise of the option to purchase shares of Private Evofemff �s common stock, on the same terms, in accordance with
the terms of the Merger Agreement.

Employment, Severance and Separation Agreements

Susan A. Knudsondd Emplom ymento Agreement and Goldenll Parachute Compem nsationtt

On October 15, 2014, the Company entered into an executive emplom yment agreement with Ms. KnudK son which provided that, if
Ms. KnudKK son was terminated by us without cause or if she resigned for good reason, she was entitled to a severance package consisting of
(a) a payment equal to six months of her then in effect base salary prr ayable in accordance with our regular payroll cycle beginningnn on the first
regular payday occurring 60 days following the termination date and (b) payment by us of the premiums required to continue Ms. Knudson�s
group hu ealth coverage for a period of six months following termination.

On January 31, 2018, afterff the Merger, Ms. Knudson�s employment with us was terminated, pursuant to the Separation and Release
Agreement entered into by the Company and Ms. Knudson on January 17, 2018, which provided that in the event that Ms. Knudson was
terminated within 12 months following a change in control, she was entitled to a severance package consisting of (a) a lump smm um payment
equal to $317,000, or 12 months of her then in effect base salary, (b) payment by us of the premiums required to continue Ms. Knudson�s
group health coverage for a period of 12 months followingff termination, valued at $24,939 and (c) full acceleration of all unvestess d equity
awards under the 2007 Stock Plan and 2014 Plan, which had an intrinsic value of $11,344. Ms. Knudson was also entitled to receive a
$150,000 cash bonus in connection with the consummation of the Merger, as appa roved the board of directors in July 2017. The exercisee
period for all options held by Ms. Knudson was extended to the earlier of (i) the expiration of the stock option pursuant to its ttt erms or (ii)
March 31, 2019.

Maria Feldmandd Compensation and Severance and Separation Agreement

On February 28, 2014, the Company entered into an emplmm oyment agreement with Maria Feldman and on February 15, 2018, Ms.
Feldman�s employment with us was terminated. Pursuant to the Separation and Release Agreement entered into by the Company and Ms.
Feldman on February 6, 2018, uponu Ms. Feldman�s termination without cause following the Merger, which constituted a change of control,
she was entitled to a severance package consisting of (a) a lump sum payment equal to $136,990, or six (6) months of her then in effectff base
salary, (b) payment by us of the premiums required to continue Ms. Feldman�s group health coverage for a period of six (6) monthstt following
termination, valued at $8,326 and (c) full acceleration of all unvested equity awards under the 2007 Stock Plan and 2014 Plan, which had an
intrinsic value of $2,575. The exercise period for all options held by Ms. Feldman was extended to the earlier of (i) the expiration of the stock
option pursuant to its terms or (ii) March 31, 2019.
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Pelletier, File all nd Culwell Pll rivPP ate Evofem EmpEE loymeo nt and Severance Arrangementstt

Saundra Pelletier

Ms. Pelletier�s employment with the Company is at-will and she is party to a Severance Agreement, dated April 27, 2015, by and
between Private Evofem and Ms. Pelletier, or the Pelletier Severance Agreement. Ms. Pelletier is also eligible to participate in the Company�s
401K plan, to receive paid vacation each year and to participate in other benefit plans and programs generally available to the Company�s
employm ees.

Pursuant to the terms of the Pelletier Severance Agreement, if Ms. Pelletier�s employment is terminated other than for �Cause� or
�Good Reason� (as definff ed in the Pelletier Severance Agreement), death, or disability, then, subject to Ms. Pelletier signing and not revoking
a separation and release of claims agreement, Ms. Pelletier would be entitled to receive the following, regardless of whether the termination
occurs within or outside the change of control period:

an amount equal to Ms. Pelletier�s Highest Monthly Salary (as definff ed in the Pelletier Severance Agreement) with such
amount payable in each month folff lowing the date of termination of emplomm yment forff a period of 12 months.

payments forff the emplmm oyer share of any applicable COBRA pRR remiums forff a period of 12 months follff owing the date of
termination.

Justin J. File

Mr. File�s employment with the Compam ny is at-will and he is party to a Severance Agreement, dated November 16, 2015, by and
between Private Evofem and Mr. File, or the File Severance Agreement. Mr. File is also eligible to participate in the Company�s 401K plan,
to receive paid vacation each year and to participate in other benefitff plans and programs generally available to the Company�s employees.

Pursuant to the terms of the File Severance Agreement, if Mr. File�s employment is terminated other than for �Cause� or �Good
Reason� (as defined in the File Severance Agreement), death, or disability, then, subju ect to Mr. File signing and not revoking a separation and
release of claims agreement, Mr. File would be entitled to receive the following, regardless of whether the termination occurs within or
outside the change of control period:

an amount equal to Mr. File�s Highest Monthly Salary (as defined in the File Severance Agreement) with such amount payable
in each month following the date of termination of employment forff a period of 12 months.

payments forff the emplmm oyer share of any applicable COBRA pRR remiums forff a period of 12 months follff owing the date of
termination.

Kelly Culwell, M.D.

Dr. Culwell�s employment with the Company is at-will. Dr. Culwell is eligible to participate in the Company�s 401K plan, to receee ive
paid vacation each year and to participate in other benefit plans and programs generally available to the Company�s employees.

The Merger did not constitute a �change in control� for the purposes of the above described Private Evofem employment arrangements.
The Private Evofem offerff letters and severance agreements described above are currently in effect and will remain in effect untiltt amended by
our board of directors.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at December 31, 2017

The folff lowing table presents the outstanding equity awards held by our named executive officers as of Decembem r 31, 2017, and
includes outstanding equity awards held by the principal executive officer and the two most highly compensated executive officersee of Private
Evofem as of Decembem r 31, 2017, giving retroactive effect to the Merger.

Option Awards

Name

Number of
Securities
Underlying

Unexercised Options
Exercisable(1)

Number of Securities
Underlying Unexercised
Options Unexercisable(2)

Option
Exercise
price

Option
Expiration
date

Susan A. Knudson 5,119(3) � $7.32 2/11/2020
5,544(3) � $8.05 2/6/2024
4,160(3) � $27.45 7/17/2024
2,454(3) � $40.74 2/10/2025
5,146(3) � $40.74 2/10/2025
7,500(3) � $5.82 2/4/2026
11,655(3) � $8.58 3/2/2027
5,011(3) � $8.58 3/2/2027
5,249(3) � $13.62 6/22/2027
5,583(3) � $13.62 6/22/2027

Maria Feldman 3,583(3) � $8.05 3/10/2024
2,454(3) � $40.74 2/10/2025
545(3) � $40.74 2/10/2025
4,166(3) � $5.82 2/4/2026
11,655(3) � $8.58 3/2/2027
3,345(3) � $8.58 3/2/2027
4,724(3) � $13.62 3/22/2027
18,608(3) � $13.62 3/22/2027

Saundra Pelletier 6,719(4) � $79.87 6/3/2023
9,994(5) � $46.36 9/28/2026
10,821(6) 8,428(6) $46.36 9/28/2026
4,009(7) 8,824(7) $46.36 9/28/2026

Justin J. File 7,209(8) 5,624(8) $46.36 9/28/2026
3,205(9) 7,061(9) $46.36 9/28/2026

Kelly Culwell, M.D. 4,322(10) 3,377(10) $46.36 9/28/2016

(1) The number of shares under the option that have vested.
(2) The number of shares under the option that have not vested.
(3) Pursuant to the 2014 Plan, all options issued under the 2014 Plan are immediately exercisable regardless of whether they have vested.
(4) The share numbem rs and exercise prices reflected are those of options issued to the executive uponu completion of the Merger in Januaryrr

2018. These options were issued uponu completion of the Merger in exchange for options to purchase 261,784 shares of Private
Evofem common stock, which were fully vested upon grant, at an exercise price of $2.05 per share awarded to the executive by Privrr ate
Evofem in 2013.

(5) The share numbers and exercise prices reflected are those of options issued to the executive uponu completion of the Merger in Januaryrr
2018. These options were issued upou n complem tion of the Merger in exchange for options to purchase 389,404 shares of Private
Evofem common stock, which were fulff ly vested uponu grant, at an exercise price of $1.19 per share awarded to the executive by Privarr te
Evofem in 2016.

(6) The share numbers and exercise prices reflecff ted are those of options issued to the executive uponu completion of the Merger in Januaryrr
2018. These options were issued upou n complem tion of the Merger in exchange for options to purchase 750,000 shares of Private
Evofem common stock at an exercise price of $1.19 per share awarded to the executive by Private Evofemff in 2016. Twenty-five
percent of the award vested uponu grant and the remaining 75% vests monthly over three years.

(7) The share numbers and exercise prices reflecff ted are those of options issued to the executive uponu completion of the Merger in Januaryrr
2018. These options were issued uponu completion of the Merger in exchange for options to purchase 500,000 shares of Private
Evofem common stock, which vests over four years, with 25% vesting after one year and the remaining vesting monthly, at an exerciserr
price of $1.19 per share awarded to the executive by Private Evofem in 2016.

(8) The share numbers and exercise prices reflecff ted are those of options issued to the executive uponu completion of the Merger in Januaryrr
2018. These options were issued uponu completion of the Merger in exchange for options to purchase 500,000 shares of Private
Evofem common stock at an exercise price of $1.19 per share awarded to the executive by Private Evofemff in 2016. Twenty-five
percent of the award vested uponu grant and the remaining 75% vests monthly over three years.
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(9) The share numbers and exercise prices reflected are those of options issued to the executive uponu completion of the Merger in January
2018. These options were issued uponu completion of the Merger in exchange for options to purchase 400,000 shares of Private
Evofem common stock, which vests over four years, with 25% vesting after one year and the remaining vesting monthly, at an exerciserr
price of $1.19 per share awarded to the executive by Private Evofemff in 2016.

(10) The share numbers and exercise prices reflected are those of options issued to the executive upou n completm ion of the Merger in January
2018. These options were issued upon complem tion of the Merger in exchange for options to purchase 300,000 shares of Private
Evofem Common stock at an exercise price of $1.19 per share awarded to the executive by Private Evofem in 2016. Twenty-five
percent of the award vested uponu grant and the remaining 75% vests monthly over three years.

Employee Benefit and Equity Incentive Plans

Stock Compensation Plans

The Company initially adopted the 2007 Plan in March 2007, under which 211,893 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance
to employmm ees, non-employee directors, and consultants of the Compam ny. The Company ceased granting any additional awards under our 2007
Plan, and presently grants equity awards under the 2014 Plan Equity Incentive Plan, or 2014 Plan.

Our standard option awards provide for a �double trigger� acceleration of vesting upon certain terminations occurring within eighteen
months following a termination of service after a change of control or similar transaction.

On September 15, 2014, our board of directors adopted, and our stockholders approa ved, the 2014 Plan. The 2014 Plan provides
incentives that will assist us to attract, retain, and motivate employees, including officeff rs, consultants, and directors. We may provide these
incentives through the grant of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, RSUs, perforff mance shares, and units and other cash-
based or share-based awards. In addition, the 2014 Plan contains a mechanism through which we may adopt a deferredff compensation
arrangement in the future.

A total of 166,666 shares of our common stock was initially authorized and reserved for issuance under the 2014 Plan. This reserve
will automatically increase on each January 1 through 2024, by an amount equal to the smaller of:ff

4% of the number of shares of common stock issued and outstanding on the immediately preceding Decembem r 31; and

an amount determined by our board of directors.

As of Februarrr y 9, 2018, a total of 458,586 shares of our common stock were reserved and available for issuance under the 2014 Plan.

Appropriate adjustments will be made in the numbem r of authorized shares and other numerical limits in the 2014 Plan and in
outstanding awards to prevent dilution or enlargement of participants� rights in the event of a stock split or other change in our capital
structurett . Shares subject to awards which expire or are cancelled or forfeited will again become available for issuance under thett 2014 Plan.

The 2014 Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee of our board of directors. Pursuant to the provisions of the 2014 Plan,
the Compensation Committee determines, in its discretion, the persons to whom and the times at which awards are granted, the sizes of such
awards and all of their terms and conditions. The Compensation Committee has the authority to construe and interpret the terms of the 2014
Plan and awards granted under it. The 2014 Plan provides, subject to certain limitations, for indemnification by us of any director, officer, or
emplom yee against all reasonable expenses, including attorneys� fees, incurredr in connection with any legal action arising froff m such person�s
action or failure to act in administering the 2014 Plan.

The 2014 Plan authorizes the Compensation Committee, without further stockholder appa roval, to provide for the cancellation of stock
options or stock apprea ciation rights with exercise prices in excess of the fair market value of the underlying shares of common stock on the
date of grant in exchange for new options or other equity awards with exercise prices equal to the fair market value of the underlydd ing
common stock on the date of grant or a cash payment.

In the event of a change in control as described in the 2014 Plan, the acquiring or successor entity may assume or continue all or any
awards outstanding under the 2014 Plan or substitute substantially equivalent awards. The Compensation Committee may provide for the
acceleration of vesting of any or all outstanding awards upon such terms and to such extent as it determines, except that the vesting of all
awards held by members of the board of directors who are not emplom yees will automatically be accelerated in full. Any awards thathh are not
assumed, continued, or substituted forff in connection with a changeaa in control or are not exercised or settled prior to the changen in control will
terminate effectff ive as of the time of the change in control. Notwithstanding the foreff going, except as otherwise provided in an award
agreement governing any award, as determined by the Compemm nsation Committee, any award thatt is not assumed, continued, or substituteii d forff
in connection with a change in control shall, subjeb ct to the provisions of applia cable law, become fulff ly vested and exercisable and/odd r settleable
immediately prior to, but conditioned upou n, the consummation of the change in control. The 2014 Plan also authorizes the Compensation
Committee, in its discretion and without the consent of any participant, to cancel each or any outstanding award denominated in shares upon
a change in control in exchange for a payment to the participant with respect to each share subject to the cancelled award of an amount equal
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to the excess of the consideration to be paid per share of common stock in the change in control transaction over the exercise price per share,
if any, under the award. The vesting scheduled s of all outstanding options of the Company were fully accelerated in connection with the
Merger and termination of employm ment or service arrangement with the Company.

The 2014 Plan will continue in effect until it is terminated by our board of directors, provided, however, that all awards will be granted,
if at all, within ten years of its effective date. The board of directors may amend, suspend or terminate the 2014 Plan at any time, provided
that without stockholder approval, the plan cannot be amended to increase the numbem r of shares authorized, change the class of persons
eligible to receive incentive stock options, or effectff any other change that would require stockholder appa roval under any applicable law or
listing rulrr e.

Private Evofem Equity Itt nceII ntive Plan

The Private Evofem Equity Incentive Plan was assumed by the Company in connection with the Merger and shares of Private Evofemff
common stock issuablea pursuant to options previously granted under the Private Evofemff Equity Incentive Plan became options to purchase
our common stock upon completion of the Merger. No new awards may baa e granted under the Private Evofemff Equity Incentive Plan. As of
Februarr ry 9, 2018, a total of 159,325 shares of our common stock were reserved forff issuance upon the exercise of outstanding options under
the Private Evofem Equity Incentive Plan.

Perquisites, Health and Retirement Benefits

Health,tt Welfarl e and Retirement Benefitsff

Our named executive officers and the Private Evofemff officerff s listed above are eligible to participate in all of our employee benefit
plans, including our medical, dental, vision, group lu ife and disability insurance plans, in each case on the same basis as other eee mployees.

Director Compensation

The following table sets forthff the compensation (cash and equity) received by our non-employee directors and the Private Evofem non-
emplom yee directors durind g the year ended Decembem r 31, 2017. Ms. Demski, Mr. Gorbachev, and Mr. Nugent resigned as membem rs of ouruu
board of directors on January 1rr 7, 2018, in connection with the Merger.

Name

Fees Earned or
Paid

in Cash ($)
Option Awards

($)(1)(2)
All other

Compensation ($) Totals ($)
Kim P. Kamdar, Ph.D. 67,500 68,853 � 136,353
Maxim Gorbachev 43,500 11,683 � 55,183
Martha J. Demski 58,500 68,853 � 127,353
Jeffrey M. Nugent 52,500 68,853 � 121,353
Thomas Lynch(3)(4) 60,000 � 640,000 700,000
Colin RutherfordRR (3) 65,402 24,891 � 90,293

(1) With respect to awards granted to Dr. Kamdar, Mr. Gorbacher v, Ms. Demski and Mr. Nugent, amounts listed in this column represent
the aggregate fair value of the option awards computed as of the grant date of each option award in accordance with FASB ASC Topic
718, rather than amounts paid to or realized by the named individual. There can be no assurance that options will be exercised (in
which case no value will be realized by the individual) or that the value on exercise will approximate the fair value as compum ted in
accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. The assumptions used in the valuation of these awards are set forth in Note 6 to our financial
statements forff the year ended December 31, 2017, which are included in this Annual Report.

(2) With respect to an award granted to Mr. Rutherford, amounts listed in this column present the aggregate fair value of the Privatvv e
Evofemff option awards on the issuance date of these awards in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, rather than amounts paid to or
realized by Mr. Rutherford. The fair value of the stock-based paymaa ents forff Mr. Rutherfordff �s award was estimated on the date of grant
using the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model based on the following weighted-average assumptions for the years ended
December 31, 2017:

Expected volatility ................................................................................................ 91.2 %
Risk-free interest rate ............................................................................................ 2.2 %
Expected dividend yield ........................................................................................ 0.0 %
Expected term (years) ........................................................................................... 5.7

There can be no assurance that options will be exercised (in which case no value will be realized by the individual) or that the vhh alue on
exercise will approxa imate the fair value as computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718.
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(3) Pursuant to the closing of the Merger as described within this Form 10-K, this individual became a director of the Company in January
2018, and the amounts reported forff this individual, if applicable, represent equity awarded for services rendered to Private Evofemvv .

(4) Mr. Lynch�s feeff s earned include $60,000 payable as board fees under his Consulting Agreement. Mr. Lynch�s other compem nsation
consists of $290,000 in consulting feesff payable under his Consulting Agreement and a $350,000 bonus earned by Mr. Lynch in
connection with consulting services provided durid ng 2017. Mr. Lynch did not receive an equity award in 2017 in his capacity as a
member of Private Evofem�s board of directors.

In June 2015, our board of directors approved a compensation policy for our non-employee directors to adjust compensation based
upon current market rates. This policy remained in effect for the fiscalff year ended Decemberm 31, 2017, and provided the following
compensation:

Each non-employee director will receive an annual cash retainer in the amount of $35,000 per year.

The Lead Independent Director will receive an additional annual cash retainer in the amount of $17,500 per year.

The chairperson of the audit committee will receive additional annual cash compemm nsation in the amount of $15,000 per year for
such chairperrr son's service on the audit committee. Each non-chairperson member of the audit committee will receive
additional annual cash compem nsation in the amount of $7,500 per year for such member's service on the audit committee.

The chairperson of the compensation committee will receive additional annual cash compensation in the amount of $10,000
per year for such chairperson's service on the compensation committee. Each non-chairpersorr n membem r of the compensation
committee will receive additional annual cash compemm nsation in the amount of $5,000 per year for such member's service on the
compensation committee.

The chairperson of the nominating and corporate governance committee will receive additional annual cash compensation in
the amount of $7,500 per year for such chairperson's service on the nominating and corporate governance committee. Each
non-chairperson membem r of the nominating and corporate governance committee will receive additional annual cash
compensation in the amount of $3,500 per year for such member's service on the nominating and corporate governance
committee.

Each non-emplm oyee directors will receive a stock option grant with an initial grant equal to a cash value of $125,000 in shares
of the Company�s common stock upon a director�s initial appointment or election to the board of directors, vesting quarterly
over a three-year period and an annual stock option grant equal to a cash value of $65,000 in shares of the Company�s common
stock on the date of each annual stockholder�s meeting thereafteff r, fully vesting in one year from the date of grant.

In January 2018, our Board amended our Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy to provide the compenm sation set forff th below:

Each non-emplm oyee director will receive an annual cash retainer in the amount of $50,000 per year.

The Chairman of the Board will receive an additional annual cash retainer in the amount of $17,500 per year.

The chairperson of the Audit Committee will receive additional annual cash compensation in the amount of $10,000 per year
for such chairprr erson�s service on the Audit Committee. Each non-chairperson member of the Audit Committee will receive
additional annual cash compensation in the amount of $5,000 per year for such member�s service on the Audit Committee.

The chairpersorr n of the Compensation Committee will receive additional annual cash compensation in the amount of $10,000
per year for such chairperson�s service on the Compensation Committee. Each non-chairperson member of the Compensation
Committee will receive additional annual cash compensation in the amount of $5,000 per year for such member�s service on
the Compensation Committee.

The chairperrr son of the Nominating andaa Corporate Governarr ncaa e Committee will receive additional annual cash compensation in the
amount of $7,500 per year for such chairperrr son�s servirr ce on the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. Each non-
chairperrr son member of the Nominating and Corporate Governarr ncaa e Committee will receive additional annuan l cash compenmm sation
in the amount of $3,500 per year fa orff such member�s servicerr on the Nominating and Corporate Governar ncea Committee. Each non-
emplmm oyee director will receive a stock option grant with an initial granta equaqq l to a cash value of $180,000 in shares of our cuu ommon
stock upouu n a director�s initial appaa ointment or election to our buu oard of directors, vesting quarterly over a three-year period andaa an
annual stock option granta equaqq l to a cash value of $90,000 in shares of our cuu ommon stock on thet date of each annuan l stockhokk lder�s
meeting thereafter, beginnin ng in 2018, fully vesting in one year faa roff m thet date of grant.



74

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficialff Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners

The following table sets forth certain information concerning the ownership of our common stock as of Februarr y 9, 2018, by (i) those
persons who are known to us to be the beneficial owner(s) of more than five percent of our common stock, (ii) each of our directorscc and
named executive officers and (iii) all of our directors and named executive officers as a group.u

The number of shares beneficiaff lly owned by each entity, person, director or executive officer is determined in accordance with the
rules of the SEC, and the inforff mation is not necessarily indicative of beneficial ownership for any other purpose. Under such rules, beneficial
ownership generally includes any shares over which the individual has sole or shared voting power or investment power as well as any shares
that the individual has the right to acquire within 60 days of February 9rr , 2018, through the exercise of stock options, warrants or other rights.
Unless otherwise indicated in the footnotes to this table, we believe that each of the stockhok lders named in this table has sole voting and
investment power with respect to the shares indicated as beneficially owned.

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner

Shares
Beneficially
Owned

Percent of Shares
Beneficially
Owned

5% Stockholders
Entities affiliated with Invesco Asset Management Limited(1)�
Perpetual Park

7,037,498 39.6%

Henley-on-Thames
Oxfordsff hire, RG9 1HH, United Kingdom

Entities affilff iated with Woodfordff Investment Management Limited (2) � 7,465,538 42.0%
9400 Garsington Road
Oxford, OX4 2HN, United Kingdom

Directors and Named Executive Officers
Thomas Lynch(3) 3,850 *
Gillian Greer, Ph.D. � *
William Hall, Ph.D., M.D. � *
Kim Kamdar, Ph.D.(4) 551,560 3.1%
Tony O�Brien � *
Colin Rutherford(5) 770 *
Saundra Pelletier(6) 33,547 *
Justin J. File(7) 11,857 *
Kelly Culwell, M.D.(8) 4,802 *

Directors and executive officers as a group (12 Persons)(9) 612,290 3.4%

* Includes beneficff ial ownership of less than 1% of the outstanding shares of Evofem�s common stock.
� Party to the Support Agreement, pursuant to which stockholder agreed to vote shares of Evofem stock owned by stockholder or overoo

which stockholder has voting control in a certain manner.
(1) Includes (i) 3,519,366 shares of common stock held by Invesco Perpetualt High Income Fund, or PHIF, and (ii) 3,518,132 shares of

common stock held by Invesco Perpetual Income Fund, or PIF. Invesco Asset Management Limited acts as agent for and on behalf of
PHIF and PIF, each as a discretionary managed client. Invesco Asset Management Limited has the power to direct the vote and
disposition of the common stock held by the PHIF and PIF. Accordingly, Invesco Asset Management Limited may be deemed to be the
beneficial owner of an aggregate amount of 7,037,498 shares of common stock, consisting of the shares held directly by PHIF and PIF,
as described above.

(2) Includes (i) 5,620,952 shares of common stock held by CF Woodford Equity Income Fund, a sub fund of CF Woodford Investment
Fund, or WEIF, (ii) 171,195 shares of common stock held by Omnibus Income & Growth Fund, a sub fund of Omnis Portfolio
Investments ICVC, or OIGF, and (iii) 1,672,611 shares of common stock held by Woodford Patient Capital Trust Plc., or WPCT.
Woodford Investment Management Limited acts as agent forff and on behalf of WEIF, OIGF and WPCT, each as a discretionaryrr
managed client. Woodford Investment Management Limited has the power to direct the vote and disposition of the common stock held
by WEIF, OIGF and WPCT. Accordingly, Woodford Investment Management Limited may be deemed to be the beneficialff owner of
an aggregate amount of 7,465,538 shares of common stock, consisting of the shares held by WEIF, OIGF and WPCT, as described
above.

(3) Includes 3,850 shares of common stock that may be acquired pursuant to the exercise of stock options within 60 days of February 9rr ,
2018.

(4) Consists of (1) 515,273 shares of common stock owned by Domain Partners VII, L.P., (2) 8,004 shares of common stock owned by DP
VII Associates, L.P, (3) 655 shares of common stock owned by Domain Associates, LLC and, with respect to Dr. Kamdar, options to
purchase (4) 27,628 shares currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of Februaryrr 9, 2018. One Palmer Square Associates VII,
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LLC, or One Palmer Square, is the general partnera of Domain Partners VII and DP VII Associates. Dr. Kamdar is a member of One
Palmer Square. The managing members of One Palmer Square are James Blair, Jesse Treu, Brian Dovey, Brian Halak and Nicole
Vitullo. Each of James Blair, Jesse Treu, Brian Dovey, Brian Halak and Nicole Vitullo share voting and investment power with respect
to the securities held by Domain Partners VII and DP VII Associates. The managing members of Domain Associates are James Blair,
Brian Dovey, Nicole Vitullo, Brian Halak and Dr. Kamdar. Each of James Blair, Brian Dovey, Nicole Vitullo, and Brian Halak share
voting and investment power with respect to the securities held by Domain Associates. Each of James Blair, Jesse Treu, Brian Dovey,
Brian Halak and Nicole Vitullo disclaims beneficial ownership of the securities held by Domain Partners VII and DP VII Associatestt
except to the extent of his or her pecuniary interest therein, if any. Each of James Blair, Brian Dovey, Nicole Vitullo, Brian Halak, and
Dr. Kamdar disclaims beneficiff al ownership of the securities held by Domain Associates except to the extent of his or her pecuniary
interest therein, if any. Dr. Kamdar is a membem r of our board of directors.

(5) Includes 770 shares of common stock that may be acquired pursuant to the exercise of stock options within 60 days of February 9rr ,
2018.

(6) Includes 33,547 shares of common stock that may be acquired pursuant to the exercise of stock options within 60 days of Februaryaa 9,
2018.

(7) Includes 11,857 shares of common stock that may be acquired pursuant to the exercise of stock options within 60 days of Februaryaa 9,
2018.

(8) Includes 4,802 shares of common stock that may be acquired pursuant to the exercise of stock options within 60 days of February 9rr ,
2018.

(9) Includes (1) 515,273 shares of common stock owned by Domain Partners VII, L.P., but deemed to be beneficff ially owned by Dr.
Kamdar, (2) 8,004 shares of common stock owned by DP VII Associates, L.P, but deemed to be beneficially owned by Dr. Kamdar,
(3) 655 shares of common stock owned by Domain Associates, LLC, but deemed to be beneficially owned by Dr. Kamdar. Dr. Kamdar
has a pecuniary interest in the securities held by Domain Associates as described in note 4, (ii) 88,358 shares of common stock that
may be acquired by our current executive officff ers and directors pursuant to the exercise of stock options within 60 days of February 9,
2018.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table provides certain aggregate information with respect to all of our equity compem nsation plans in effecff t as of
December 31, 2017:

Plan Category

Number of Securities to be
Issued Upon Exercise of

Awards (a)

Weighted Average
Exercise Price of

Outstanding Awards

Number of Securities
Remaining Available for
Future Issuance Under
Equity Compensation

Plans (excluding securities
reflected in column (a))

Equity compenm sation plans appa roved by
stockholders 407,058 (1) $ 30.98 536,370 (2)

Total: 407,058 $ 30.98 536,370

) Includes our 2007 Plan, 2014 Plan and the Private Evofem Equity Incentive Plan.
(2) As of December 31, 2017, an aggregate of 366,249 shares of common stock were available forff grant under the 2014 Plan and an

aggregate of 95,741 shares were available for issuance under 2014 ESPP, and an aggregate of 74,380 shares available for grant underuu
the Private Evofem Equity Incentive Plan. The 2014 Plan contains a provision for an automatic increase in the numbem r of shares
available for grant each January 1st until and including January 1, 2024, subject to certain limitations, by a number of shares equal to
the lesser of 4% of the number of shares of our common stock issued and outstanding on the immediately preceding Decembem r 31 or a
number of shares set by our board of directors. The ESPP contains a provision forff an automatic increase in the numbem r of shares
available for issuance under the ESPP each January 1rr st and including January 1, 2024, subjeb ct to certain limitations, by a numbem r of
shares equal to the lesser of 1% of our common stock issued and outstanding on the immediately preceding December 31 or a number
of shares set by our board of directors.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

Company Policy Regarding Related Party Transactions

Our Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing and approving all transactions in which we are a participant and in which any
parties related to us, including our executive officers,ff directors, beneficial owners of more than 5% of our securities, immediate family
members of the foregoing persons, and any other persons whom our boarda of directors determines may be considered related parties, has or
will have a direct or indirect material interest. If advanced approval is not feasible, the Audit Committee has the authority to rtt atify a rff elated
party transaction at the next Audit Committee meeting. For purposes of our Audit Committee charter, a material interest is deemedmm to be any
consideration received by such a party in excess of $120,000 per year.
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In reviewing and approving such transactions, the Audit Committee shall obtain, or shall direct our management to obtain on its behalf,
all information that our committee believes to be relevant and impormm tant to a review of the transaction prior to its approval. Following receipt
of the necessary irr nformation, a discussion shall be held of the relevant factors if deemed to be necessary brr y our committee priorii to approval.
If a discussion is not deemed to be necessary, appraa oval may be given by written consent of our committee. This approval authorityii may also
be delegated to the Chairper rson of the Audit Committee in respect of any transaction in which the expected amount is less than $500,000.

The Audit Committee or its chairperson,rr as the case may be, shall approa ve only those related party transactions that are determined to
be in, or not inconsistent with, the best interests of us and our stockholders, taking into account all available facts and circurr mstances as our
committee or the Chairperson determines in good faitff h to be necessary. These facff ts and circumstances will typically include, but nuu ot be
limited to, the material terms of the transaction, the nature of the related party�s interest in the transaction, the significance of the transaction
to the related party and the naturet of our relationship with the related party, the significaff nce of the transaction to us, and whether the
transaction would be likely to impair (or create an appearance of impaimm ring) the judgment of a director or executive officer to act in our best
interest. No member of the Audit Committee may participate in any rnn eview, consideration, or approval of any related party transaction with
respect to which the member or any of his or her immediate famff ily members is the related party, except that such member of the Audit
Committee will be required to provide all material information concernir ng the related party transaction to the Audit Committee.

Financing and the Merger

As discussed in Item 1 of this Annual Report, which is hereby incorporaterr d by reference, we issued shares of our common stock to
certain investors in Private Evofem, including funds affiliatedff with Invesco Asset Management, at a purchase price of $12.389355 per share
in the Financing. In addition, we issued shares of our common stock and, with respect to funds affiliatedff with Woodford Investment
Management, the Post-Merger Warrants. As of February 9rr , 2018, and upon the closing of the Merger, the funds affiliated with Invesco Asset
Management and the funds affiliff ated with Woodford Asset Management each beneficially owned more than 10% of our issued and
outstanding capital stock. The issuances to funds affiliff ated with Invesco Asset Management and to funff ds affiliated with Woodford Asset
Management in connection with the Merger and Financing are reflecteff d below:

Name

Shares of Common
Stock Issued in the

Financing

Shares of
Common Stock
Issued in

Connection with
the Merger

Warrants to
Purchase Shares
of Common Stock

Issued in
Connection with
the Merger

Omnis Income & Growth Fund a sub-fund of Omnis Portfolio Investments ICVC None. 171,975 50,000
Woodfordff Patient Capia tal Trustrr Plc None. 1,672,611 475,000
CF Woodford Equity Income Fund, a sub fund of CF Woodford Investment Fund None. 5,620,952 1,475,000
Invesco Perp Hrr igh Income 375,000 3,144,366 None.
Invesco Perp Irr ncome 1,239,289 2,278,843 None.

Post-Merger Voting Agreements

On January 1rr 7, 2018, the Compam ny entered into Post-Merger Voting Agreements with funff ds affilff iated with Woodford Investment
Management, or the Voting Agreement Holders, regarding shares of our common stock then representing more than 19.5% of the then issued
and outstanding shares of our common stock, or the Threshold. The Post-Merger Voting Agreements grant us or our designee a proxy to vote
on matters presented to our stockholders, or the Proxy Matters, any and all shares of our common stock held by a Voting Agreement Holder
in excess of the Threshold, or the Proxy Shares. In accordance with the proxies granted to us by the Post-Merger Voting Agreements,e the
Proxy Shares shall be voted in the same proportions as the shares voted by all other stockholders voting on the Proxy Matters. The Post-
Merger Voting Agreements may not be revoked by a Voting Agreement Holder so long as such holder holds shares of our common stock in
excess of the Threshold.

Private Evofem Series D Preferred Stock Issuance

Prior to the Merger in July 2017 and Novemberm 2017, Private Evofem issued additional shares of its Series D Preferred Stock and
warrant rights to purchase shares of its capital stock to funds affiliff ated with Woodford Investment Management at a purchase pricerr of
$500,000 per share and an aggregate purchase price of $10 million in a private placement transaction in reliance upon Section 4(a)(2) of the
Securities Act and Regulation D promulgated thereunder.

Registration Rights Agreement

As noted in Item 1 of this Annual Report, which is hereby incorporated by reference, we have entered into the Registration Rightshh
Agreement, pursuant to which the Compam ny is, among other things, obligated to file a registration statement with the SEC within 60 days
following completion of the Merger. Funds affiliated with Invesco Asset Management, Domain Partners and Woodfordff Investment
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Management are party to the Registration Rights Agreement. Funds affiff liated with Domain Partners were beneficial owners of more than
10% of our issued and outstanding common stock at the time of the Merger.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The Audit Committee appa ointed Ernst & Young LLP as the Compamm ny�s independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal
year ending December 31, 2017.

The follff owing table presents the fees forff professional audit services and other services rendered by Ernst & Young LLP, as of Februaryrr
9, 2018, for fiscal year 2017 and 2016.

Fiscal Year
2017

Fiscal Year
2016

Audit Fees(1) $ 485,736 $ 256,209
Audit-Related Fees N/A N/A
Tax Fees N/A N/A
All Other Fees N/A N/A
Total $ 485,736 $ 256,209

) Audit Fees represent fees and out-of-pocket expenses whether or not yet invoiced for professiff onal services provided in connection with
the audit of the Company�s finaff ncial statements, the review of our registration statement on Form S-4, the review of the Companynn �s
quarterly finaff ncial statements, and audit services provided in connection with other regulatory frr ilff ings.

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

The Audit Committee annually reviews and pre-appra oves certain audit and non-audit services that may be provided by our independent
registered public accounting firm and establishes and pre-appra oves the aggregate fee level forff these services. Any proposed servicerr s that
would cause us to exceed the pre-approved aggregate feeff amount must be pre-appra oved by the Audit Committee. All audit services for 2017
were pre-approved by the Audit Committee.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) Documents filed as part of this Annual Report

1. Financial Statements.

The following finff ancial statements of Neothetics, Inc., together with the report thereon of Ernst & Young LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firmff , are included in this Annual Report:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-2
Balance Sheets F-3
Statements of Operations F-4
Statements of Stockholders� Equity F-5
Statements of Cash Flows F-6
Notes to Financial Statements F-7

The Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, the financial statements and the notes to the financial statements listed
above are set forth beginning on page F-2, immediately folloff wing the signature pages of this Annual Report.

2. List of financial statement schedules.

All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the finanff cial statements or notes
thereto.

3. Exhibits

A list of exhibits is set forff th on the following page and is incorporar ted herein by reference.
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EVOFEM BIOSCIENCES, INC.
EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number Exhibit Title

Filed with
this

Form 10 K

Incorporated by Reference

Form File No. Date Filed
2. 1^ Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated October 17, 2017,

by and among the Registrant, Evofem Biosciences Operations, Inc. and
Nobelli Merger Sub, Inc.

8-K 001-36754-
171139916

10/17/2017

2.2 Form of Support Agreement, by and between Evofem Biosciences
Operations, Inc. and certain of its stockholders.

8-K 001-36754-
171139916

10/17/2017

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation. X

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant. 8-K 001-36754-
18546687

01/17/2018

4.1 Form of Stock Certificate. X

4.2 Warrant to Purchase Stock, dated February 23, 2010, issued to Silicon
Valley Bank.

333-199449 10/17/2014

4.3 Warrant to Purchase Stock, dated March 30, 2012, issued to Silicon Valley
Bank.

S-1 333-199449 10/17/2014

4.4 Warrant to Purchase Stock, dated August 17, 2012, issued to Silicon Valley
Bank.

S-1 333-199449 10/17/2014

4.5 Warrant Agreement, dated June 11, 2014, by and between the Registrant and
Hercules Technology III, L.P.

S-1 333-199449 10/17/2014

4.6 Fourth Amended and Restated Investors� Rights Agreement, dated
September 22, 2014, by and between the Registrant and the investors listed
therein.

S-1 333-199449 10/17/2014

4.7 Letter Terminating Registrant�s Fourth Amended and Restated Investors�
Rights Agreement, dated January 17, 2018, by and between the Registrant
and the investors listed therein.

X

4.8 Form of Amended and Restated Warrant to Purchase Common Stock of the
Registrant.

S-4 333-221592 11/15/2017

4.9 Form of Voting Agreement. S-4 333-221592 11/15/2017

10.1 Form of Lock-Up Agreement. 8-K 001-36754-
171139916

10/17/2017

10.2 Twelfth Amendment, dated as of December 4, 2017, by and between the
Registrant and LJ Gateway Office LLC.

8-K 001-36754-
171247758

12/08/2017

10.3� Technology Transfer Agreement, dated December 12, 2012, by and between
the Registrant and Domain Russia Investments Limited.

S-1 333-199449 10/17/2014

10.4 Separation and Release Agreement, dated January 17, 2018, by and between
the Registrant and Susan Knudson

8-K 001-
36754-
18546687

01/17/2018

10.5 Separation and Release Agreement, dated January 29, 2018, by and between
the Registrant and Maria Feldman

X

10.6 Securities Purchase Agreement, dated October 17, 2017, by and among the
Company, Evofem Biosciences Operations, Inc. and the investors listed
therein.

8-K 001-36754-
171139916

10/17/2017

10.7� Assignment and Assumption Agreement, dated December 12, 2012, by and
among the Registrant, Domain Russia Investments Limited and NovaMedica
LLC.

S-1 333-199449 10/17/2014
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Exhibit
Number Exhibit Title

Filed with
this

Form 10 K

Incorporated by Reference

Form File No. Date Filed
10.8� Clinical Development and Collaboration Agreement, dated July 2, 2013, by

and between the Registrant and NovaMedica LLC.
S-1 333-199449 10/17/2014

10.9� Contract No. 0702/12, dated July 2, 2013, by and between the Registrant
and NovaMedica LLC.

S-1 333-199449 10/17/2014

10.10 Lease, dated July 3, 2008, by and between the Registrant and WW&LJ
Gateways, LTD.

S-1 333-199449 10/17/2014

10.11 Ninth Amendment to Lease, dated April 21, 2014, by and between the
Registrant and LJ Gateway Office LLC (as successor in interest to WW&LJ
Gateways, LTD).

S-1 333-199449 10/17/2014

10.12 Tenth Amendment, date January 20, 2015, by and between the Registrant
and LJ Gateway Office LLC (as successor in interest to WW&LJ Gateways,
LTD).

10-K 001-36754-
161533653

03/29/2015

10.13 Eleventh Amendment, dated as of January 31, 2017, by and between the
Registrant and LJ Gateway Office LLC (as successor in interest to WW&LJ
Gateways, LTD).

8-K 001-
363754-
17609634

02/14/2017

10.14 Sublease, dated as of January 27, 2017, by and between the Registrant and
Abacus Data Systems, Inc.

8-K 001-
363754-
17609634

02/14/2017

10.15 Loan and Security Agreement, dated June 11, 2014, by and between the
Registrant and Hercules Technology Growth Capital, Inc.

S-1 333-199449 10/17/2014

10.16 Letter Agreement, dated July 3, 2014, by and between the Registrant and
Martha J. Demski.

S-1 333-199449 10/17/2014

10.17 Form of Indemnification Agreement, by and between the Registrant and
each of its directors and executive officers.

S-1 333-199449 10/17/2017

10.18 Amended and Restated 2007 Stock Plan, as amended. S-1/A 333-199449 11/10/2014

10.19 Form of Stock Option Agreement under 2007 Stock Plan. S-1 333-199449 10/17/2014

10.20 2014 Equity Incentive Plan. S-1/A 333-199449 11/10/2014

10.21 Amendment to 2014 Equity Incentive Plan. 10-Q 001-36754-
161823046

08/11/2016

10.22 Form of Stock Option Agreement under 2014 Equity Incentive Plan. S-1/A 333-199449 11/10/2014

10.23 Form of Restricted Stock Units Agreement under the 2014 Equity Incentive
Plan.

S-1/A 333-199449 11/10/2014

10.24 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan. S-1/A 333-199449 11/10/2014

10.25 Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Units under the 2014 Equity
Incentive Plan.

333-199449 11/10/2014

10.26 Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock under the 2014 Equity
Incentive Plan.

S-1/A 33-199449 11/10/2014

10.27 Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Option under the 2014 Equity Incentive
Plan.

S-1/A 33-199449 11/10/2014

10.28 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. S-1/A 33-199449 11/10/2014

10.29 Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy.

10.30 Stockholder Agreement, dated as of November 25, 2015, by and among
Evofem Biosciences Operations, Inc. and the stockholders listed therein.

S-4 333-221592 11/15/2017
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Exhibit
Number Exhibit Title

Filed with
this

Form 10 K

Incorporated by Reference

Form File No. Date Filed
10.31 First Amendment to Stockholder Agreement, dated as of July 13, 2016, by

and among Evofem Biosciences Operations, Inc. and the stockholders listed
therein.

S-4 333-221592 11/15/2017

10.32 Second Amendment to Stockholder Agreement, dated as of July 28, 2017,
by and among Evofem Biosciences Operations, Inc. and the stockholders
listed therein.

S-4 333-221592 11/15/2017

10.33 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of November 25, 2015, by and
among Evofem Biosciences Operations, Inc. and the stockholders listed
therein.

S-4 333-221592 11/15/2017

10.34 Consulting Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2017, by and between Evofem
Biosciences Operations, Inc. and Thomas Lynch.

S-4 333-221592 11/15/2017

10.35 Severance Agreement, dated as of November 16, 2015, by and between
Evofem Biosciences Operations, Inc. and Justin J. File.

S-4 333-221592 11/15/2017

10.36 Severance Agreement, dated as of April 27, 2015, by and between Evofem
Biosciences Operations, Inc. and Saundra Pelletier.

S-4 333-221592 11/15/2017

10.37 Offeff r Letter, dated as of April 15, 2015, by and between Evofemff
Biosciences Operations, Inc. and Kelly Culwell, M.D.

S-4 333-221592 11/15/2017

10.38 Offeff r Letter, dated as of October 16, 2014, by and between Evofem
Biosciences Operations, Inc. and Saundra Pelletier.

S-4 333-221592 11/15/2017

10.39 Offeff r Letter, dated as of March 8, 2015, as amended, by and between
Evofem Biosciences Operations, Inc. and Justin J. File.

S-4 333-221592 11/15/2017

10.40 Amended Offer Letter, dated as of Novembem r 16, 2015, by and between
Evofem Biosciences Operations, Inc. and Justin J. File.

S-4 333-221592 11/15/2017

10.41 Evofemff Biosciences Operations, Inc. Amended and Restated 2012 Equity
Incentive Plan.

S-4 333-221592 11/15/2017

10.42 Form of Notice of Option Grant and Option Agreement under the Evofemff
Biosciences Operations, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan.

S-4 333-221592 11/15/2017

10.43 Form of Grant of Restricted Stock Award under the Evofemff Biosciences
Operations, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan.

S-4 333-221592 11/15/2017

10.44� Amended and Restated License Agreement, by and between Rush
University Medical Center and Evofem, Inc. dated March 27, 2014.

S-4 333-221592 11/15/2017

10.45 Consent to Sub-Sublease, dated as of January 30, 2015, by and among
Evofem, Inc., Kilroy Realty, L.P., Relational Investors LLC and
WomanCare Global Trading, Inc.

S-4 333-221592 11/15/2017

10.46 Sublease Guaranty, dated as of January 30, 2015, by and between Evofem
Biosciences Operations, Inc. and Relational Investors LLC.

S-4 333-221592 11/15/2017

10.47 Offiff ce Sublease, dated as of January 30, 2015, by and between Evofemff , Inc.
and Relational Investors LLC.

S-4 333-221592 11/15/2017

10.48 First Amendment to Sublease,u dated as of February 22, 2017, by and
between Evofem, Inc. and WomanCare Global Trading Inc.

S-4 333-221592 11/15/2017

10.49 Sublease, dated as of January 30, 2015, by and between Evofem, Inc. and
WomanCare Global Trading, Inc.

S-4 333-221592 11/15/2017

10.50 Series D Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 13, 2016, by
and between Evofem Biosciences Operations, Inc. and the investors set forth
therein.

S-4 333-221592 11/15/2017
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Exhibit
Number Exhibit Title

Filed with
this

Form 10 K

Incorporated by Reference

Form File No. Date Filed
10.51 First Amendment to Series D Preferredff Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as

of July 28, 2017, by and between Evofem Biosciences Operations, Inc. and
the investors set forth therein.

S-4 333-221592 11/15/2017

10.52 Restricted Stock Cancellation Agreement, dated as of October 17, 2017, by
and between Evofem Biosciences Operations, Inc. and Saundra Pelletier.

S-4 333-221592 11/15/2017

10.53 Restricted Stock Cancellation Agreement, dated as of October 17, 2017, by
and between Evofem Biosciences Operations, Inc. and Justin J. File.

S-4 333-221592 11/15/2017

10.54 Restricted Stock Cancellation Agreement, dated as of October 17, 2017, by
and between Evofem Biosciences Operations, Inc. and Kelly Culwell, M.D.

S-4 333-221592 11/15/2017

10.55 Restricted Stock Unit Award Cancellation Agreement, dated as of October
17, 2017 by and between Evofemff Biosciences Operations, Inc. and Thomas
Lynch.

S-4 333-221592 11/15/2017

10.56 First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated October 21, 2014,
by and between the Registrant and Hercules Technology Growth Capital,
Inc.

333-199449 11/10/2014

10.57 Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated March 30,
2016, by and between the Registrant and Hercules Capital, Inc.

10-Q 001-36754-
16164168

5/12/2016

10.58 Executive Employment Agreement, dated October 15, 2014, by and between
the Registrant and Susan Knudson.

S-1 333-199449 10/17/2014

10.59 Form of Registration Rights Agreement. 8-K 001-
36754-
171139916

10/17/2017

10.60 Separation Agreement, dated January 21, 2016, by and between the
Registrant and George W. Mahaffey.

10-K 001-36754-
161533653

03/29/2016

16.1 Letter from Ernst & Young LLP dated January 25, 2018. 8-K 001-36754-
18546687

01/25/2018

21.1 List of Registrant Subsidiaries. X

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm.

X

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer. X

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer. X

32.1 Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X

101.INS XBRL Instance Document X

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Emm xtension Schema Document X

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Emm xtension Calculation Linkbasek Document X

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Emm xtension Definition Linkbase Document X

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Emm xtension Label Linkbase Document X

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Emm xtension Presentation Linkbase Document X

Management Compemm nsation Plan or arrangement
� Portions of this exhibit (indicated by asterisks) have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidentff ial treatment pursuant to Rule 406

under the Securities Act of 1933
^ The schedules and exhibits to the Merger Agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any

omitted scheduld e and/or exhibit will be furff nir shed to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.
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Item 16. 10-K Summary.

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

EVOFEM BIOSCIENCES, INC.

Date: Februar ry 26, 2018 By: /s/ Saundra Pelletier
Name: Saundra Pelletier
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the folff lowing persons on
behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date

/s/ Saundra Pelletier
Saundra Pelletier Chief Executive Officer and Director

(Principal Executive Officer)
February 26, 2018

/s/ Justin J. File
Justin J. File Chief Financial Officerff

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer)

February 26, 2018

/s/ Thomas Lynch
Thomas Lynch Chairman of the Board February 26, 2018

/s/ Gillian Greer
Gillian Greer, CBE, Ph.D. Director February 26, 2018

/s/ William Hall
William Hall, Ph.D., M.D. Director Februaryrr 26, 2018

/s/ Kim P. Kamdar
Kim P. Kamdar, Ph.D. Director Februarrr y 2rr 6, 2018

/s/ Tony O�Brien
Tony O�Brien Director February 26, 2018

/s/ Colin Rutherford
Colin RuthRR erford Director February 26, 2018
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Evofemff Biosciences, Inc. (formerly Neothetics, Inc.)

Opinion on the Financial Statements:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Evofem Biosciences, Inc. (formerly Neothetics, Inc.), or the Company, as of December
31, 2017 and 2016, the related statements of operations, stockholders� equity and cash flows forff each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2017, and the related notes (collectively referrff ed to as the �financial statements�). In our opinion, the financial sa tatements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the results of its operations
and its cash flows forff each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2017, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.

The Company�s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern:

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in
Note 1 to the financial statements, the Company has suffereff d recurring losses fromff operations and has stated that substantial doubt exists
about the Company�s abia lity to continue as a going concern.r Management's evaluation of the events and conditions and management�s plans
regarding these matters are also described in Note 1. The financial statements do not include any adjud stments that might result fromff the
outcome of this uncertainty.

Basis forff Opinion:

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on thett
Company�s financff ial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Companym Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S.
federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perforff m the auditdd to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether dued to error or fraud. The
Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internalr controltt over financial reporting. As part of our
audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Compam ny's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included perforff ming procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or
fraud, and performing procedurdd es that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

We have served as the Company�s auditor since 2011.
San Diego, Californff ia
Februaryrr 26, 2018

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
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NEOTHETICS, INC.

BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2017 2016

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,416,960 $ 11,477,852
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 608,432 1,029,546

Total current assets $ 4,025,392 $ 12,507,398

Restricted cash 93,382 200,000
Property and equipqq ment, net �� 109,320
Total assets $ 4,118,774 $ 12,816,718
Liabilities and stockholders� equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 566,253 $ 503,739
Accruedrr expenses 845,768 398,453

Total current liabilities 1,412,021 902,192
Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and
outstanding �� ��
Common stock - $0.0001 par value; 300,000,000 shares authorized; 2,308,430 and
2,304,749 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively 231 230
Additional paid-in capital 138,550,328 137,764,651
Accumulated deficff it (135,843,806) (125,850,355)

Total stockholders� equity 2,706,753 11,914,526
Total liabilities and stockholders� equity $ 4,118,774 $ 12,816,718

e accompanying notes.
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NEOTHETICS, INC.

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015

s:
Research and development $ 3,945,757 $ 6,578,678 $ 34,409,664
General and administrative 6,098,944 5,463,622 7,639,427

Total operating expenses 10,044,701 12,042,300 42,049,091
Loss from operations (10,044,701) (12,042,300) (42,049,091)
terest income 51,250 59,465 26,033

Interest expense �� (1,035,763) (1,133,987)
Net loss $ (9,993,451) $ (13,018,598) $ (43,157,045)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (4.33) $ (5.66) $ (18.91)
Weighted average shares used to compumm te basic and diluted net loss per share 2,305,817 2,300,167 2,282,672

See accompanying notes.
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NEOTHETICS, INC.

STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY

Common Stock
Additional
Paid-In Accumulated

Total
Stockholders�

Shares Amount Capital Deficit Equity
Balance at Decembem r 31, 2014 2,278,554 $ 228 $134,921,913 $ (69,674,712) $ 65,247,429
Common stock issued upon exercise of options 8,027 1 96,503 �� 96,504
Common stock issued upon purchase of the
emplomm yee stock purchase plan 1,339 �� 42,126 �� 42,126
Issuance of restricted shares, net of shares
repurchased for minimum tax liability 3,750 �� 193,500 �� 193,500
Share-based compensation �� �� 1,384,781 �� 1,384,781
Net loss �� �� �� (43,157,045) (43,157,045)

Balance at Decembem r 31, 2015 2,291,670 $ 229 $136,638,823 $(112,831,757) $ 23,807,295
Common stock issued upon exercise of options 4,883 �� 33,542 �� 33,542
Issuance of restricted shares, net of shares
repurchased for minimum tax liability 8,196 1 �� �� 1
Debt amendment warrant costs �� �� 9,417 �� 9,417
Share-based compensation �� �� 1,082,869 �� 1,082,869
Net loss �� �� �� (13,018,598) (13,018,598)

Balance at Decembem r 31, 2016 2,304,749 $ 230 $137,764,651 $(125,850,355) $ 11,914,526
Common stock issued upon exercise of options 3,681 1 26,348 �� 26,349
Share-based compensation �� �� 759,329 �� 759,329
Net loss �� �� �� (9,993,451) (9,993,451)

Balance at Decembem r 31, 2017 2,308,430 $ 231 $138,550,328 $(135,843,806) $ 2,706,753

See accompanying notes.
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NEOTHETICS, INC.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015

ng activities
Net loss $ (9,993,451) $ (13,018,598) $ (43,157,045)
Adjud stments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Loss on sale of assets 56,350 4,858 6,140
Depreciation and amortization 45,870 69,094 58,425
Non-cash interest expense on notes payable and debt �� 100,290 220,447
Share-based compensation 759,329 1,082,869 1,578,279

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 421,114 947,452 (1,051,224)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 509,829 (5,440,958) 4,433,561

Net cash used in operating activities (8,200,959) (16,254,993) (37,911,417)
vesting activities

Proceeds froff m sale of property and equipment 7,100 3,100 ��
Purchase of property and equipment �� �� (226,128)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 7,100 3,100 (226,128)

activities
Prepayment resulting in debt extinguishment �� (9,514,058) ��
Principal payments on bank loan �� (538,342) ��
Issuance of common stock from exercise of options 26,349 33,542 96,506
Issuance of common stock from employee stock purchase plan �� �� 42,126
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 26,349 (10,018,858) 138,632
Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (8,167,510) (26,270,751) (37,998,913)

cash equivalents, and restricted cash beginning of period 11,677,852 37,948,603 75,947,516
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash end of period $ 3,510,342 $ 11,677,852 $ 37,948,603
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow activity
Cash paid forff interest $ �� $ 973,115 $ 912,500

See accompanying notes.
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NEOTHETICS, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Basis of Presentation

Neothetics, Inc. (the �Company� or �Neothetics�), was originally incorporated in Delaware on February 1, 2007, under the name
Lipothera, Inc. In Septemberm 2008, Lipothera, Inc. changed its name to Lithera, Inc. In August 2014, Lithera, Inc. changed its name to
Neothetics, Inc. Neothetics was a clinical-stage specialty pharmaceutical company that developed therapeutics for the aesthetic market.

Merger of Neothett tics, Inc. acc nd Evofemff Biosciences Operations, Inc.cc

On January 17, 2018, Neothetics and privately-held Evofemff Biosciences Operations, Inc., or Private Evofem, completed a
merger and reorganization, or the Merger, in accordance with the terms of the Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization,
dated October 17, 2017, or the Merger Agreement, by and among Neothetics, Private Evofem and a wholly owned subsidiary of
Neothetics, Nobelli Merger Sub, Inc., or Merger Sub, whereby Merger Sub merged with and into Private Evofem, with Private Evofem
surviving as a wholly owned subsidiary of Neothetics.

In connection with the Merger, on January 17, 2018, the Company filff ed a certificff ate of amendment to its amended and restated
certificate of incorporation to effectff a six-for-one reverse stock split of its common stock, or the Reverse Split, cause the Company not
to be governedr by Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, or the DGCL, and change its name froff m �Neothetics, Inc.�
to �Evofem Biosciences, Inc.� The name change and the Reverse Split were both effectedff on January 17, 2018. Shares of the
Company�s common stock commenced trading on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the new name and ticker symbol �EVFM� as of
market open on January 18, 2018.

No fractional shares were issued in connection with the Reverse Split. The accompamm nying financial statements and notes to the
financial statements give retroactive effectff to the Reverse Split for all the periods presented. The Merger was structrr uredt as a reverse
capitalization, and Private Evofem was determined to be the accounting acquirer based on the terms of the Merger and other factors.tt

The financial information included in the financial statements is that of Neothetics prior to the Merger because the Merger was
consummated afterff the period covered by these finaff ncial statements.

As of December 31, 2017, Neothetics had devoted substantially all of its effoff rts to product development, raising capita al, and
building infrastructure and has not realized revenues from its planned principal operations.

Basis oii f Po resenPP tation and Liquidity

The Company has a limited operating history. The accompanying financiaff l statements have been prepared assuming the Company will
continue as a going concern, which contemplm ates the realization of assets and the satisfacff tion of liabia lities in the normal courseuu of business,
and do not include any adjustments to reflect the possible futff uret effects on the recoverability and classification of assets or amounts and
classification of liabilities that may result from the outcome of this uncertainty. The Company expects to continue to incur net lee osses into the
foreseeable future.ff

In accordance with ASU 2014-15, Presentation of Fo inFF ancial Statementstt � Going ConcCC ern (Su(( btopic 205-40):0 Disclii osure of
Uncertainties about an Entity�s A� bility to Continue as a Going Concern, management is required to perform a two-step analysis over its
ability to continue as a going concern. Management musmm t firstff evaluate whether there are conditions and events that raise substantt tial doubt
about the Compam ny�s ability to continue as a going concern (step 1). If management concludes that substantial doubt is raised, management is
also required to consider whether its plans alleviate that doubtu (step 2).

The Company has incurred net losses from operations since inception and has an accumulated deficit of $135.8 million at December
31, 2017. Management has prepared cash flows forecasts which indicate that based on the Company�s expected operating losses and negative
cash flowff s, there is substantial doubtu about the Company�s abia lity to continue as a going concern for twelve months after the datedd that the
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017, are issued. Even with the Merger that was completed on January 17, 2018,
uncertainties associated with the Companym �s ability to obtain additional fundiff ng raise substantial doubt about the Company�s abia lity to
continue as a going concern. The Company plans to continue to fund its losses froff m operations and capital fundingff needs through debt and
equity financff ing or through collaborations and partnerships with other entities. Debt or equity financing or collaborations and partnerships
with other entities may not be available,a on a timely basis on terms that are acceptablea to the Company, or at all. In addition, the Compam ny
may be required to scale back or discontinue advancement of product candidates, reduce headcount or reduce other operating expenses. This
could have an adverse impam ct on the Companm y�s ability to achieve certain of its planned objectives during 2018, and thus, could materially
harm the Company�s business.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Eo stiEE maii tes

The preparation of financial statements in conforff mity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, or GAAP,AA
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affeff ct the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses durdd ing the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalentstt

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of 90 days or less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalevv nts.
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in readily available checking and money market accounts.

Restricttt edt Cash

Restricted cash as of December 31, 2017 represents a $93,382 restricted money market account used to secure the standby letter of
credit issued in connection with a lease (see Note 5 �Debt�).

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the balance sheets that sum
to the total of the same such amounts shown in the statement of cash flows.

December 31,
2017 2016 2015

Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,416,960 $ 11,477,852 $ 37,748,603
icted cash 93,382 200,000 200,000

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 3,510,342 $ 11,677,852 $ 37,948,603

Concentratt tions of Credit Riskii

Financial instruments that potentially subju ect thet Company to significff ant concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cashaa and
cash equivalents. The Company maintains deposits in fedff erally insured financial institutions in excess of fedff erally insured limits. The
Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts and believes it is not exposed to significant risk on its cash due to thett financial
position of the depository institution in which those deposits are held.

Fair Vii aluVV e of Fo inancFF ial Instrumett nts

The carrying amounts of prepaid and other current assets, accounts payable and accrued expenses are reasonable estimates of their fair
value because of the short term maturity of these items.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipqq ment, which primarily consist of office furnff iture and equipment and computer equipment, are stated at cost andnn
depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the assets (three to fivff e years) using the straight-line method.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets consist primarily of property and equipment. An impamm irment loss is recorded if and when events and circumstances
indicate that assets might be impaired and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the carrying
amount of those assets. While the Company's current and historical operating losses and negative cash flows are indicators of impamm irment,
management believes that futurt e cash flows to be received support the carrying value of its long-lived assets and, accordingly, has not
recognized any impamm irment losses since inception.

Research and Developmo ent Costs

Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and related overhead expenses; fees paid to consultants and contrnn act
research organizations; costs related to acquiring and manufacturing clinical trial materials; and costs related to compliance with regulatory
requirements.

All research and development costs are charged to expense as incurred.
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Income Taxes

The Company uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
determined based on the difference between the financiaff l reporting and the tax reporting basis of assets and liabilities and are measured using
the enacted tax rates and laws that are expected to be in effectff when the differenceff s are expected to reverse. Valuation allowanceaa s are
recorded when the realizability of such deferred tax assets is not more likely than not.

The guidance on accounting for uncertainty in income taxes prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute criteria for
the financial statement recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. For those benefitsff to be
recognized, a tax position must be more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by taxing authorities. The Company�s policy is to
recognize interest expense and penalties related to income tax matters as a compom nent of income tax expense. During 2017 and 2016, the
Company had not recognized interest and penalties in the balance sheets or statements of operations. The Company is subject to taxation in
the U.S. and state jurisdictions. The Company�s tax years from inception are subject to examination by the United States and California
authorities due to the carryforwarr rds of unutilized net operating losses, or NOLs, and research and development credits.

Share-Ba- sed CompensationCC

Share-based compensation forff the Compam ny includes amortization related to all stock options, restricted stock awards and shares issued
under the employee stock purchase plan, based on the grant-date fair value. The fair value of each option and restricted stock award is
estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The expected life off f the awards is based on the simplified
method described in SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107. The expected volatility assumption is based uponu the historical volatility of a
number of publicly traded companies in similar stages of clinical development. The risk-free interest rate is based on the yield oll f U.S.
Treasury bills with a life that approximates the expected life of the awards. The Company recognizes share-based compensation on a straight-
line basis over the vesting term of the options and the actual forfeitures by reducingdd the emplom yee share-based compemm nsation expenxx se in the
same period as the forfeitures occur.

Option grants to non-employees are valued at fair value and are expensed over the period services are provided. These options are
subju ect to periodic revaluation to reflectff the current fair value at each reporting period until the non-employee completes the performance
obligation or the date on which a performance commitment is reached. There were 10,000 and 41,666 shares issued to non-employee
consultants during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. There was no non-cash compensation to consultants for the
year ended Decemberm 31, 2015.

Net Loss per ShaSS re

Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding duringrr
the period, without consideration for common stock equivalents. Diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the
weighted average number of common shares and common share equivalents outstanding during the period. Common stock equivalents areaa
only included when their effecff t is dilutive. The Compam ny�s potentially dilutive securities, which include common stock warrants and
outstanding stock options under the stock option plan, have been excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share as they would
be anti-dilutive. For all periods presented, there is no differff ence in the number of shares used to compute basic and diluted shares outstanding
due to the Company�s net loss position.

The following table sets forth the outstanding potentially dilutive securities that have been excluded in the calculation of diluted net
loss per share because to do so would be anti-dilutive.

December 31,
2017 2016 2015

rrants for common stock 11,875 11,875 11,875
Common stock options and restricted stock awards issued and
outstanding 246,810 145,188 227,157

258,685 157,063 239,032

Recent Adoptedtt Accounting ProPP nouncementstt

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, Compensation� Stock Compem nsation (Topic(( 718): Improvements to Employeeo Share-
Based Payment Accounting, or ASU 2016-09. ASU 2016-09 simplmm ifies several aspects of the accounting for employm ee share-based payments,
including accounting forff income taxes, forff feitures, statutory trr ax withholding requirements, and classification on the statement of cash flows.
The amendments in this ASU are effecff tive for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016. The Company adopted ASU 2016-09
during its fiscaff l year ended December 31, 2017, which did not have a material effect on the Company�s finff ancial statements and related
disclosures.
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In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, Classification of Certain Cash Receipts att nd Cash Payments, or ASU 2016-15. This
pronouncement gives guidance to clarify how certain cash receipts and payments should be presented and classified in the statementmm of cash
flows. The guidance is effectiff ve for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those fiscal years, and
early adoption is permitted. The Company adopted ASU 2016-15 during its fiscal year ended December 31, 2017, which did not have a
material effect on the Company�s financialff statements and related disclosures.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topio c 842),2 or ASU 2016-02. ASU 2016-02 requires that lessees
recognize assets and liabilities for the rights and obligations for leases with a lease term of more than one year. The amendments in this ASU
are effecff tive forff annual periods ending after December 15, 2018. Earla y adoption is permitted. The Company is evaluating the impamm ct of
adoption on its financial statements.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-1, Business ComCC binations (Topic 805): Clarifyingff the Definition of a Business, or
ASU 2017-1. ASU 2017-1 clarifies the definiff tion of a business with the objective of adding guidance to assist entities with evaluating
whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions (or disposals) of assets or businesses. ASU 2017-1 will be effectff ivtt e forff the
Company beginning January 1, 2018. The adoption of this guidance is not expected to have a material impact on the Compam ny�s finff ancial
position or results of operations.

3. Fair Value Measurements

Fair Value of Financial Instrumentstt

The Company�s financiaff l instrumrr ents consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts payable, accrued expenses, including warrants
issued in connection with finaff ncing arrangements, and long-term debt. Fair value estimates of these instruments are made at a specss ific point
in time based on relevant market inforff mation. These estimates may be subjective in naturet and involve uncertainties and matters of
significant judgment and thereforeff cannot be determined with precision. The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, accounts payable,
and accrued expenses are generally considered to be representative of their respective fair values because of the short-term nature of these
instruments. The Company believes that the fair value of long-term debt approximates its carrying value based on the borrowing rates
currently available to the Company for loans with similar terms.

The authoritative guidance for fair value measurements defines faiff r value as the exchange price that would be received forff an asset or
paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderlee y transaction
between market participants on the measurement date. Market participants are buyers or sellers in the principal market that are
(i) independent, (ii) knowledgeable, (iii) able to transact, and (iv) willing to transact. The guidance prioritizes three levels of inputs into the
following hierarchy:

Level 1� Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2� Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active, or othertt inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observablea market
data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3� Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fairff value of the assets
or liabilities.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

Balance as of
December 31,

2017

Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets forff
Identical
Assets
(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

Assets
ney market fund(1) $ 3,416,960 $ 3,416,960 $ �� $ ��

Total assets $ 3,416,960 $ 3,416,960 $ �� $ ��

(1) Included as a compomm nent of cash and cash equivalents on accompanying balance sheet.
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Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

Balance as of
December 31,

2016

Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets forff
Identical
Assets
(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

Assets
ney market fund(1) $11,477,852 $ 11,477,852 $ �� $ ��

Total assets $11,477,852 $ 11,477,852 $ �� $ ��

(1) Included as a compomm nent of cash and cash equivalents on accompanying balance sheet.

4. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following:

December 31,
2017 2016

Officff e furnff iture and equipment $ 92,373 $ 254,049
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (92,373) (144,729)

$ �� $ 109,320

Depreciation and amortization expense related to furff niturer and equipment amounted to $45,870, $69,094, and $58,425, for the years
ended Decembem r 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015 respectively.

5. Debt

Loans

In Februarrr y 2rr 010, and as amended during 2012, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement (2010 Loan and Security
Agreement) with Silicon Valley Bank, or SVB, for borrowings of $3,750,000, collateralized by all assets of the Company. In connecnn tion with
the borrowings, the Company issued warrants to the bank for the purchase of a total of 64,865 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock
and warrants to purchase 75,000 shares of Series C convertible preferred stock. Effective upon the IPO, this was converted to a warrant to
purchase 4,069 shares of common stock at a weighted average exercise price of $59.43 and expire ten years froff m the date of issuance. The
2010 Loan was paid in full in June 2014.

In June 2014, the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement, or the Loan Agreement, with Hercules Technology Growth
Capitaa l Inc. that provided for borrowings up to $10.0 million available to the Company in two tranches. Upon closing of the Loan Aa greement,
the Company borrowed $4.0 million. In October 2014, the Compam ny entered into the firff st amendment of the Loan Agreement and borrowed
the remaining $6.0 million available under the agreement.

In connection with the Loan Agreement, in June 2014, the Company inn ssued warrants to purchase shares of Series C convertible
preferred stock equal to 4% of the amount advanced under the loan. Effective uponu the IPO, this was converted to a warrant to purchase
7,806 shares of common stock at $51.24, which expires on June 11, 2024. The fairff value of the warrar nts issued was $207,429, based on the
fair value of such Series C warrants at the date of issuance. The warrants� fair value and financing fees of appa roximately $133,000 were
recorded as a debt discount.

In March 2016, the Company entered into the second amendment of the Loan Agreement that provided for a prepayment of the
outstanding loan carrying amount of $5.5 million with a prepayment fee of $110,000. In connection with the second amendment, the
Company re-priced the outstanding warranr ts to purchase 7,806 shares of common stock at a new exercise price of $3.72, which will expire in
Septembem r 2022 unless exercised prior to such expiration date. The Company recorded a debt discount of $9,417 associated with thett fair
value of the warrants issued in connection with the amendment. In addition, the Company incurred loan amendment fees and legal feeff s of
$52,400, which the Company recorded as a debt discount.

In September 2016, the Company prepaid the remaining outstanding balance under the Loan Agreement at a carrying amount of $4.0
million with a prepayment fee of $120,000 and an end of term fee of $300,000. Accordingly, thet Loan Agreement was terminated on
Septemberm 23, 2016. Upon termination of the Loan Agreement, the prepayment fees of $230,000 and unamortized end of term fee of
$260,000 were recorded as interest expense
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From June 2014 through payoff in September 2016, the Company paid interest equal to the greater of either 9.0%, plus the Prime Rate
as reported in The Wall Street Journal, less 3.25% or 9.0%. The Companm y recorded total interest expense of $0, $1,035,763 and $1,133,987
for the twelve months ended Decembem r 31, 2017, December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.

Letter of Creditii

In January 2015, the Company executed a lease amendment with LJ Gateway, LLC for new officeff space. In connection with this lease
amendment the Compam ny issued a stand-by letter of credit in the amount of $200,000 in lieu of a security deposit. Pursuant to the terms set
forth in the lease amendment, as of March 31, 2017, the stand-by letter of credit was reduced to $93,382. The standby letter of credit is
secured by a restricted money market account. The terms of the standby letter of credit expire in May 2020 and are subjeb ct to automatic
yearly renewal prior to this date.

6. Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders� Equity

Common Stock

On December 1, 2015, the Company entered into a Controlled Equity Offering Sales Agreement, or the Sales Agreement, with Cantor
Fitzgerald & Co., or Cantor Fitzgerald, as a sales agent pursuant tnn o which the Companm y may offer and sell from time to time, throhh ugh Cantor
Fitzgerald shares of Neothetics common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, having an aggregate offering price of up to $20.0 million. The
minimum share price for this Controlled Equity Offering is selected at the discretion of the board of directors.

The Company cannot provide any assurances that it will issue any shares pursuant to the Sales Agreement. Subject to the terms and
conditions of the Sales Agreement, Cantor Fitzgerald will use commercially reasonable efforts consistent with its normal trading and sales
practices, appla icable state and fedff eral law, rulrr es and regulations and applicable Nasdaq rulesrr to sell shares from time to time based uponu
Neothetics� instructions, including any price, time or size limits specified by Neothetics. Under the Sales Agreement, Cantor Fitzgerald may
sell shares by any method deemed to be an �at-the-market� offeringff as defined in Rule 415 under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
or any other method permitted by law, including in privately negotiated transactions. Neothetics will pay Cantor Fitzgerald a commission of
3.0% of the aggregate gross proceeds froff m each sale of shares and has agreed to provide Cantor Fitzgerald with customary indemnifin cation
and contribution rights. Neothetics has also agreed to reimburse Cantoa r Fitzgerald for legal fees and disbursements, not to exceed $50,000 in
the aggregate, in connection with entering into the Sales Agreement.

The Sales Agreement may be terminated by Cantor Fitzgerald or Neothetics at any time uponu notice to the other party, or by Cantor
Fitzgerald at any time in certain circumstances, including the occurrence of a material and adverse change in Neothetics� business or financff ial
condition that makes it impram ctical or inadvisable to market the shares or to enforceff contracts for the sale of the shares. As of Decembem r 31,
2017, no shares were issued pursuant to the Sales Agreement.

Stock Compem nsationtt Planll

The Compam ny adopted a Stock Option Plan in 2007, or the 2007 Plan under which 211,893 shares of common stock were reserved forff
issuance to emplm oyees, non-employee directors, and consultants of the Company. Effecff tive upon the completion of the Company�s IPO, the
board of directors determined not to grant any further awards under the 2007 Plan.

In September 2014, the Compam ny�s board of directors and stockholders appra oved and adopted the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, or the
2014 Plan. The 2014 Plan became effecff tive immediately prior to the Company�s IPO. A total of 166,666 shares of common stock wereee
initially reserved for issuance under the 2014 Plan. This reserve automatically increased on January 1, 2015, and will continue to increase
each subsequent anniversary through 2024, by an amount equal to the smaller of (a) 4% of the number of shares of common stock issued and
outstanding on the date immediately preceding December 31 and (b) an amount determined by our board of directors. All shares that
remained available, expired, or otherwise terminated without having been exercised in full and unvested shares that were forfeited to or
repurchased by us under the 2007 Plan were rolled into 2014 Plan. The 2014 Plan provides for the grant of stock options, stock appa reciation
rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, or RSU�s, perforff mance shares, and units and other cash-based or share-based awards. In
addition, the 2014 Plan contains a mechanism through which we may adopt a deferff red compensation arrangement in the futff urt e. Recipientii s of
stock options shall be eligible to purchase shares of the Company�s common stock at an exercise price equal to no less than the estimated fairff
market value of such stock on the date of grant.
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The following table summarizes stock option and restricted stock award transactions under the 2014 Plan during the year ended
December 31, 2017:

Options
Outstanding

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price

Weighted
Average

Contractual
Life�
Years

Total
Intrinsic
Value

Outstanding at Decemberm 31, 2016 145,188 $ 17.70 8.6 $ 18,363
Granted 145,877 $ 11.27
Exercised (3,681) $ 7.15 $ 5,725
Forfeitff ed (40,574) $ 16.20

Outstanding and exercisablea at Decemberm 31, 2017 246,810 $ 14.31 8.5 $ 539,259
Vested and options expected to vest at Decemberm 31, 2017 238,753 $ 14.33 8.4 $ 536,233

The 2014 Plan allows forff the exercise of unvested options, which are subjeb ct to repurchase until vesting occurs. All options exercised
to date were fullff y vested at date of exercise. No grants expired during the year ended Decembem r 31, 2017.

The weighted average fair value of options granted was $4.96 and $2.71 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively. The weighted average fair value of options vested was $5.43 at December 31, 2017. Total cash received upon the exercise of
stock options was $26,349 forff the year ended December 31, 2017. The unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock options
and restricted stock awards outstanding at Decembem r 31, 2017 and 2016, net of expected forfff eiff tures, was $263,206 and $420,339,
respectively, to be recognized over a weighted-average remaining vesting period of approa ximately 1.1 and 1.7 years, respectively.

Share-Based Compensation

The estimated fair value of each option award granted was determined on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
valuation model with the following weighted-average assumptions for options grants.

Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015

Weighted Average
Assumptions:
Risk-free interest rate 1.74% 1.61% 1.69%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Expected volatility 55.17% 44.89% 43.72%
Expected term (in years) 5.8 5.4 5.8

The risk-freeff interest rate assumption was based on the yield of an applicable rate for U.S. Treasury instruments with maturities similar
to those of the expected term of the award being valued. The assumed dividend yield was based on the Company never paying cash dividends
and having no expectation of paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future.ff The weighted average expected term of options was calculated
using the simplified method as permitted by accounting guidance for stock-based compensation. In addition, due to the Company�s limited
historical data, the estimated volatility was calculated based upon the historical volatility of comparabla e compam nies in the biotechnology
industry whose share prices are publu icly available for a sufficient period of time.

Employee Stock Purchase PlaPP n

In November 2014, the Company adopted the 2014 Employmm ee Stock Purchase Plan (the �ESPP�), which enables eligible emplm oyees to
purchase shares of the Company�s common stock using their after tax payroll deductions of up to 15% of their eligible compensation, subject
to certain restrictions.

The ESPP initially authorized the issuance of 28,333 shares of common stock pursuant to purchase rights granted to emplmm oyees. The
number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance automatically increased on January 1rr , 2015 and will continue to increase on each
January 1 thereafter through January 1, 2024, by the smaller of (a) 1.0% of the total issued and outstanding Shares on the preceding
December 31, and (b) a numberm of Shares determined by the board of directors of the Company. The ESPP is intended to qualify as an
�emplomm yee stock purchase plan� within the meaning of Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or thet Code.

The Company estimates the fair value of shares issued to employees under the ESPP using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The
Black-Scholes model requires the use of subjective and complex assumptions, including (a) the expected stock price volatility, (b) the
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calculation of the expected term of the award, (c) the risk-freff e interest rate and (d) the expected dividend yield, which determirr ne the faiff r value
of share-based awards.

There were no shares issued under the ESPP during the years ended Decembem r 31, 2017 and 2016.

The weighted average assumptm ions used to estimate the fair value of shares issued under the ESPP in the year ended December 31,
2015, using the Black-Scholes option pricing model was as follows:

Weighted Average Assumptions:
Risk-free interest rate 0.39%
Expected dividend yield 0%
Expected volatility 45.13%
Expected term (in years) 1.23

The Companym recognized non-cash share-based compmm ensation expense related to its ESPP, restricted stock awards and stock options
granted to emplm oyees and directors in its research and development and its general and administrative functions as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015

Research and development $ 280,140 $ 163,996 $ 410,099
and administrative 479,189 918,873 974,682

$ 759,329 $ 1,082,869 $ 1,384,781

Common Stock Reserved for Future Issuance

Common stock reserved forff future issuance is as follows:

December 31,
2017 2016

Warrants issued and outstanding 11,875 11,875
Stock options and restricted stock awards issued and outstanding 246,810 145,188
Authorized for future option grants 366,249 379,362
Reserved for employee stock purchase plan 95,741 72,694

720,675 609,119

Income Taxes

As of December 31, 2017, the Company had federal and Califorff niar tax NOL carryforwarr rds availablea to reducd e its future taxablea
income of approximately $139,064,000 and $62,808,000, respectively. The federal NOL begins to expire in 2027, unless previously utilized.
At December 31, 2017, the Compam ny has federal and state research tax credits of $3,976,000 and $2,786,000, respectively. The federal
research credit expires in 2027 unless previously utilized. The Californff ia research credit will carry frr orff warrr d indefinitely until utilized.

Utilization of the NOL and R&D credit carryfrr orff wards may be subjeb ct to a substantial annual limitation due to ownership change
limitations that may have occurred or that could occur in the future, as required by Section 382 of the Code as well as similar state and
foreign provisions. These ownership changes may limit the amount of NOL and R&D credit carryforwards that can be utilized annuallya to
offset futuret taxable income and tax, respectively. In general, an "ownership change" as definff ed by Section 382 of the Code results from a
transaction or series of transactions over a three-year period resulting in an ownership change of more than 50 percentage points of the
outstanding stock of a compamm ny by certain stockholders. Since the Company's formation, the Company has raised capital through the issuance
of capital stock on several occasions, including the IPO in 2014, which on their own or combined with the purchasing stockholders'
subsequent disposition of those shares, may have resulted in such an ownership change, or could result in an ownership change inii the future.

The Company has not completed a study to assess whether an ownership change has occurred or whether there have been multiple
ownership changes since the Company's formation due to the complexity and cost associated with such a study and the fact that there may be
additional such ownership changes in the future. If the Company has experienced an ownership change at any time since its formation,aa
utilization of the NOL or R&D credit carryfrr orwff ards would be subjeb ct to an annual limitation under Section 382 of the Code, which is
determined by first multiplying the value of the Company's stock at the time of the ownership change by the applicable long-term,rr tax-exemptm
rate, and then could be subject to additional adjustments, as required. Any limitation may result in expiration of a portion of the NOL or R&D
credit carryfrr orwarff ds beforeff utilization. Further, until a study is completed and any limitation known, no amounts are being considered as an
uncertain tax position or disclosed as an unrecognized tax benefit. Due to the existence of the valuation allowance, future changesaa in the
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Company's unrecognized tax benefits will not impamm ct its effectff ive tax rate. Any carryforwards that will expire prior to utilization as a result of
such limitations will be removed froff m deferredff tax assets, with a corresponding reduction of the valuation allowance.

Until the study is complem ted, the Companm y has removed federff al and state operating losses of approximately $33,590,000 and federal
and state research and development credits of approximately $6,177,000 from its deferred tax asset schedule and has recorded a
corresponding decrease to its valuation allowance.

Significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets for federaff l and state income taxes at December 31, 2017 and 2016 are
shown below. A valuation allowance has been established as realization of such deferred tax assets is uncertain.

December 31,
2017 2016

Deferred tax assets:
Accrued compensation 51,000 46,000
Non-qualified Stock Options 195,000 173,000
Other, net 7,000 34,000

Total deferredff tax assets 253,000 253,000
Valuation allowance (253,000) (253,000)

$ �� $ ��

e was no material income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.

A reconciliation of income tax expense as compared to the tax expense calculated by applying the statutory federal and state tax rate to
income beforff e taxes for the years ended December 31, is as follows:

2017 2016 2015
Income tax at statutory rates 34.00% 39.80% 39.80%
te changes (0.01%) 0.00% 0.00%

Transaction costs (5.52%) 0.00% 0.00%
NOL not recorded due to 382 limitations (25.78%) (36.70%) (39.30%)
Other (1.14%) (3.10%) (0.50%)
Tax reformff - tax rate change (1.57%) 0.00% 0.00%

Total tax expense (0.02%) 0.00% 0.00%

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, or the Act, was enacted on December 22, 2017. The Act reduces the U.S. federal and corporr rate tax rate
from 35% to 21%. At December 31, 2017, the Company has not completed the accounting for the tax effectsff of enactment of the Act;c
however, in certain cases, we have made a reasonablea estimate of the effecff ts on our existing deferred tax balances. As part of the Act, we
remeasured our deferredff tax assets and liabilities based on the rates at which they are expected to reverse in the future, which is generally
21%. Due to our full valuations, the remeasurement of our deferred tax assets and liabilities had no impact on the statement of operations.
However, we are still analyzing certain aspects of the Act and refininff g our calculations, which could potentially affect the measurement of
these balances or potentially give rise to new deferred tax amounts.

The Companym follows the provisions under the Income Taxes topic of the Codification which addresses accounting for the uncertainty
in income taxes. The evaluation of a tax position in accordance with this topic is a two-step process. The first step involves recognition. The
Company determines whether it is more likely than not that a tax position will be sustained upou n tax examination, including resolution of any
related appeals or litigation, based on only the technical merits of the position. The technical merits of a tax position derive from both
statutory and judicial authority (legislation and statutes, legislative intent, regulations, rulings, and case law) and their applicability to the
facts and circumstances of the tax position. If a tax position does not meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, the benefit of that
position is not recognized in the financial statements. The second step is measurement. A tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not
recognition threshold is measures to determine the amount of benefit to recognize in the finaff ncial statements. The tax position is measured as
the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate resolution with a taxing authority.tt

The Company files income tax returns in the United States and California. The Company currently has no years under examination by
any jurisdiction; however, the Company is subjeb ct to income tax examination by fedff eral and state forff years beginning in 2013 and 2nn 012,
respectively. However, to the extent allowed by law, the taxing authorities may have the right to examine prior periods where NOLs and tax
credits were generated and carried forwardr , and make adjud stment up tu o the amount of the carryforwardrr s. The Compam ny does not have any
unrecognized tax benefitff s as of December 31, 2017 and does not anticipate that the amount of unrecognized tax benefitff s will signifgg icaff ntly
change within the next twelve months. The Company has not recognized interest or penalties in its consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss since inception.
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The Company's practice is to recognize interest and/odd r penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense. The Company
had no accrual for interest and/odd r penalties in the statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015 or for the
period from February 1, 2007 to Decemberm 31, 2017.

8. Commitments

Operating Leases

The Companm y entered into a non-cancelable operating lease for its facff ilities on January 20, 2015. The lease expires in March 2020.

On January 31, 2017, the Company entered into an Eleventh Amendment to the Lease with LJ Gateway Office LLC, or LJ Gateway.
Concurrent with entering into the Lease Amendment, the Company entered into a Sublease with Abacus Data Systems, Inc., or Abacus,
providing forff the sublease of existing office space located at Suite No. 270. This Lease Amendment also provides the Company with
additional officff e space located at Suite No. 250, 9171 Towne Centre Drive, San Diego Califorff nia, which the Company occupiu es as its
headquarters.

Upon occurrence of Abacus retaining possession of the original premises in February 2017, Abacus received rent abaa tement for
months one, three, and four as well as a discount of 50% off the base rent for months five through nine. Abacus paid the Company ann base rent
of $27,768 for the second month�s rent and $30,317 security deposit. The base rent will increase by three percent on each annual aa nniversary.
In Februaryrr 2017, the Company recorded $353,000 of sublease liability. The Company has recorded the rental income collected or accrued
under the sublease as a reductid on of rent expense. Rent expense and sublease rental income under the Lease Amendment and Sublease for
the year ended December 31, 2017 were $326,000 and $264,000, respectively. Rent expense were $429,927 and $388,997 for the yearsaa
ended Decembem r 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The payments escalate over the term of the lease; however, the Company recognizes the
expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

In December 2017, the Company entered into the Twelfth Amendment to the Lease with LJ Gateway whereby upon the mutual
execution and delivery of a new lease between LJ Gateway�s affiliate and Abacus and Abacus vacates Suite No. 270, LJ Gateway and the
Company agree that the Lease with respect to the officeff space located at Suite No. 270 shall be terminated. As of Decemberm 31, 2017, the
sublease had not been terminated.

The following table summarizes the minimum lease payments and sublease receipts under the lease agreement.

Lease Payments Sublease Receipts
2018 $ 410,848 $ 342,374
2019 431,507 352,644
2020 109,293 90,143

Total $ 951,648 $ 785,161

9. Subsequent Events

Per the discussion in Note 1 �Organization and Basis of Presentation�, Neothetics and Private Evofem complm eted the Merger in
accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement whereby Merger Sub merged with and into Private Evofemff , with Private Evofem
surviving as a wholly owned subsidiary of Neothetics.
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